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NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This annual report on Form 10-K contains forward-looking statements (within the meaning of the Private
Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995) in "Item 7 - Management's Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations," "Item 7A - Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures
About Market Risk," and elsewhere. These statements relate to future events or our future financial
performance. In some cases, forward-looking statements may be identified by terminology such as
"may," "will," "should," "expects," "plans," "anticipates," "believes," "estimates," "predicts," "potential,"
"continue" or the negative of these terms or other comparable terminology. These statements are only
predictions and involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors that may cause our or
our industry's actual results, levels of activity, performance or achievements to differ materially from
what is expressed or implied in these forward-looking statements. Some important factors that could
cause actual results to differ materially from those in the forward-looking statements include:

= Qur business, other than tree services to utility customers, is highly seasonal, and weather
dependent.

»  Significant customers, particuiarly utilities, may experience financial difficulties, resulting in
payment delays or delinquencies.

m  Because no public market exists for our common shares, the ability of shareholders to sell their
common shares is limited.

Although we believe that the expectations reflected in the forward-looking statements are reasonable, we
cannot guarantee future results, levels of activity, performance or achievements. Moreover, neither we
nor any other person assumes responsibility for the accuracy and completeness of these statements. We
are under no duty to update any of the forward-looking statements after the date of this annual report on
Form 10-K to conform these statements to actual future results.
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PARTI
Item 1. Business.
General

The Davey Tree Expert Company, which was founded in 1880 and incorporated in 1909, and its
subsidiaries ("we" or "us") have two primary operating segments which provide a variety of horticultural
services to our customers throughout the United States and Canada.

Our Residential and Commercial services segment provides for the treatment, preservation, maintenance,
cultivation, planting and removal of trees, shrubs and other plant life; its services also include the
practices of landscaping, tree surgery, tree feeding and tree spraying, as well as the application of
fertilizers, herbicides and insecticides.

Our Utility services segment is principally engaged in the practice of line clearing for public utilities,
including the clearing of tree growth from power lines, clearance of rights-of-way and chemical brush
control.

We also provide other services related to natural resource management and consulting, urban and utility
forestry research and development and environmental planning. We also maintain research, technical
support and laboratory diagnostic facilities.

Competition and Customers

Our Residential and Commercial services group is one of the largest national tree care organizations, and
competes with other national and local firms with respect to its'services. On a national level, the
competition is primarily landscape construction and maintenance as well as residential and commercial
lawn care. At a local and regional level, its competition comes mainly from other companies which are
engaged primarily in tree care, Qur Utility services group is the second largest organization in the
industry, and competes principally with one major national competitor, as well as several smaller regional
firms.

Principal methods of competition in both operating segments are advertising, customer service, image,
performance and reputation. Our program to meet our competition stresses the necessity for our
employees to have and project to customers a thorough knowledge of all horticultural services provided,
and utilization of modern, well-maintained equipment. Pricing is not always a critical factor in a
customer's decision with respect to Residential and Commercial services; however, pricing is generally
the principal method of competition for our Utility services, although in most instances consideration is
given to reputation and past production performance.

We provide a wide range of horticultural services to private companies, public utilities, local, state and
federal agencies, and a variety of industrial, commercial and residential customers. During 2002, we had
sales of approximately $40.6 million to Pacific Gas & Electric Company (PG&E), one of our largest
customers.
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On April 6, 2001, PG&E filed a voluntary bankruptcy petition under Chapter 11 of the U. S. Bankruptcy
Code. Subsequent to the bankruptcy petition date, we continue to perform services for PG&E under the
terms of our contracts with PG&E and receive payment for post-petition date services performed, as part
of PG&E's administrative expenses. At December 31, 2001, we had net prepetition accounts receivable
from PG&E of approximately $13,326,000 which are related to services provided by us to PG&E prior to
the bankruptcy petition date. On September 20, 2001, PG&E filed a reorganization plan as part of its
Chapter 11 bankruptcy proceeding that seeks to pay all of its creditors in full. Components of the plan
will require the approval of the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission, the Securities and Exchange
Commission and the Nuclear Energy Regulatory Commission, in addition to the bankruptcy court. In
addition to PG&E's reorganization plan, there is a competing alternative proposed plan of reorganization
filed by the California Public Utilities Commission and the Official Committee of Unsecured Creditors
("CPUC/OCC plan"). The bankruptcy court began confirmation hearings in December 2002 to determine
whether to confirm the PG&E plan, the CPUC/OCC plan or neither plan. The bankruptcy court has
scheduled trial dates through April 2003. In determining whether to confirm either plan, the bankruptcy
court will consider, among other factors, creditor preference and financial and legal feasibility. Various
parties have filed objections to confirmation of either or both plans. PG&E will not emerge from
bankruptcy until a plan of reorganization has been confirmed by the bankruptcy court and the confirmed
plan has been executed. Management is unable to predict which plan, if any, the bankruptcy court will
confirm. Management has monitored the situation closely and will continue to assess the collectibility of
its receivables from PG&E. In management's opinion, the prepetition receivables from PG&E are
collectible,

During 2002, the Company received interest payments of $836,000 from PG&E on the prepetition
accounts receivable reducing the outstanding prepetition balance to $12,490,000. Because of the inability
to predict when payment will be received, the prepetition receivables are classified as noncuirrent other
assets in our financial statements.

Regulation and Environment

Our facilities and operations, in common with those of the industry generally, are subject to governmental
regulations designed to protect the environment. This is particularly important with respect to our
services regarding insect and disease control, because these services involve to a considerable degree the
blending and application of spray materials, which require formal licensing in most areas. Constant
changes in environmental conditions, environmental awareness, technology and socia] attitudes make it
necessary for us to maintain a high degree of awareness of the impact such changes have on the market
for our services. We believe that we are in substantial compliance with existing federal, state and local
laws regulating the use of materials in our spraying operations as well as the other aspects of our business
that are subject to any such regulation.

Marketing

We solicit business from residential customers principally through direct mail programs and to a lesser
extent through the placement of advertisements in national magazines and trade journals, local
newspapers and "yellow pages" telephone directories. Business from utility customers is obtained
principally through negotiated contracts and competitive bidding. We carry out all of our sales and
services through our employees. We do not generally use agents and do not franchise our name or
business.
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Seasonality

Our business is seasonal, primarily due to fluctuations in horticultural services provided to Residential
and Commercial customers and to a lesser extent by budget constraints imposed on our Utility customers.
Because of this seasonality, we have historically incurred losses in the first quarter, while sales and
earnings are generally highest in the second and third quarters of the calendar year, Consequently, this
has created heavy demands for additional working capital at various times throughout the year. We
borrow primarily against bank commitments in the form of a revolving credit agreement to provide the
necessary funds for our operations. You can find more information about our bank commitments in
"Liquidity and Capital Resources" under "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition
and Results of Operations" on pages 17-19 of this report.

Other Factors

Due to rapid changes in etjuipment technology, we must constantly update our equipment and processes
to ensure that we provide competitive services to our customers. Also, we must continue to assure our
compliance with the Occupational Safety and Health Act. -

We own several trademarks including "Davey," "Davey and design," "Arbor Green," "Davey Tree and

design," "Davey Expert Co. and design" and "Davey and design (Canada).” Through substantial
advertising and use, we believe that these trademarks have become of value in the identification and

acceptance of our products and services.
Employees

We employ between 5,000 and 6,000 employees, depénding upon the season, and consider our employee
relations to be good.

Domestic and Fdreign Operations

We sell our services to customers in the United States and Canada.

‘We do not consider our foreign operations to be material and consider the risks attendant to our business
with foreign customers, other than currency exchange risks, to be not materially different from these
attendant to our business with domestic customers.

Financial Information About Segments and Geographic Areas

Certain financial information regarding our operations by segment and geographic area is contained in
Note O to our consolidated financial statements, which are included in Part IT, Item 8 of this report.

Item 2. Properties.

Our corporate headquarters campus is located in Kent, Ohio which, along with several other properties in
the surrounding area, includes the Davey Resource Group's research, technical support and laboratory
diagnostic facilities.

We conduct administrative functions through our headquarters and our offices in Livermore, California
(Utility Services). Our Canadian operations' administrative functions are conducted through properties
located in the provinces of Ontario and British Columbia. We believe our properties are well maintained,
in good condition and suitable for our present operations. A summary of our properties follows:
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Number of

Number of Squmare States or
Segment Properties How Held Footage Provinces
Residential and Commercial 20 Owned 167,457 11
Residential, Commercial and Utility 2 Owmed 12,400 2
Utility 5 Owned 40,587 5
Canada 2 Owned 6,300 2

We also rent approximately 70 properties in 32 states and three provinces.

None of our owned or rented properties, used by our business segments, is individnally material to our
operations.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings.

We are not a party to any litigation other than routine litigation incidental to our business. We do not
believe that this routine litigation, individually or in the aggregate, will have a material affect on our
business, financial condition or results of operations.

Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders.

No matters were submitted to a vote of our shareholders during the fourth quarter of 2002.

Item 4A. Executive Officers of the Registrant.

QOur executive officers and their present positions and ages as of March 11, 2003 follows:

Name Position E Age

R. Douglas Cowan Chairman and Chief Executive Officer 62

Karl J. Wamke President and Chief Operating Officer 51

David E. Adante Executive Vice President, Chief Financial 51
Officer and Secretary

Howard D. Bowles Senior Vice President and General Manager, 59

' Davey Tree Surgery Company

C. Kenneth Celmer Senior Vice President and General Manager, 56
Residential and Commercial Services

Bradley L. Comport, CPA Treasurer 52

Marjorie L. Conner, Esquire Assistant Secretary 45
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Dr. Roger C. Funk Vice President and General Manager, 58

The Davey Institute

Frederick W. Johnson Corporate Vice President 58

Stephen A. Marshall 'Vice President and General Manager, 52
Eastern Utility Services

Rosemary T. Nicholas Assistant Secretary 59

Gordon L. Ober Vice President - Personnel Recruiting and 53
Development

Wayne M. Parker Vice President 47

Richard A. Ramsey Vice President and General Manager, 53
Canadian Operations

Nicholas R. Sucic, CPA Corporate Controller 56

Mr. Cowan was initially elected Chairman and Chief Executive Officer on March 11, 1999. Previously
be had served as Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer since May 1997. Prior to that time, he
served as President and Chief Executive Officer.

Mr. Warnke was initiaily elected President and Chief Operating Officer on March 11, 1999. Prior to that
time, he served as Executive Vice President and General Manager - Utility Services.

Mr. Adante was elected Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and Secretary in May 1993.

Mr. Bowles was elected Senior Vice President and General Manager of Davey Tree Surgery Company in
January 2000. Prior to that time, he served as Vice President and General Manager of Davey Tree

Surgery Company.

Mr. Celmer was elected Senior Vice President and General Manager - Residential and Commercial
Services in January 2000. Prior to that time, he served as Vice President and General Manager -
Residential Services.

Mr. Comport was elected Treasurer in May 2001. Prior to that time, he served as Corporate Controller.

Ms. Conner was elected Assistant Secretary in May 1998. Prior to that time, she served as Manager of
Legal and Treasury Services.

Dr. Funk was elected Vice President and General Manager - The Davey Institute in May 1996.
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Mr. Johnson was elected Corporate Vice President in January 2003. From 1999 to January 2003, he
served as Vice President of Operations Support Services. Prior to joining us, Mr. Johnson served in
various capacities, including director of operations and director of sales, at Lesco, Inc., a specialty
provider of products for the professional turf care and green industry markets, from 1986 to 1999, Prior
to joining Lesco, Mr Johnson held various management positions at TruGreen/Chemlawn, a provider of
lawn care, tree and shrub services and a segment of The Servicemaster Company, from 1979 to 1986.

Mr., Marshall was elected Vice President and General Manager of Eastern Utility Services in January
2003. Prior to that time, he served as Vice President - Northern Operations, Utility Services.

Ms. Nicholas was elected Assistant Secretary in May 1982.

Mr. Ober was elected Vice President - Personnel Recruiting and Development in February 2000. Prior to
that time, he served as Vice President - New Ventures.

Mr. Parker was elected Vice President in January 2000 and served as General Manager - Eastern Utility
Services through December 2002. Prior to that time, he served as Vice President - Northern Operations,
Utility Services. ‘

Mr, Ramsey was elected Vice President and General Manager ~ Canadian Operations in January 2000.
Prior to that time, he served as Vice President and General Manager - Commercial Services.

Mr. Sucic was elected Corporate Controller in November 2001 when he joined the Company. He is a
certified public accountant. Prior to joining us, Mr. Sucic served as chief financial officer of Vesper
Corporation, a manufacturer of products for industry, from 2000 to 2001; of Advanced Lighting
Technologies, Inc., a designer, manufacturer and marketer of metal halide lighting products, from 1996 to
2000; and of various asset management units at The Prudential Investment Corporation, from 1989 to
1996. Prior to joining Prudential, Mr. Sucic was a partner with Ernst & Young T.LP, having been
associated with that firm since 1970.

Our officers serve from the date of their election to the next organizational meeting of the Board of
Directors and until their respective successors are elected.

PART I
Item 5. Market for Registrant's Common Equity and Related Stockholder Matters.
Our common shares are not listed or traded on an established public trading market and market prices are,
therefore, not available. Semiannually, for purposes of our 401K SOP, the fair market value of our .
common shares, based upon our performance and financial condition, is determined by an independent
stock valuation firm. Since 1979, the Company has provided a ready market for all shareholders through
its direct purchase of their common shares.
Record Holders and Common Shares
On March 1, 2003, we had 2,350 record holders of our common shares.
On March 1, 2003, we had 7,684,674 common shares outstanding, options exercisable to purchase

863,915 common shares, partially-paid subscriptions for 814,731 common shares and purchase rights
outstanding for 260,990 common shares.
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The partially-paid subscriptions relate to common shares purchased at $12.00 per share, in connection
with the stock subscription offering completed in August 2002, whereby some employees opted to
finance their subscription with a down-payment of at least 10% of their total purchase price and a seven-
year promissory note for the balance due, with interest at 4.75%. Promissory note payments, of both
principal and interest, are made either by payroll deduction or annual lump-sum payment. The promissory
notes are collateralized with the common shares subscribed and the common shares are only issued when
the related promissory note is paid-in-full. Dividends are paid on all unissued subscribed shares.

The purchase rights outstanding were granted to purchase one additional common share at the price of
$12.00 per share for every two common shares purchased in connection with the stock subscription
offering completed in August 2002. Each right may be exercised at the rate of one-seventh per year and
will expire seven years after the date that the right was granted. Employees may not exercise a right
should they cease to be employed by the Company.

Dividends

The following table sets forth, for the periods indicated, the dividends declared on our common shares (in
cents):

Year Ended December 31,
narter 2002 2001
1 6.0 ' 5.5
2 6.0 5.5
3 6.0 55
4 6.0 St
Total 24.0 220

We presently expect to pay comparable cash dividends in 2003.
Recent Sale of Unrégistered Securities

None.

Equity Compensation Plan Information

For information on our securities authorized for issuance under equity compensation plans, see Item 12 of
this report.
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Item 6. Selected Financial Data.

Operating Statement Data:
Revenues

Costs and expenses:
Operating
Selling
General and administrative
Depreciation
Amortization of intangible assets
Income from operations

Interest expense
Gain on sale of assets
Other expense

Income (loss) before income taxes
Income taxes (benefit)
Net income (loss)
Net income (loss} per share--diluted
Shares used for computing per share
amounts--diluted (a)
Other Financial Data:
Depreciation and amortization
EBITDA (b)
Capital expenditures
Cash flow provided by (used in):
Operating activities
Investing activities
Financing activities

Dividends per share (a)

Fiscal Year Ended December 31,

2002 2001 2000 1999 1998
{In thousands, except ratio and per share data)
$ 319,273 $ 321,284 $ 322,236 3 308,144 $ 313,387
211,549 212,783 226,441 210,628 210,921
50,865 50,564 49,978 45,403 39,601
22,800 22,567 23,015 21,742 22,764
19,370 19,054 20,722 20,019 19,563
692 466 459 393 371
13,997 15,850 1,621 9,959 20,667
(3,121) (4,993) (6,217) (4,947) (3,391)
2,054 1,023 1,172 1,487 587
{(993) (744) (60 (349) (22)
11,937 11,136 (3,484) 6,150 17,841
4,716 4.405 (1.080) 2,435 7.244
$ 7221 $_ 6731 § (2400 § 3715 $ 10597
3 85 3 .82 b .30) 3 42 3 115
8,508 8,231 7,929 8.872 9228
$ 20,062 $ 19,520 $ 21,181 $ 20412 § 19934
35,120 35,649 23,914 31,509 41,166
16,127 11,692 17,476 20,580 34,009
29,427 29,813 31,267 (3,835) 28,193
{16,670) (10,356) (14,209) (18,707) (32,841)
(12,572) (19,108) (17,058) 21,335 5,190
$§ 24 8 22 8 22 $ 20 § .19
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Balance Sheet Data:

(@

(b)

Working capital
Current ratio
Property and equipment, net
Total assets
Long-term debt
Other long-term liabilities
Shareholders' equity
Common shares (a):
Issued
In freasury
Net outstanding
Stock options (a):
Outstanding

Exercisable

ESOQOT valuation per share

As of December 31,

2002 2001 2000 1999 1998
{In thousands, except ratio and per share data)

§ 15422 3 16,255 $ 35,386 $ 46,714 $ 27,562
1.33 1.39 2.09 2.62 1.81
66,863 70,111 78,076 84,008 79,433
161,156 155,473 159,382 176,682 149,086
36,605 41,887 57,414 65,904 42,893
24,335 21,904 22,078 19,826 15,059
54135 50,250 47,392 56,420 57.268
10,728 10,728 10,728 10,728 10,728
3.048 3.000 2,932 2,601 2,755
7,680 7,728 7,796 8,127 7,973

868 1,205 1,342 1,395 1,828
868 1,205 1,236 1,183 1,510
§ 1280 $ 1200 11,00 13,00 § 16,00

On May 19, 1999, the Company's Board of Directors declared a 2-for-1 stock split in the form of a 100% stock dividend on -
outstanding shares, to shareholders of record as of June 1, 1999. To effect the stock split, the Board of Directors authorized the

retirement of 1,981,894 common shares held in treasury. Comnon share disclosures have also been restated, where

appropriate, to reflect the 2-for-1 stock split.

EBITDA (eamings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization) is provided because it is a measure commenly used to
evaluate a company's ability to service its indebtedness. EBITDA is presented to enhance the understanding of the Company's
operating results and is not intended to represent cash flows or results of operations in accordance with GAAP for the periods
indicated. EBITDA is not a measurement under GAAP and is not necessarily comparable with similarly titled measures of
other companies. Net cash flows from operating, investing and financing activities ag determined using GAAP are also

presented above,

Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.

(Amounts in thousands, except share data)

You should read the following discussion in conjunction with our consolidated financial statements for
the three-year period ended December 31, 2002, and the notes thereto, included elsewhere in this annual

report.
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GENERAL

We provide a wide range of horticultural services to residential, commercial, utility and institutional
customers throughout the United States and Canada.

Our operating results are reported in two segments: Residential and Commercial Services and Utility
Services for operations in the United States. Residential and Commercial Services provides for the
treatment, preservation, maintenance, cultivation, planting and removal of trees, shrubs and other plant
life; its services also include the practice of landscaping, tree surgery, tree feeding and tree spraying, as
well as the application of fertilizer, herbicides and insecticides. Utility Services is principally engaged in
the practice of line clearing for investor-owned and municipal utilities, including the clearing of tree
growth from power lines, clearance of rights-of-way and chemical brush control.

We also have two nonreportable segments: Canadian operations, which provides a comprehensive range
of Davey horticultural services, and Davey Resource Group, which provides services related to natural
resource management and consulting, forestry research and development, and environmental planning. In
addition, the Davey Resource Group also maintains research, technical support and laboratory diagnostic
facilities.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Our consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States. The preparation of these financial statements requires the use of estimates,
judgments and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the
financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the periods presented.

On an ongoing basis, we evaluate our estimates and assumptions, including those related to accounts
receivable, specifically those receivables under contractnal arrangements primarily arising from Utility
Services customers; bad debts; and, self-insurance accruals. We base our estimates on historical
experience and on various other factors that we believe to be reasonable under the circumstances, the
results of which form the basis for making judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities
that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results could differ from these estimates.

We believe the following are our “critical accounting policies"--those most important to the financial
presentations and those that require the most difficult, subjective or complex judgments.

Revenue Recognition—Revenues from residential and commercial services are recognized as the
services are provided and amounts are determined to be collectible. Revenues from contractual
arrapngements, primarily with utility services customers, are recognized based on costs incurred to
total estimated contract costs. Changes in estimates and assumptions related to total estimated
contract costs may have a material effect on the amounts reported as receivables arising from
contractual arrangements and the corresponding amounts of revenues and profit.

Utility Services Customers--We generate a significant portion of revenues and corresponding
accounts receivabie from our utility services customers in the utility industry. One utility services
customer approximated 13% of revenues during 2002 and 16% during 2001 and 2000. Adverse
conditicns in the utility industry or individual utility customer operations may affect the
collectibility of our receivables or our ability to generate ongoing revenues.
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Bad Debts--We evaluate the collectibility of our accounts receivables based on a combination of
factors. In circumstances where we are aware of a specific customer's inability to meet its financial
obligations to us (e.g., bankruptcy filings), we record a specific allowance for doubtful accounts
against amounts due to reduce the net recognized receivable to the amount we reasonably believe
will be collected. For al] other customers, we recognize allowances for doubtful accounts based on
the length of time the receivables are past due. If circumstances change (e.g., unexpected material
adverse changes in a major customer's ability to meet its financial obligation to us or higher than
expected customer defaults), our estimates of the recoverability of amounts due us could be reduced
by a material amount.

Self-Insurance Accruals--We are generally self-insured for losses and liabilities related primarily to
workers' compensation, vehicle liability and general liability claims. We use commercial insurance
as a risk-reduction strategy to minimize catastrophic losses. We accrue ultimate losses based upon
estimates of the aggregate liability for claims incurred using certain actuarial assumptions followed
in the insurance industry and based on our specific experience.

Our seif-insurance accruals include claims for which the ultimate losses will develop over a period
of years. Accordingly, our estimates of ultimate losses can change as claims mature. Our accruals
also are affected by changes in the number of new claims incurred and claim severity. The
methodology for estimating ultimate losses and the total cost of claims were determined by external
consulting actuaries; the resulting accruals are continually reviewed by us, and any adjustments
arising from changes in estimates are reflected in income currently.

Our self-insurance accruals are based on estimates and, while we believe that the amounts accrued
are adequate, the ultimate claims may be in excess of or less than the amounts provided.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following table sets forth our consolidated results of operations as a percentage of revenues.

Year Ended December 31,
2002 2001 2000
Revenues 100.0% 100.0% 100.0 %
Costs and expenses:
Operating 66.3 66.2 70.3
Selling 15.9 15.7 15.5
General and administrative 7.1 7.1 7.1
Depreciation 6.1 6.0 6.5
Amortization of intangible assets 2 1 -
5.6 95.1 99.5
Income from operations 44 - 4.9 0.5
Other income (expense):
Interest expense (1.0) (1.5) (1.9)
Gain on sale of assets .6 3 3
Other ' (.3) (.2) (.0)
Income (loss) before income taxes 3.7 35 (1.1}
Income taxes (benefit) 14 1.4 (3
Net income (loss) 2.3% 2.1% (.8)%



Fiseal 2002 Compared to Fiscal 2001

Revenues--Revenues of $319,273 declined $2,011 over the $321,284 in 2001, Utility Services declined
$15,420 from 2001, the result of contract reductions and shutdowns (reduced work volume or cessation of
work for certain Utility customers) both in our eastern and western operations. Despite a slower
economy, Residential and Commercial Services increased $9,966, or 6.8% due principally to the Asian
Longhorned Beetle contracts in New York. Increases in all other segments of $3,443 also served to offset
the reduction in Utility Services.

Operating Expenses--Operating expenses of $211,549 declined $1,234 from the prior year, but increased
.1% as a percentage of revenues. Utility Services experienced a decrease of $12,444 from the prior year,
the result of contract reductions and shutdowns in our operations. Residential and Commercial Services
increased 10.7% from the prior year, the result of additional subcontractor costs associated with the Asian
Longhorned Beetle contracts in New York.

Selling Expenses--Selling expenses increased $301 over 2001 and as a percentage of revenues increased
2% to 15.9%. Increases in Residential and Commercial Services for field management wages, branch
office expenses and marketing costs were partially offset by reductions in labor and supervision expense
within Utility Services, the result of contract reductions and shutdowns.

General and Administrative Expenses--General and administrative expenses increased 1.0% to $22,800
from the $22,567 experienced in 2001, the result of higher employee incentive expense and a decrease in
pension income. We expect to incur pension expense in 2003 because of a decline in the value of pension
plan assets. ‘

Depreciation and Amortization Expense--Depreciation and amortization expense of $20,062 increased
$542 from the prior year and as a percentage of revenues increased to 6.3% from 6.1%. The increase is
the result of additional capital expenditures for equipment and acquisitions within Residential and
Commercial Services. Depreciation and amortization expense is expected to increase in 2003 as a result
of acquisitions.

Interest Expense--Interest expense of $3,121 declined $1,872 from the $4,993 incurred in 2001, This
decrease is the result of our continued focus on debt reduction and lower interest rates than those
experienced in the prior year.

Gain on Sale of Assets--Gain on the sale of assets increased to $2,054, or a $1,031 increase from 2001.
The increase reflects a gain of $919 from the sale of a facility associated with our Residential and
Commercial Services operations.

Income Taxes--Income tax expense for 2002 was $4,716. The 2002 effective rate of 39.5%, includes a
4.6% effect of state income taxes.

Net Income--Net income of $7,221 exceeded 2001's net income by $490, or an increase of .2% as a
percentage of revenues.

Page 15



Fiscal 2001 Compared to Fiscal 2000

Revenues—-Revenues of $321,284 decreased .3% or $952 over 2000. Residential and Commercial
Services continued to grow, increasing 7.3% or $9,855. This growth is reflective of a continued focus on
sales. Utility Services declined 7.0%, or $11,119, when compared to 2000. The decline in Utility
Services revenues was the result of evaluations or renegotiations of contracts from the latter half of 2000,
as well as shutdowns on certain contracts. Revenues from all other segments increased 1.2%, or $312.

Operating Expenses--Operating expenses of $212,783 declined $13,658 from the prior year, a 4.1%
reduction as a percentage of revenues. Utility Services decreased $17,487, or 18.7%, from 2000 due
mainly to lower labor costs and reduced repair and equipment costs associated with the reduction in
revenues. The decrease in Utility Services was partially offset by an increase in Residential and
Commercial Services of $4,302, primarily for labor and material costs associated with increased revenue.

Selling Expenses—Selling expense increased $586 over 2000. Increases in Residential and Commercial
Services of $1,615 for field management wages, district incentives, marketing and branch office costs
were partially offset by a reduction in Utility Services field management wages, a result of certain
contract shutdowns. '

General and Administrative Expenses--General and administrative expense decreased $448 from the prior
year. This reduction, partially offset by increases in other expenses, was attributable to the consolidation
of the Utility Services accounting-related functions from our Livermore, California, facility to our
corporate headquarters in Kent, Ohio.

Depreciation and Amortization Expense--Depreciation and amortization expense of $19,520 decreased
$1,661 from the prior year and as a percentage of revenunes declined to 6.1% from 6.6%. The reduction
was due to the lower level of capital expenditures during 2001 and 2000, primarily in Utility Services,
coupled with lower depreciation expense arising from capital expenditures in earlier years.

Interest Expense--Interest expense declined $1,224, or .4% as a percentage of revenues from 2000. This
decrease was mainly due to a net decrease in revolving credit facility debt of $15,100 and substantially
Jower interest rates as compared to 2000.

Gain on Sale of Assets—Gain on the sale of assets declined to $1,023, or a $149 decrease from 2000. The
slight decline was attributable to less assets disposed of in 2001 compared to the preceding year, primarily
within Utility Services.

Income Taxes--Income tax expense for 2001 was $4,405. The 2001 effective rate of 39.6%, includes a -
5.4% effect of state income taxes.

Net Income--Net income of $6,731 exceeded 2000's net loss by $9,135, or an increase of 2.9% as a
percentage of revenues.
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LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES
Our principal financial requirements are for capital spending, working capital and business acQuisitions.

Cash increased $185 during the year ended December 31, 2002. Uses of cash consisted of $16,670 used in
investing activities and $12,572 used in financing activities. Net cash provided by operating activities of
$29,427 offset these uses of cash.

Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities

Operating activities in 2002 provided cash of $29,427, $386 lower than the $29,813 provided in 2001.
The $386 net decline was due to increases in self-insurance accruals, prepaid insurance premiums and
gain on the sale of property which were offset by lower increases in accounts payable, accrued expenses
and accounts receivable.

Net income of $7,221 increased $490 when compared to the $6,731 in 2001. Reductions in operating
expense and interest expense, as well as higher gains on the sale of fixed assets, served to offset the
reductions in revenues experienced within Utility Services. :

Overall, accounts receivable increased $689 in 2002 as compared to the increase of $4,475 experienced in
2001. The "day-sales-outstanding" in accounts receivable decreased approximately 5.3 days from the
prior year, the result of concentrated collection efforts within Residential and Commercial Services
(calculated on receivable agings based on most recent sales and including noncurrent PG&E prepetition
accounts receivable). We continue to strive to collect accounts receivable dollars and reduce days-sales-
outstanding.

On April 6, 2001, one of the Company's largest utility customers, Pacific Gas and Electric Company
(PG&E) filed a voluntary bankruptcy petition under Chapter 11 of the U. S. Bankruptcy Code.
Subsequent to the bankruptcy petition date, the Company continued to provide services under the terms of
its contracts with PG&E. The Company continues to perform services for PG&E and receives payment
for post-petition date services performed, as part of PG&E administrative expenses.

On September 20, 2001, PG&E filed a reorganization plan as part of its Chapter 11 bankruptey
proceeding that seeks to pay all of its creditors in full. Components of the plan will require the approval of
the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission, the Securities and Exchange Commission and the Nuclear
Energy Regulatory Commission, in addition to the bankruptcy court. In addition to PG&E's
reorganization plan, there is a competing alternative proposed plan of reorganization filed by the
California Public Utilities Commission and the Official Committee of Unsecured Creditors ("CPUC/QCC
plan”). The bankruptcy court began confirmation hearings in December 2002 to determine whether to
confirm the PG&E plan, the CPUC/OCC plan or neither plan. The bankruptcy court has scheduled trial
dates through April 2003. In determining whether to confirm either plan, the bankruptey court wiil
consider, among other factors, creditor preference and financial and legal feasibility. Various parties have
filed objections to confirmation of either or both plans. PG&E will not emerge from bankruptcy until a
plan of reorganization has been confirmed by the bankruptcy court and the confirmed plan has been
executed. Management is unable to predict which plan, if any, the bankruptey court will confirm.
‘Management has monitored the situation closely and will continue to assess the collectibility of its
receivables from PG&E. In management's opinion, the prepetition receivables from PG&E are
collectible.
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During 2002, the Company received interest payments ot $836 from PG&E on the prepetition accounts
receivable reducing the outstanding prepetition balance from $13,326 to $12,490. Because of the
inability to predict when payment will be received, the prepetition receivables are classified as noncurrent
other assets.

Accounts payable and accrued expenses increased $3,588 in 2002, a decrease of $2,397 when compared
to the increase of $5,985 experienced in 2001. The increase is primarily attributable to an increase in
employee compensation and commercial insurance liabilities. These increases were partially offset by a
decrease in income tax liabilities.

Self-insurance accruals increased $3,292 in 2002 or $494 more than the increase experienced in 2001.
The increase occurred in our workers compensation and vehicle liability classifications. The increase is
necessary to provide for future estimated claims payments.

Other assets increased $2,574 in 2002, a change of $3,387 over the $813 decrease in 2001. The increase
is the result of advance payments for insurance premiums related to our workers compensation, vehicle
liability and general liability policies.

Net Cash Used in Investing Activities

Investing activities used $16,670 in cash, or $6,314 more than that used in 2001, the result of higher
expenditures for equipment and business acquisitions. The expenditures were offset by increases in
proceeds from the sale of property and equipment. We anticipate the level of capital expenditures in 2003
will exceed that of 2002,

Net Cash Used in Financing Activities

Financing activities used $12,572 in 2002, a decrease of $6,536 over the $19,108 used in 2001. Net
borrowings outstanding, from the revolving credit agreement, decreased by $6,900. The continued .
decrease was consistent with our planned efforts to reduce debt levels. Borrowings of notes payable
decreased $1,109 and other debt and capital lease obligations decreased $1,074. Purchases of common
shares for treasury of $7,051 were offset by cash received from the sale of common shares of $4,237 and
$1,379 of cash received on our common share subscription. Dividends paid during 2002 totaled $2,054.

Revolving Credit Agreement--During November 2002, we entered into a new revolving credit agreement
with a group of banks that permits borrowings, as defined, up to $90,000 with a letter of credit sublimit of
$30,000 through November 2005. Borrowings outstanding bear interest, at the Company's option, at the
agent bank's prime rate or LIBOR plus a margin adjustment ranging from 1.0% - 2.0%, based on a ratio
of funded debt to EBITDA (earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization). A -
commitment fee ranging from .20% to .45% is required on the average daily unborrowed commitment.
The revolving credit agreement contains certain affirmative and negative covenants customary for this
type of arrangement and includes financial covenant ratios, as defined, with respect to interest coverage,
funded debt to EBITDA, and funded debt to capitalization.

Contractual Obligations Summary

The following is a summary of our long-term contractual obligations, as at December 31, 2002 to make
future payments for the periods indicated.
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Contracteal Oblizations Due—Year Ending December 31,

Description Total 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 Thereafter
Revolving credit agreement | $ 34400 § - ¥ - $34400 % - 3 = $
Subordinated notes 389 389 - - - - -
Term loans 2,248 43 1,389 386 215 215

Capital lease obligations 3,748 650 657 807 616 1,018 -
Operating lease obligations 6,291 1,843 1,456 1,049 762 538 643
‘Self-insurance accruals 25,119 9.197 5,772 3,587 1,767 984 3,812

£72.195 §12122 § 9274 § 40220 § 3360 § 2755  § 4455

The self-insurance accruals in the summary above reflect the total of the undiscounted amount accrued as
at December 31, 2002, and amounts estimated to be due each year may differ from actual payments
required to fund claims. Additional information regarding the long-term obligations summarized above is
provided in the notes to our consolidated financial statements.

As at December 31, 2002, we were contingently liable to our principal banks in the amount of $27,524 for
letters of credit outstanding primarily related to insurance coverage. Substantially all of these letters of
credit, which expire within a year, are planned for renewal as necessary.

Also, as is common with our industry, we have performance obligations that are supported by svrety
bonds, which expire during 2003 through 2006. We intend to renew the performance bonds where
appropriate and as necessary.

Capital Resources
Cash generated from operations and our revolving credit facility are our primary sources of capital.

We satisfy seasonal working capital needs and other financing requirements with the revolving credit
agreement and several other short-term lines of credit that approximated $3,399 as at December 31, 2002.
We are continuously reviewing our existing sources of financing and evaluating alternatives. At
December 31, 2002, we had working capital of $15,422 and approximately $28,076 of availability under
our revolving credit agreement. '

Our sources of capital presently allow us the financial flexibility to meet cur capital spending plan and to
complete business acquisitions.

Impact of Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements

In December 2002, the FASB issued FAS 148, "Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation--Transition
and Disclosures," which amends FAS 123 "Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation." FAS 148
provides alternative methods of transition for a voluntary change to the fair value method of accounting
for stock-based employee compensation. In addition, FAS 148 amends the disclosure requirements of
FAS 123 to require more prominent and more frequent disclosures in both annual and interim financial
statements about the method of accounting for stock-based employee compensation and the effect of the
method used on reported results. The disclosure provisions of FAS 148 are effective for fiscal years
ending after December 15, 2002 and have been incorporated into our financial statements.
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MARKET RISK DISCLOSURES

In the normal course of business, we are exposed to market risk related to changes in interest rates and
changes in foreign currency exchange rates. We do not hold or issue derivative financial instruments for
trading or speculative purposes.

Interest Rate Risk

We are exposed to market risk related to changes in interest rates on long-term debt obligations. The
interest rates on substantially all of our long-term debt outstanding are variable. We have inferest rate
protection from our interest rate swaps to limit exposure to interest rate volatility (Interest rate "swaps"
are the exchange of interest rate payments based on fixed versus floating interest rates which reduce the
risk of interest-rate changes on future interest expense--"hedging").

The following table provides information, as of December 31, 2002, about our debt obligations and
interest rate swaps. For debt obligations, the table presents principal cash flows, weighted-average interest
rates by expected maturity dates and fair values. For the interest rate swaps, the table presents the
underlying face (notional) amount, weighted-average interest rate by contractual maturity dates and the
fair value to settle the swaps at December 31, 2002. Weighted-average interest rates used for variable rate
obligations are based on rates as derived from published spot rates, in effect as at December 31, 2002.

Fair Value
December 31, December 31,
2003 2004 2005 - _2006 2007 Thereafter Total 2002
Liabilities
Long-term debt
Fixed rate $ 43 § 38 % 36 $ 40 § 40 3 - § 197 £ 196
Average interest rate 10.2% 10.1% 10.0% 10.0% 10.0%
Variable rate- $ 389 § 1,351 $34,750 £ 175 $ 175 $ - 536,240 $ 36,754
Average interest rate 3.9% 4.9% 6.0% “1.3% 7.7%
Interest rate derivative instruments
Interest rate swaps:
Pay fixed, notional amount $10000 § - $10,000 5 - 5 - b - $20,000 § 364
Average pay rate 4.82% 4.39% 4.39%
Average receive rate - 1.82% 2.89% 5.08%

Interest rates, as of December 31, 2002, on the fixed-rate debt rariged from 10.0% to 12.7% and interest
rates on the variable-rate debt ranged from 3.8% to 7.7%.

The interest rate swaps have an underlying face (notional) amount of $10,000 each, which is used to
calculate the cash flow to be exchanged and does not represent the exposure to credit loss. If we were to
settle the swap agreement at December 31, 2002 (fair value), we would pay $364.

Foreign Currency Rate Risk

We are exposed to market risk related to foreign currencjr cxc}iange rate risk resulting from our operations
in Canada, where a comprehensive range of horticultural services are provided.
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Our financial results could be affected by factors such as changes in the foreign currency exchange rate or
differing economic conditions in the Canadian markets as compared with the markets for our services in
the United States. Our earnings are affected by translation exposures from currency fluctuations in the
value of the U. S. dollar as compared to the Canadian dollar. Similarly, the Canadian dollar-denominated
assets and liabilities may result in financial exposure as to the timing of transactions and the net asset /
liability position of our Canadian operations.

For the year ended December 31, 2002, the result of a hypothetical 10% uniform change in the value of
the U.S. dollar, as compared with the Canadian dollar, would not have a material effect on our results of

operations or our financial position. Our sensitivity analysis of the effects of changes in foreign currency
exchange rates does not factor in a potential change in sales levels or local currency prices.

Impact of Inflation
The impact of inflation on the results of operations has not been significant in recent years.
Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk.

The information set forth in "Market Risk Disclosures” under Item 7 "Management's Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations" is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.
Our consolidated financial statements are attached hereto and listed on page F-1 of this annual report.
Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure.

None.

PART I
Item 10. Directors and Executive Officers of the Registrant.

Information about our executive officers is in the section "Executive Officers of the Registrant" at Part I,
Item 4A of this report.

Information about our directors is in the section "Election of Directors" of our 2003 Proxy Statement,
which is incorporated into this report by reference.

Item 11. Executive Compensation.
Information about director compensation is in the section "Compensation of Directors" and information

about executive compensation is in the section "Compensation of Executive Officers" of the 2003 Proxy
Statement, which are incorporated into this report by reference.
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Item 12, Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management.

Information about ownership of our common shares by certain persons is in the section "Ownership of
Common Shares" of the 2003 Proxy Statement, which is incorporated into this report by reference.
Information about our securities authorized for issuance under equity compensation plans is in the section

"Equity Compensation Plans" of the 2003 Proxy Statement, which is incorporated into this report by
reference.

Item 13. Cerfain Relationships and Related Transactions.

Information about certain transactions between the Company and their affiliates and certain other persons
is in the sections "Election of Directors" of the 2003 Proxy Statement, which is incorporated into this

report by reference.

Item 14. Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

The Davey Tree Expert Company's management, including our Chief Executive Officer (CEO) and Chief
Financial Officer (CFO), have conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and
procedures as of a date within 90 days of filing this Annual Report on Form 10-K (the "Evaluation
Date"). Based on that evaluation, management, including our CEO and CFO, concluded that the
Company's disclosure controls and procedures were effective, as of the Evaluation Date, in ensuring that

all material information required to be filed in this annual report has been made known to them in a
timely fashion.

Changes in Internal Controls

No significant changes were made to our internal controls or in other factors that could significantly affect
these controls subsequent to the Evaluation Date.

PART IV

-Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules and Reports on Form 8-K.

(a) (1) and (a) (2) Financial Statements and Schedules.

The response to this portion of Item 14 is set forth on page F-1 of this report.

(a) (3) Exhibits.

The exhibits to this Form 10-K are submitted as a separate section of this report. See Exhibit Index.

(b) Reports on Form §-K.

No reports on Form 8-K have been filed during the fourth quarter 2002.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, the
registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly
authorized on March 26, 2003,

THE DAVEY TREE EXPERT COMPANY

By: /s/R. Douglas Cowan
R. Douglas Cowan, Chairman and
Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by
the following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities indicated on March 26, 2003,

/s/ R. Douglas Cowan /s/ James H. Miller
R. Douglas Cowan, Director, James H. Miller, Director

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

/s/ Karl J. Warnke

Karl ]. Wamke, Director,
/s/ R. Cary Blair President and Chief Operating Officer
R. Cary Blair, Director

/s/ David E. Adante

/s/ Dr. Carol A. Cartwright David E. Adante, Executive Vice President,
Dr. Carol A. Cartwright, Director Chief Financial Officer and Secretary
(Principal Financial Officer)

/s/ Russell R. Gifford

Russell R. Gifford, Director /s/ Nicholas R. Sucic
Nicholas R. Sucic, Corporate Controller
(Principal Accounting Officer)

/s/ Richard S. Gray
Richard S. Gray, Director

/s/ Douglas K. Hall
Douglas K. Hall, Director

/s/ Willard R. Holland
Willard R. Holland, Director
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Certification

Certification of Chief Executive Officer

I, R. Douglas Cowan, certify that:

1.

2.

I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of The Davey Tree Expert Company;

Based on my knowledge, this annual report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact
or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances
under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
annual report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this
annual report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and
cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this annual report;

The registrant's other certifying officers and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining
disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-14 and 15d-14) for the

registrant and we have:

(a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures to ensure that material information relating
to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within
those entities, particularly during the period in which this annual report is being prepared;

(b) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures as of a date
within 90 days prior to the filing date of this annual report (the "Evaluation Date"); and

(c) presented in this annual report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls
and procedures based on our evaluation as of the Evaluation Date;

The registrant's other certifying officers and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation, to
the registrant's anditors and the audit committee of registrant's board of directors (or persons
performing the equivalent function):

(2) all significant deficiencies in the design or operation of the internal controls which could
adversely affect the registrant's ability o record, process, summarize and report financial data
and have identified for the registrant's auditors any material weaknesses in internal controls; and

(b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves masagement or other employees who have a
significant role in the registrant's internal controls; and

The registrant's other certifying officers and I have indicated in this annual report whether or not
there were significant changes in internal controls or in other factors that could significantly affect
internal controls subsequent to the date of our most recent evaluation, including any corrective
actions with regard to significant deficiencies and material weaknesses.

Date: March 26, 2003 /s/ R. Douglas Cowan

R. Douglas Cowan
Chairman and Chief Executive Qfficer
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Certification of Chief Financial Officer

L, David E. Adante, certify that:

L.

2.

I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of The Davey Tree Expert Company;

Based on my knowledge, this annual report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact
or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances
under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
annual report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this
annual report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and
cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this annual report;

The registrant's other certifying officers and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining
disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-14 and 15d-14) for the
registrant and we have:

(a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures to ensure that material information relating to
the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within
those entities, particularly during the period in which this annual report is being prepared;

(b) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures as of a date
within 90 days prior to the filing date of this annual report (the "Evaluation Date"); and

{c) presented in this annual report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls
and procedures based on our evaluation as of the Evaluation Date;

The registrant's other certifying officers and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation, to
the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of registrant's board of directors (or persons
performing the equivalent function):

(a) all significant deficiencies in the design or operation of the internal confrols which could
adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial data
and have identified for the registrant's auditors any material weaknesses in internal controls; and

(b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a
significant role in the registrant's internal controls; and

The registrant's other certifying officers and I have indicated in this annual report whether or not
there were significant changes in infernal controls or in other factors that could significantly affect
internal controls subsequent to the date of our most recent evaluation, including any corrective
actions with regard to significant deficiencies and material weaknesses.

Date: March 26, 2003 /s/ David E. Adante

David E. Adante
Executive Vice President, CFO and Secretary
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Exhibit No.

3.1

32

10.1

10.2

10.3

21
23.1
23.2

99.1

99.2

EXHIBIT INDEX

Description

1991 Amended Articles of Iucorpofation

1987 Amended and Restated Regulations of The
Davey Tree Expert Company

1987 Incentive Stock Option Plan (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit
(10)(a) to the Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year
ended December 31, 1997).

1994 Omnibus Stock Plan (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit (10)(b)
to the Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended
July 3, 1999). ‘

Credit Agreement by and among the Company and KeyBank National
Association, as lead arranger, syndication agent and administrative
agent and National City Bank, as documentation agent, for various
lending institutions dated as of November 8, 2002.

Subsidiaries of the Registrant
Consent of Emst & Young LLP, Independent Auditors
Consent of Deloitte & Touche LLP, Independent Auditors

Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C, Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant
to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002--Chief Executive
Officer

Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant
to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002--Chief Financial
Officer

Filed Herewith

Filed Herewith
Filed Herewith
Filed Herewith

Filed Herewith

Filed Herewith

The documents listed as Exhibits 10.1 and 10.2 constitute management contracts or compensatory plans
or arrangements.

The Registrant is a party to certain instruments, copies of which will be furnished to the Securities and
Exchange Commission upon request, defining the rights of holders of long-term debt.
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EXBIBIT 21

SUBSIDIARIES OF THE REGISTRANT

Name Jurisdiction of Qrganization
Davey Tree Surgery Company Ohio
Davey Tree Expert Co. of Canada, Limited Canada
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EXHIBIT 23.1

Consent of Independent Auditors

We consent to the incorporation by reference of our report dated February 21, 2003, with respect to the
consolidated financial statements of The Davey Tree Expert Company included in this Annual Report

(Form 10-K) for the year ended December 31, 2002, in the following Registration Statements and in the
related Prospectuses:

Registration
Number Description of Registration Statement

33-21072 The Davey Tree Expert Company 1987 Incentive Stock Opﬁon Plan - Form S-8

33-28041 The Davey Tree Expert Company 1989 Stock Subscription Plan - Amendment No. 2
to Form S-2

33-59347 The Davey Tree Expert Company 1994 Omnibus Stock Plan - Form S-8

333-24155  The Davey 401KSOP and ESOP - Form $-8

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP

Akron, Ohio
March 21, 2003
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EXHIBIT 23.2

Consent of Independent Auditors

We consent to the incorporation by reference in Registration Statement Nos. 33-21072, 33-59347 and
333-24155 on Forms S-8 relating to The Davey Tree Expert Company 1987 Incentive Stock Option Plan,
The Davey Tree Expert Company 1994 Omnibus Stock Plan, and The Davey Tree Expert 1997 401KSOP
and ESOP and in Registration Statement No. 33-28041 on Form S-2 relating to The Davey Tree Expert
Company 1989 Stock Subscription Plan and in the related prospectus, of our report dated March 7, 2001
appearing in this Annual Report on Form 10-K of The Davey Tree Expert Company for the year ended
December 31, 2002. '

/s/ Deloitte & Touche LLP

Cleveland, Ohio
March 24, 2003
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Exhibit 99.1

Certification Pursnant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2602

Certification of Chief Executive Officer

I, R. Douglas Cowan, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of The Davey Tree Expert Company (the
"Company"), do hereby certify in accordance with 18 U.8.C. 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to my knowledge:

(1.) The Annual Report on Form 10-K of the Company for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2002
(the "Report™) fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (15 U.S.C. 78m or 780(d}); and,

{2.) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the
financial condition and results of operations of the Company. '

Date: March 26, 2003 /s/ R. Douglas Cowan
R. Douglas Cowan
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
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Exhibit 99.2

Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

Certification of Chief Fi i biil

I, David E. Adante, Executive Vice President, CFO and Secretary of The Davey Tree Expert Company
(the "Company™), do hereby certify in accordance with 18 U.8.C. 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section
906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to my knowledge:

(1.) The Annual Report on Form 10-K of the Company for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2002
(the "Report"™) fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (15 U.S.C. 78m or 780(d}); and,

(2.) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in alt material respects, the
financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

Date: March 26, 2003 /s/ David E. Adante
David E. Adante
Executive Vice President, CFO and Secretary
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LIST OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

FORM 10-K-ITEM 15(a)(1) AND (2)
THE DAVEY TREE EXPERT COMPANY

The following consolidated financial statements of The Davey Tree Expert Company are
included in Item &:

Audited Consolidated Financial Statements:
Report of Ernst & Young LLP, Independent Auditors
Report of Deloitte & Touche LLP, Independent Auditors
Consolidated Balance Sheets -- December 31, 2002 and 2001

Consolidated Statements of Operations -- Years ended December 31, 2002,
2001 and 2000

Statements of Consolidated Shareholders' Equity -- Years ended December 31, 2002,
2001 and 2000

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows -- Years ended December 31, 2002, 2001
and 2000

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements -- December 31, 2002
Financial Statement Schedules:
None
All schedules for which provision is made in the applicable accounting regulation of the

Securities and Exchange Commission are not required under the related instructions or
are inapplicable and therefore have been omitted.
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REPORT OF ERNST & YOUNG LLP, INDEPENDENT AUDITORS

To the Shareholders and the Board of Directors.
The Davey Tree Expert Company

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of The Davey Tree Expert Company as
of December 31, 2002 and 2001 and the related consolidated statements of operations, shareholders'
equity, and cash flows for the two years ended December 31, 2002. These financial statements are the
responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these
financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States.
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis,
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as
evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable
basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the
consolidated financial position of The Davey Tree Expert Company at December 31, 2002 and 2001 and

the consolidated results of its operations and its cash flows for the two years ended December 31,2002, in
conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States.

/s/ ERNST & YOUNG LLP

Akron, Ohio
February 21, 2003
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REPORT OF DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP, INDEPENDENT AUDITORS

To the Shareholders and Board of Directors
The Davey Tree Expert Company
Kent, Ohio

We have audited the accompanying consolidated statements of operations, shareholders' equity, and cash
flows of The Davey Tree Expert Company and its subsidiaries (the "Company™) for the year ended
December 31, 2000. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the aundit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit inchudes examining, on a test
basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as
evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable
basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, such consolidated financial statements present fairly, the results of operations and cash

flows of the Company for the year ended December 31, 2000, in conformity with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America.

/s/ DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP

Cleveland, Ohio
March 7, 2001
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THE DAVEY TREE EXPERT COMPANY
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(In thousands, except per share amounts)

Assets

Current assets: _
Cash and cash equivalents
Accounts receivable, net
Operating supplies
Prepaid expenses
Other current assets

Total current assets

Property and equipment:
Land and land improvements
Buildings and leasehold improvements
Equipment

Less accumulated depreciation

Other assets :
Identified intangible assets and goodwill, net

Liabilities and shareholders' equity
Current liabilities:

Short-term debt

Accounts payable

Accrued expenses

Self-insurance accruals

Current portion of capital lease obligations
Total current liabilities

Long-term debt

Capital lease obligations
Self-insurance accruals
Deferred income taxes
Other liabilities

Common shareholders' equity:

Common shares, $1.00 par value, per share; 12,000 shares
authorized; 10,728 shares issued and outstanding as of
December 31, 2002 and 2001

Additional paid-in capital

Common shares subscribed, unissued

Retained earnings

Accumnlated other comprehensive income (loss)

Less cost of Common shares held in treasury:
3,048 m 2002 and 3,000 in 2001
Common shares subscription receivable

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
F-4

December 31,
2002 2001

$ 591 $ 406
49,197 47,672

2,857 2,724

4,768 3,478

4.090 3.407

61,503 57,687

6,569 6,436

17,289 18,594
205,180 200,488
229,038 225,518
162,175 155.407
66,863 70,111

- 25,230 25,147
7560 2,528

3 161,156 3 155,473
$ 1,242 3 1,541
18,097 16,919
16,659 14,249

9,433 8,190

— 650 533

46,081 41,432
36,605 41,887

3,098 3,600

13,493 11,444

7,081 6,350

663 510

107,021 105,223
10,728 10,728

5,710 5,163

9,817 -

82,525 77,358
(1.057) (1.209)
107,723 92,040
44,956 41,790

8,632 -

54,135 50,250
$___ 161,156 $§ 155473




THE DAVEY TREE EXPERT COMPANY
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(In thousands, except per share amounts)

Revenues

Costs and expenses:
Operating
Selling
General and administrative
Depreciation
Amortization of intangible assets

Income from operations
Other income (expense):
Interest expense
Gain on sale of assets
Other
Income (loss) before income taxes
Income taxes (benefit)

Net income (loss)

Net income (loss) per share:
Basic

Diluted

See notes to consolidated financial statements.

Year Ended December 31,

2002 2001 2000
$ 319,273 $ 321,284 $ 322,236
211,549 212,783 226,441
50,865 50,564 49 978
22,800 22,567 23,015
19,370 19,054 20,722
692 466 459
305,276 305,434 320,615
13,997 15,850 1,621
(3,121) (4,993) (6,217)
2,054 1,023 1,172
(993) (744) {60}
11,937 11,136 (3,484)
4.716 4,405 (1,080)
§ - 7.221 $ 6,731 $ (2,404
3 _.89 3 87 $ (30
$ 85 $ 82 $ (.30)
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Common shares
At beginning and end of year

Additional paid-in capital
At beginning of year
Shares sold to employees
Options exercised
Subscription shares, issued
At end of year

Common shares subscribed, unissued
At beginning of year
Common shares, subscribed
Common shares, issued
Cancellations
At end of year

Retained earnings
At beginning of year
Net income (loss)
Dividends, $.22 per share
Dividends, $.24 per share
At end of year

Accumnlated other comprehensive
income (loss), net of tax
At beginning of year
Foreign currency translation
adjustments
Derivatives: Cumulative effect of
accounting change
Unrealized gain (loss) on interest
rate swaps
Other comprehensive income (loss)
At end of year o

Common shares held in {reasury
At beginning of year
Shares purchased .
Shares sold to employees
Options exercised
Subscription shares, issued
At end of year

Common shares subscription receivable
At beginning of year
Shares subscribed
Payments
Cancellations
At end of year

Total Common Shareholders’ Equity
at December 31
Total Comprehensive Income
Net income (loss)
Other comprehensive income (loss)
Total comprehensive income (loss)

See notes to consolidated financial statements.

THE DAVEY TREE EXPERT COMPANY
STATEMENTS OF CONSOLIDATED SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
(In thousands, except per share amounts)

2000

2002 2001
Shares Amount Shares ' Amount
10,728 $ 10,728 10,728 $ 10,728
5,163 4,308
660 918
(150) (63)
77 -
5,710 5,163
836 10,032 -
(16) (194) .
(2) 21) - -
818 9,817 5
77,358 72,328
. 7,221 6,731
- (1,701)
(2.054) -
82,525 77,358
(1,209} (745)
13 (99)
(105)
139 __ (260)
152 {464)
(1,057) (1,209)
3,000 (41,790) 2,932 (39,227)
578 (7,051) 492 (5,541)
(201) 1,588 (284) 2,021
(313) 2,179 (140) 957
(16) 118 - -
3,048 (44,956) 3,000 (41,790)
(836) (10,032) -
16 1,379 . .
2 21 o -
{818) (8.632) - -
~1,680 § 54,135 — 1728 $ 50,250
5§ 7221 $ 6,731
152 {464)
§ 7,373 $_ 6,267

Shares Amount

10,728 $ 10,728

3,136
1,162
i0

4,308

76,455
(2,404)
(1,723)

72,328

(543)

(202)

T
(745)

(33,356)
640 (8,205)
1,960
(58) 374

(39,227;)

$ 47,392

$ (2,404
(202)
3 ..(2.606)



THE DAVEY TREE EXPERT COMPANY

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(In thousands)

Operating activities

Net income (loss)

Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net
cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation
Amortization
Gain on sale of property
Deferred income taxes
Other

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable
Accounts payable and accrued expenses
Self-insurance accruals
Other assets, net

Net cash provided by operating activities

Investing activities
Capital expenditures
Equipment
. Land and buildings
Proceeds from sales of property and equipment
Purchases of businesses
Net cash used in investing activities

Increase in cash before financing activities

Financing activities
Revolving credit facility payments, net
Borrowings (payments) of notes payable
Payments of long-term debt and capital leases
Purchase of Common shares for treasury
Sale of Common shares from treasury
Cash received on Common share subscriptions
Dividends
Net cash used in financing activities

Imncrease in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Year Ended December 31,
2002 2001 2000
$ 7,221 $ 6731 § (2,404
19,370 19,054 20,722
692 466 459
(2,054) (1,023) (1,172)
408 (342) 568
173 (194) 24
25,810 24.692 18,197
(689) (4,475) 15,129
3,588 5,985 24
3,292 2,798 926
(2,574) 813 (2.961)-
3617 5,121 13.070
29,427 29,813 31,267
(15,791) (11,593) (17,099
(336) 99) X))
3,745 1,419 3,719
(4,288) (83) (452)
(16.670) (10,356) (14.209)
12,757 19,457 17,058
(6,900) (15,100) (10,200)
(1,109) 288 326
(1,074) (887) (762)
(7,051) (5,541) (8,205)
4,237 3,833 3,506
1,379 - -
(2.054) (1,701) (1.723)
(12.572) (19.108) (17,058)
- 185 . 349 -
406 57 57
$ 591 $ 406 $ 57




The Davey Tree Expert Company
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
" December 31, 2002
(In thousands, except share data)

A. The Company's Business

The Davey Tree Expert Company and its subsidiaries (the "Company") provides a wide range of
horticultural services to residential, commercial, utility and institutional customers throughout the United
States and Canada.

Residential and Commercial Services provides for the treatment, preservation, maintenance, cultivation,
planting and removal of trees, shrubs and other plant life; its services also include the practice of
landscaping, tree surgery, tree feeding, and tree spraying, as well as the application of fertilizer,
herbicides and insecticides.

Utility Services is principally engaged in the practice of line clearing for public utilities, including the
clearing of tree growth from power lines, clearance of rights-of-way and chemical brush control.

Resource Group provides services related to natural resource management and consulting, forestry
research and development, and environmental planning and also maintains research, technical support and
laboratory diagnostic facilities.

B. Accounting Policies

Principles of Consolidation--The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company
and its wholly-owned subsidiaries. All significant intercompany accounts and transactions have been
eliminated.

Accounting Estimates--The consolidated financial statements and notes prepared in accordance with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States include estimates and assumptions made by
management that affect reported amounts. Actuval results could differ from those estimates.

Fiscal Year—-The Company's fiscal year ends on the Saturday closest to December 31. The fiscal years
reported are for the 52-week periods ended December 28, 2002, December 29, 2001 and December 30,
2000. For purposes of the consolidated financial statements, the year-end is referred to as December 31
for all years presented.

Cash Equivalents--Cash equivalents are highly liquid investments with maturities of three months or less
when purchased. '

Revenue Recognition--Revenues from residential and commercial services are recognized as the services
are provided and amounts are determined to be collectible. Revenues from contractual arrangements,
primarily with utility services customers, are recognized based on costs incurred to total estimated
contract costs. During the performance of such contracts, estimated final contract prices and costs are-
periodically reviewed and revisions are made, as required, to the revenue recognized. On cost-plus-fee
contracts, revenue is recognized to the extent of costs incurred plus a proportionate amount of fees earned,
and on time-and-material contracts revenue is recognized to the extent of billable rates times hours -

-worked, plus material and other reimbursable costs incurred. Revisions arise in the normal course of
providing services to utility services customers and generally relate to changes in contract specifications
and cost allowability. Such revisions are recorded when realization is probable and can be reliably
estimated.
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The Davey Tree Expert Company
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements--(Continued)
December 31, 2002
(In thousands, except share data)

B. Accounting Policies (continued)

Concentration of Credit Risk—Credit risk represents the accounting loss that would be recognized if the
counterparties failed to perform as contracted. The principal financial instruments subject to credit risk
follows: .- '

Cash and Cash Equivalents, and Derivative Financial Instruments: To limit its exposure, the
Company transacts its business and maintains interest rate swaps with high credit quality
financial institutions.

Accounts Receivable: The Company's residential and commercial customers are located
geographically throughout the United States and Canada and, as to commercial customers, within
differing industries, thus minimizing credit risk. The credit exposure of utility services customers
is directly affected by conditions within the utility industries as well as the financial condition of
individual customers. One utility services customer approximated 13% of revenues during 2002
and 16% during 2001 and 2000. To reduce credit risk, the Company evaluates the credit of
customers, but generally does not require advance payments or collateral. Exposure to losses on
receivables is principally dependent on each customer's financial condition.

Property and Equipment--Property and equipment are stated at cost. Repair and maintenance costs are
expensed as incurred. Depreciation is computed for financial reporting purposes by the straight-line
method for land improvements, building and leasehold improvements and by the double-declining
method for equipment, based on the estimated useful lives of the assets, as follows:

Land improvements ................ 5 to 20 years

Buildings.........coveviineeiiinn 5 to 20 years

Equipment........................ 3 to 10 years

Leasehold improvements . ............ Shorter of lease term or estimated useful life;
ranging from 5 to 20 years

The amortization of assets acquired under capital leases is included in depreciation expense.

Intangible Assets--Intangible assets with finite lives, primarily customer lists, noncompete agreements
and trade names, are amortized by the straight-line method based on their estimated useful lives, ranging
from one to ten years

Long-Lived Assets--The Company assesses potential impairment to its long-lived assets, other than
goodwill, only when there is evidence that events or changes in circumstances have made recovery of the
asset's carrying value unlikely and the carrying amount of the asset exceeds the estimated future
undiscounted cash flow. In the event the assessment indicates that the carrying amounts may not be
recoverable, an impairment loss would be recognized to reduce the asset's carrying amount to its
estimated fair value based on the present value of the estimated future cash flows.
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The Davey Tree Expert Company
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements--(Continued)
December 31, 2002
(In thousands, except share data)

B. Accounting Policies (continued)

Stock Compensation Arrangements--The Company accounts for stock compensation arrangements using
the intrinsic value method in APB Opinion No. 25, "Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees." Under
the intrinsic value method, no compensation expense is recorded for stock options when granted, if the
option prices are set at the market value of the underlying stock.

In accordance with the intrinsic value method, the Company has not recognized any expense related to
stock options, as holders of stock options have historically had to pay an amount equal to the market
value of the shares at the date of grant.

The alternative policy, in FAS No. 123, "Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation," the fair value
method, is based on the fair value of the stock option awarded, determined by an option pricing model,
net of any amount the holders must pay for the stock options when granted. If the Company had used the
fair value method, the after-tax expense relating to the stock options would have been $13 in 2002, $357
in 2001 and $284 in 2000. In calculating the after-tax expense of the stock options, the following
assumptions were used: initial annual dividend rate of 1.5% per share; a risk free interest rate of 6.25%;
and, an expected life of five years. The following table presents the pro forma net income as if the fair
value method had been applied to the stock options.

Year Ended December 31,
2002 2001 2000
Net income (loss) as reported $ 7,221 $§ 6,731 §$ (2,404)
. Deduct stock-based compensation,
determined under fair value 13 357 284
Pro forma net income, FAS 123 adjusted 3 7.208 $ 6374 2.688
Net income (loss) per share -- basic
As reported $ .89 $ 87 8 (.30)
Pro forma, FAS 123 adjusted ‘ .89 82 (.34)
Net income (loss) per share -- diluted
As reported $ .85 $ 82 3 (.30)
Pro forma, FAS 123 adjusted .85 77 (.34)

Derivative Financial Instruments--Derivative financial instruments such as interest rate swaps are used by
the Company to reduce interest rate risks. The Company does not hold or issue derivative financial
instruments for trading purposes.

Self-Insurance Accruals--The Company is generally self-insured for losses and liabilities related primarily
to workers' compensation, vehicle liability and general liability claims. The Company uses commercial
insurance as a risk-reduction strategy to minimize catastrophic losses. Ultimate losses are accrued based
upon estimates of the aggregate liability for claims incurred using certain actuarial assumptions followed
in the insurance industry and based on Company-specific experience.
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The Davey Tree Expert Company
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements--(Continued)
December 31, 2002
(In thousands, except share data)

B. Accounting Policies (continued)

The self-insurance accruals include claims for which the ultimate losses will develop over a period of
years. Accordingly, the estimates of ultimate losses can change as claims mature. The accruals also are
affected by changes in the number of new claims incurred and claim severity. The methods for estimating
the ultimate losses and the total cost of claims were determined by external consulting actuaries; the
resulting accruals are continually reviewed by management, and any adjustments arising from changes in
estimates are reflected in income currently. The self-insurance accruals are based on estimates, and while
management believes that the amounts accrued are adequate, the ultimate claims may be in excess of or
less than the amounts provided.

Income Taxes--The Company computes taxes on income in accordance with the tax rules and regulations
where the income is eaned. The income tax rates imposed by these taxing authorities vary, Taxable
income may differ from pretax income for financial reporting purposes. To the extent differences are due
to revenue and expense items reported in one period for tax purposes and in another period for financial
reporting purposes, provision for deferred taxes is made. Changes in tax rates and laws are reflected in
income in the period when such changes are enacted.

Net Income Per Share and Common Shares--Basic net income per share is determined by dividing the
income available to common shareholders by the weighted-average number of common shares
outstanding. Diluted net income per share is computed similar to basic net income per share except that
the weighted-average number of shares is increased to include the effect of stock options that were
granted and outstanding during the period.

Foreign Currency Translation--All assets and liabilities of the Company's Canadian operations are
translated into United States dollars at year-end exchange rates while revenues and expenses are
translated at weighted-average exchange rates in effect during the year. Translation adjustments are
recorded as accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) in shareholders' equity.

Comprehensive Income (Lossj-—-Comprehensive income (loss) includes net income and other
comprehensive income or loss. Other comprehensive income (loss) refers to revenues, expenses, gains
and losses that under generally accepted accounting principles are included in comprehensive income but
are excluded from net income as these amounts are recorded directly as an adjustment to shareholders'
equity, net of tax. The Company's other comprehensive income (loss) is composed of foreign currency
translation adjustments and unrealized gains and losses from its interest rate swaps.

Fair Values--The carrying amount of cash and cash equivalents, receivables, accounts payable and debt
approximates fair value.

New Accounting Standards Adopted--Effective January 1, 2001, the Company adopted Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards ("FAS") No. 133, "Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging
Activities," as amended by FAS 138. FAS 133 requires that all derivatives, such as interest rate swap
agreements, be recognized on the balance sheet at fair value. The Statement also requires that changes in
the derivative instrument's fair value be recognized currently in the results of operations unless specific
hedge accounting criteria are met. The cumulative effect of the accounting change, as of January 1, 2001,
resulted in the reporting of a $105 decrease, net of tax, to accumulated other comprehensive income
(loss).
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The Davey Tree Expert Company
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements--(Continued)
" December 31, 2002
(In thousands, except share data)

B. Accounting Policies (continued)

Effective January 1, 2002, the Company adopted FAS 141, "Business Combinations," and FAS 142,
"Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets." FAS 141 requires business combinations initiated after June 30,
2001 to be accounted for using the purchase method of accounting and broadens the criteria for recording
intangible assets apart from goodwill. FAS 142 requires that purchased goodwill and certain indefinite-
lived intangibles no longer be amortized, but instead be tested for impairment at least annually. There was
no impairment of goodwill upon adoption of FAS 142. Supplemental comparative disclosure, as if the

change had been retroactively applied, follows:

Year Ended December 31,
2002 2001 2000

Cease goodwill amortization b - § 150 % 154
Net income (loss) as reported $ 7221 § 6,731 § (2,404)

Cease goodwill amortization, net of tax - 105 110
Pro forma net income, FAS 142 adjusted $ 7221 $§ 6836 § (2,294
Net income (foss) per share - basic

As reported $ .89 b3 87 8 (.30)

Pro forma net income, FAS 142 adjusted .89 B8 (29
Net income (loss) per share - diluted ,

As reported ' $ .85 $ 82 3 (.30)

Pro forma net income, FAS 142 adjusted 85, 83 (.29)

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncement--In December 2002, the FASB issued FAS 148, "Accounting
for Stock-Based Compensation--Transition and Disclosures," which amends FAS 123 "Accounting for
Stock-Based Compensation.” FAS 148 provides alternative methods of transition for a voluntary change
to the fair value method of accounting for stock-based employee compensation. In addition, FAS 148
amends the disclosure requirements of FAS 123 to require more prominent and more frequent disclosures
in both annual and interim financial statements about the method of accounting for stock-based employee
compensation and the effect of the method used on reported results, The disclosure provisions of FAS 148
are effective for fiscal years ending afier December 15, 2002 and have been incorporated into these
financial statements.
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The Davey Tree Expert Company

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements--(Continued)
December 31, 2002

(In thousands, except share data)

C. Accounts Receivable, Net

Accounts receivable, net, consisted of the following:

December 31,
2002 2001
Accounts receivable $ 57,376 $ 59,102
Receivables under contractual arrangements 5,880 3,174
63,256 62,276

Less prepetition accounts receivable from PG&E
classified as noncurrent other assets

12,490

13.326

50,766 48,950
Less allowances for doubtful accounts : 1,569 1,278
$ . 49,197 § 47672

Receivables under contractual arrangements consist of work-in-process in accordance with the terms of
contracts, primarily utility services customers.

On April 6, 2001, one of the Company's largest utility customers, Pacific Gas and Electric Company
(PG&E) filed a voluntary bankruptcy petition under Chapter 11 of the U. S. Bankruptey Code.

Subsequent to the bankruptcy petition date, the Company continued to provide services under the terms of
its contracts with PG&E. The Company continues to perform services for PG&E and receives payment
for post-petition date services performed, as part of PG&E administrative expenses.

On September 20, 2001, PG&E filed a reorganization plan as part of its Chapter 11 bankruptcy
proceeding that seeks to pay all of its creditors in full. Components of the plan will require the approval of
the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission, the Securities and Exchange Commission and the Nuclear
Energy Regulatory Commission, in addition to the bankruptey court. In addition to PG&E's
reorganization plan, there is a competing alternative proposed plan of reorganization filed by the
California Public Utilities Commission and the Official Committee of Unsecured Creditors ("CPUC/OCC
plan"). The bankruptcy court began confirmation hearings in December 2002 to determine whether to
confirm the PG&E plan, the CPUC/OCC plan or neither plan. The bankruptcy court has scheduled trial
dates through April 2003. In determining whether to confirm either plan, the bankruptey court will
consider, among other factors, creditor preference and financial and legal feasability. Various parties have
filed objections to confirmation of either or both plans. PG&E will not emerge from bankruptey until a
plan of reorganization has been confirmed by the bankruptcy court and the confirmed plan has been
executed. Management is unable to predict which plan, if any, the bankruptcy court will confirm.
Management has monitored the situation closely and will continue to assess the collectibility of its
receivables from PG&E. In management's opinion, the prepetition receivables from PG&E are
collectible.

During 2002, the Company received interest payments of $836 from PG&E on the prepetition accounts

receivable reducing the outstanding prepetition balance to $12,490. Because of the inability to predict
when payment will be received, the prepetition receivables are classified as noncurrent other assets.
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The Davey Tree Expert Company
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements--(Continued)
December 31, 2002
{In thousands, except share data)

D. Supplemental Balance Sheet and Cash Flow Information

The following items comprise the amounts included in the balance sheets:

December 31,

Other currents assets 2002 2001
Refundable income taxes $ 360 $ -
Deferred income taxes ' 3.730 3.407
Total $ 409 $ 3.407

_December 31,

Other assets 2002 2001
Prepaid pension costs $ 11,324 § 10,922
Prepetition accounts receivable from PG&E 12,490 13,326
Deposits 1.416 899
Total 3 25,230 b 25.147

December 31,

Identified intangibles and goodwill, net 2002 2001
Customer lists 3 5,381 $ 2,950
Noncompete agreements 1,674 563
Tradenames : 195 -
Goodwill 4,638 2,651

- 11,888 . 6,164

Less accumulated amortization 4,328 3,636

Total - $ 7,560 3 2.528
December 31,

Accrned expenses 2002 2001
Employee compensation $ 6,526 h 5,845
Accrued vacation 2,491 2,491
Self-insured medical claims 1,029 919
Commercial insurance payable 3,444 1,475
Income taxes payable - 1,416
Taxes, other than income 1,087 601
Other 2,082 1.502
Total $ 16,659 $§ 14249
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The Davey Tree Expert Company
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements--(Continued)
December 31, 2002
(In thousands, except share data)

D. Supplemental Balance Sheet and Cash Flow Information (continued)

Supplemental cash flow information follows:

Year Ended December 31,
2002 2001 2000
Interest paid $ 3,046 $ 5330 $ 5957
Income taxes paid (refunds received), net 4,585 2,465 (1,742)
Noncash transactions:
Debt issued for purchase of business 2,860 - -
Common share subscriptions 10,032 - -
Detail of acquisitions:
Assets acquired:
Equipment . 1,706 63 87
Intangibles ' 5,699 20 365
Liabilities assumed (257) - -
Debt issued for purchase of business (2.860) - -
Cash paid $ 4288 $ 83 § 452

E. Pension Plans

Substantially all of the Company's domestic employees are covered by two noncontributory defined
benefit pension plans.

The plan for nonbargaining employees provides a benefit based primarily on annual compensation up to a
defined level and years of credited service. The other plan is for bargaining employees not covered by
union pension plans and provides benefits at a fixed monthly amount based upon length of service. The
Company's funding policy is to make the annual contributions necessary to fund the plans within the
range permitted by applicable regulations.

Summarized information on the Company's defined benefit pension plans follows:

December 31,
2002 2001
Change in benefit obligation
Projected benefit obligation at beginning of year $ 15,419 $ 13,411
Service cost 875 786
Interest cost 1,083 973
Amendments - 574
Actuarial loss 1,461 933
Benefit payments (1,622} (1.258)
Projected benefit obligation at end of year S 17,216 $§ 15419
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The Davey Tree Expert Company
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements--(Continued)
December 31, 2002
(In thousands, except share data)

E. Pension Plans (continued)

December 31.
2002 2001
Change in plan assets
Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year $ 29413 $ 33,840
Actual return on plan assets . - (4,978) (3,169)
Benefit payments (1.622) (1,258)
Fair value of plan assets at end of year $§ 22813 $ 29413
December 31,
2002 2001
Funded status
Fair value of plan assets at end of year $ 22,813 $ 29413
Projected benefit obligation at end of year 17.216 15,419
Plan assets in excess of benefit obligation 5,597 : 13,994
Unrecognized loss (gain) 6,328 (2,404)
Unrecognized prior service cost _ 42 — 46
Unrecognized transition asset (643) (714)

Prepaid pension costs recognized in balance sheet $ 11,324 $ 10922

The assumptions used in developing the benefit obligations were as follows:

December 31,
2002 2001
Weighted-average assumptions
Discount rate used to determine projected
benefit obligation 6.75% 7.25%
Expected return on plan assets 8.00 8.00
Rate of increase in compensation 4.5 5.0

Net periodic benefit income associated with the defined benefit pension plans included the following
components:

Year Ended December 31,
2002 2001 2000
Components of pension expense (income)
Service costs -- increase in benefit obligation earned b 875 § 786 § 607
Interest cost on projected benefit obligation 1,083 973 924
Expected return on plan assets - (2,287) (2,732) (3,129)
Recognized net actuarial gains (6) . (491) (1,096)
Amortization of prior service cost 4 (34) (34
Amortization of transition asset - (72 (72) (72

Net pension income of defined benefit pension plans $ (403 §_(1.570) § (2.800)
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The Davey Tree Expert Company
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements--(Continued)
December 31,2002
(In thousands, except share data)

E. Pension Plans (continned)

In addition to the Company sponsored defined benefit plans, the Company contributes to several
multiemployer plans. Total pension expense for multiemployer plans was $180 in 2002, $289 in 2001,
and $183 in 2000.

F. Short-Term and Long-Term Debt

Short-term debt consisted of the following:

December 31,

2002 2001
Notes payable $ 810 $ 1,114
Current portion of long-term debt 432 427

$ 1242 § 1,541

The note payable is due on June 5, 2003 with interest approximating 4.75%.

At December 31, 2002, the Company also had unused short-term lines of credit with several banks
totaling $3,399, generally at the banks' prime rate.

Long-term debt consisted of the following:

December 31,

2002 2001

Revolving credit agreement
Prime rate borrowings $ 400 $ 1,300
LIBOR borrowings 34,000 40,000
34,400 41,300
Subordinated notes, share redemptions 389 777
Term loans 2,248 237
37,037 42,314
Less current portion 432 427

$§ 36,605 $ 41,887

Revolving Credit Agreement--During November 2002, the Company entered into a new revolving credit
agreement with a group of banks that permits borrowings, as defined, up to $90,000 with a letter of credit
sublimit of $30,000, through November 2005. Borrowings outstanding bear interest, at the Company's
option, at the agent bank’s prime rate or LIBOR plus a margin adjustment ranging from 1.0% to 2.0%,
based on a ratio of funded debt to EBITDA (earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and
amortization). A commitment fee ranging from .20% to .45% is required on the average daily
unborrowed commitment.

The revolving credit agreement contains certain affirmative and negative convenants customary for this

type of agreement and includes financial covenant ratios, as defined, with respect to interest coverage,
funded debt to EBITDA, and funded debt to capitalization.
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The Davey Tree Expert Company
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements--(Continued)
December 31, 2002
(In thousands, except share data)

F. Short-Term and Long-Term Debt (continued)

Subordinated Notes-share redemption—In 1998, the Company redeemed common shares for cash and
five-year subordinated promissory notes. These notes bear interest based on the five-year U.S. Treasury
rate in effect at January 1 of each year (4.52% in 2002 and 4.99% in 2001).

Term Loans--The weighted-average interest on the term loans approximated 5.46% (10.37% at December
31, 2001).

Aggregate Maturities of Long-Term Debt--Aggregate maturities of long-term debt for the five years
subsequent to December 31, 2002 were as follows: 2003--$432; 2004--$1,389; 2005--$34,786; 2006--
$215 and 2007--$215.

Interest rate swaps--Under interest rate swap agreements, the Company has agreed to exchange, with a
financial institution, at specific intervals, the difference between fixed-rate and floating-rate interest
amounts calculated by reference to agreed notional amounts, Differentials to be paid or received under
these agreements are accrued and recognized as adjustments to interest expense. An interest rate swap
effectively converts a portion of the Company's variable-rate revolving credit borrowings to a fixed rate,
thus reducing the impact of interest-rate changes on future interest expense. The Company has two
interest rate swaps, each with an underlying notional amount of $10,000, one of which matures during
November 2005 requiring interest to be paid at 4.39%, and the other maturing during March 2003
requiring interest to be paid at 6.53%. The fair value of the swaps is the amount quoted by the financial
institution that the Company would pay to terminate the agreement, a liability of $364 at December 31,
2002.

G. Self-Imsurance Accruals

Components of the Company's self-insurance accruals for workers' compensation, vehicle liability and
general liability follow:

December 31,
2002 2001

Workers' compensation $ 15,782 $ 12,761
Present value discount 2.193 2,191

13,589 - 10,570
Vehicle liability - 5,176 4,325
General liability 4,161 4,739
Total - 22,926 19,634
Less current portion 9,433 8,190
Noncurrent portion $ 13493 § 11444
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The Davey Tree Expert Company
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements--(Continued)
December 31, 2002
(In thousands, except share data)

G. Self-Imsurance Accruals (continued)

The table below reconciles the changes in the self-insurance accruals for losses and related payments and
sets forth the discount rate used for the workers compensation accrual.

. December 31,

2002 2001
Balance, beginning of year $ 19,634 $ 16,836
Provision for claims 19,227 20,212
Change in discount rate 99 91
Payment for claims 16.034 17,505
Balance, end of year $ 22926 $ 19,634
Workers compensation discount rate 4.50% 4.75%

H. Lease Obligations

Assets acquired under capital leases and included in property and equipment consisted of the following:

December 31,
2002 2001
Equipment § 5,125 S 4947
Less accumulated amortization 2,103 1.507

§ 3022 $ 3440

The Company also leases facilities under noncancelable operating leases, which are used for district
office and warehouse operations. These leases extend for varying periods of time up to five years and, in
some cases, contain renewal options. Minimum rental commitments under all capital and noncancelable

operating leases, as of December 31, 2002 were as follows:
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H. Lease Obligations (continued)

Lease Obligations
Capital Operating

Mininmum lease obligations

Year ending December 31, 2003 $ 881 $ 1,843

2004 844 1,456

2005 942 1,049

2006 706 762

2007 1,038 538

2008 and after - 643

Total minimum lease payments 4,411 $ 6,291
Amounts representing interest 663
Present value of net minimum lease payments 3,748
Less current portion - 650
Long-term capital lease obligations, December 31, 2002 $ 3,098

Total rent expense under all operating leases was $2,567 in 2002, $2,437 in 2001 and $2,295 in 2000.

I. Common Shares and Preferred Shares

The Company has authorized a class of 4,000,000 preferred shares, no par value, of which none were
issued.

The number of common shares authorized is 12,000,000, par value $1.00. The number of common shares
issued was 10,728,440 during each of the three years ended December 31, 2002. The number of shares in
the treasury for each of the three years ended December 31, 2002 were as follows: 2002--3,048,073;
2001-- 2,999,526; and, 2000-- 2,932,289,

The Company's stock is not listed or traded on an active stock market and market prices are, therefore, not
available. Semiannually, an independent stock valuation firm determines the fair market value based upon
the Company's performance and financial condition. Since 1979, the Company has provided a ready '
market for all shareholders through its direct purchase of their common shares. During 2002, purchases of
common shares totaled 578,092 shares for $7,051 in cash; the Company also had direct sales, to directors
and employees of 6,426 shares for $77, excluding those shares issued through either the exercise of
options or the employee stock purchase plan. It also sold 47,581 shares from the Company's 401(k) plan
for $583 and issued 41,208 shares to participant accounts to satisfy its liability for the 2001 employer
match in the amount of $494. The liability accrued at December 31, 2002 for the 2002 employer match
was $586. There were also 105,609 shares purchased during 2002 under the employee stock purchase
plan.
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L. Common Shares and Preferred Shares (continued)

Stock Subscription Offering--During June 2002, the Company offered to eligible employees the right to
subscribe to common shares at $12.00 per share in accordance with the provisions of The Davey Tree
Expert Company 1994 Omnibus Stock Plan (the "plan"). The offering period ended August 1, 2002 and
resulted in the subscription of 836,007 common shares ($10,032).

Under the plan, an employee purchasing common shares for an aggregate purchase price of less than $5
was required to pay cash. Eligible employees purchasing $5 or more of the common shares had the
option to finance their purchases through a down-payment of at least 10% of the total purchase price and
a seven-year promissory note for the balance due with interest at 4.75%. Payments on the promissory
note are made either by payroil deductions or annual lump-sum payments of both principal and interest.
Common shares purchased under the plan are pledged as security for the payment of the promissory note
and the common shares will not be issued until the promissory note is paid-in-full. Dividends are paid on
all unissued subscribed shares.

All employees (excluding directors, officers and certain operations management) that purchased $5 or
more of common shares were granted a "right" to purchase one additional common share at a price of
$12.00 per share for every two common shares purchased under the plan. In connection with the offering,
employees were granted rights to purchase 263,615 common shares. Each right may be exercised at the
rate of one-seventh per year and will expire seven years after the date that the right was granted.
Employees may not exercise a right should they cease to be employed by the Company.

J. Employee Stock Ownership Plan and 401KSOP

On March 15, 1979, the Company consummated a plan, which transferred control of the Company to its
employees. As a part of this plan, the Company sold 2,880,000 common shares to the Company's
Employee Stock Ownership Trust (ESOT) for $2,700.

The Employee Stock Ownership Plan (ESOP), in conjunction with the related ESOT, provided for the
grant to certain employees of certain ownership rights in, but not possession of, the common shares held
by the trustee of the Trust. Annual allocations of shares have been made to individual accounts
established for the benefit of the participants.

Effective January 1, 1997, the Company commenced operation of the "The Davey 401KXSOP and ESOP,"
which retained the existing ESOP participant accounts and incorporated a deferred savings plan (401(k)
plan) feature. Participants in the plan are allowed to make before-tax contributions, within Internal
Revenue Service established limits, through payroll deductions. The Company will match, in either cash
or Company stock, 50% of each participant's before-tax contribution, limited to the first 3% of the
employee's compensation deferred each year. All nonbargaining domestic employees who attained age 21
and completed one year of service are eligible to participate. The Company's cost of this plan, consisting
principally of the employer match, was $586 in 2002, $500 in 2001, and $466 in 2000.
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K. Employee Stock Purchase Plan and Stock Option Plans

Employee Stock Purchase Plan—-The Company has an employee stock purchase plan that provides the
opportunity for all full-time employees with one year of service to purchase shares through payroll
deductions. Purchases under the plan, at 85% of the fair market value of the common shares, have been as
follows:

Year Ended December 31,
2002 2001 2000
Number of employees participating 775 900 1,032
Shares purchased during the year 105,609 - 132,963 131,309
Weighted average per share purchase price paid $ 1036 $ 959 $ 10.75
Cumulative shares purchased since 1982 3,544,171 3,438,562 3,305,599

Stock Option Plans--The 1994 Omnibus Stock Plan (Stock Plan) consolidated into a single plan
provisions for the grant of stock options and other stock based incentives and maintenance of the
employee stock purchase plan. Prior to adoption of the Stock Plan, the Company had two qualified stock
option plans available for officers and management employees; the final grant of awards under those
plans was December 10, 1993. The maximum number of shares that may be issued upon exercise of stock
options, other than director options and nonqualified stock options, is 1,600,000 during the ten-year term
of the Stock Plan. Shares purchased since 1994 under the stock purchase plan were 1,234,267, Each
nonemployee director elected or appointed, and reclected or reappointed, will receive a director option
that gives the right to purchase, for six years, 4,000 common shares at the fair market value per share at
date of grant. The director options are exercisable six months from the date of grant. The aggregate
number of common shares available for grant and the maximum number of shares granted annually are
based on formulas defined in the Stock Plan. The grant of awards, other than director options, is at the
discretion of the compensation committee of the Board of Directors. Shares available for grant at
December 31, 2002 were 504,704,
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K. Employee Stock Purchase Plan and Stock Option Plans (continued)

A summary of the Company's stock option activity, excluding director options, is presented below:

2002 2001 2000
'~ Weighted- Weighted- Weighted-
Average Average Average
Exercise Exercise Exercise
Options Price Options Price Options Price

Cutstanding, beginning of year 1,161,147 $ 715 1,301,696 $ 7.07 1,351,344 § 7.05
Granted

Exercised (312,514) 6.36 {140,549) 6.36 (49,648) 6.54
Forfeited (28.718) 6.14 - - - -
Cutstanding, end of year 819915 7.49 1,161,147 7.15 1,301,696 7.07

The following table summarizes information about stock options outstanding and exercisable, excluding
director options at December 31, 2002:

Options Ontstanding Options Exercisable
Weighted-
Average Weighted- Weighted-

Remaining Average Average
Exercise Contractual Exercise Exercise

Price Options Life Price Options Price

$ 692 340,045 1.0 years $ 692 340,045 $ 692
7.90 479.870 3.9 years 7.90 479,870 7.90

819,915 819915

A summary of the status of the Company's director options is presented below:

2002 2001 2000
Weighted- Weighted- Weighted-
Average Average Average
Exercise Exercise Exercise
Options Price Options Price Options Price

Ountstanding, beginning of year 44,000 $ 12.16 40,000 $ 11.60 44,000 $ 1020

Granted 8,000 12.00 12,000 11.00 8,000 13.00

Exercised - - - - (8,000) 7.41

Forfeited {(4.000) 9.10 (8.000) 7.41 {(4.000) 9.10
Outstanding and exercisable,

end of year £.000 12.39 44,000 12.16 40,000 11.60
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L. Other Comprehensive Income (Loss).

The components of accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) follows:

Comprehensive Income
Net Income (loss)
Other comprehensive income (loss)
Foreign currency translation adjustments
Derivative instrument:
Cumulative effect of accounting change
Change in fair value of interest rate swap

Other comprehensive income (loss),
before income taxes
Income tax benefit (expense), related to
items of other comprehensive income
Other comprehensive income (loss)
Comprehensive income (loss)

Accumnulated compi'ehensive income (loss)

Foreign currency translation adjustments
Fair value of interest rate swap

Accumulated comprehensive income (loss)

M. Imcome Taxes

Income (loss) before income taxes were attributable to the following sources:

United States
Canada
Total
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Year Ended December 31,

2002 2001 2000
§ 7,221 $ 6,731 $ (2,404)
13 (99) (202)
- (170) -
225 {(419) 2
225 {589) -
238 (688) (202)
(86) 224 =
152 (464) {202)
§ 7.373 § 6,267 8§ (2.606)

December 31,

2002 2001 2000
$ (83D $ (844) $ (745
(226) (365) . -
$ (1,057) $ (1.209) $ (745)

_ Year Ended December 31,
2002 2001 2000
$ 11,023 $ 10,287 $ (3,011
914 : 849 {473)
$ 11,937 $ 11,136 $ (3.484)
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M. Income Taxes (continued)

Income taxes have been provided as follows:

Year Ended December 31,
2002 2001 2000

Currently payable:

Federal $ 3,143 $ 3,180 $ (1,360)

State 826 900 (140)

Canadian 425 442 {148)
Total current 4,394 4,522 (1,648)
Deferred taxes 322 {117) 568
Total taxes on income $ 4716 $ 4405 $ (1,080)

Deferred income taxes reflect the tax effects of temporary differences between the carrying amount of
assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for income tax purposes.

Significant components of the Company's current net deferred tax assets at December 31, were as
follows:

Year Ended December 31.
2002 2001
Deferred tax assets:
Accrued compensated absences $ 491 $§ 504
Self-insurance accruals 2,812 2,417
Other ' 427 486
Net deferred income tax assets--current £ 3,730 $ 3,407

Significant components of the Company's noncurrent net deferred tax assets and labilities at December
31, were as follows:

Year Ended December 31,
2002 2001
Deferred tax assets:
Self-insurance accruals $ 4,349 $ 3,836
Other - 281 189
4,630 4,025
Deferred tax liabilities: ,
Tax over financial reporting depreciation and amortization 7,884 6,662
Prepaid pension costs 3,827 3.713
11,711 10,375
Net deferred income tax liability--noncurrent $ (7,081 $ (6.350)
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M. Income Taxes (continued)

A reconciliation of the expected statutory U.S. federal rate to the Company's actual effective income tax

rate follows:

Statutory U.S. federal tax rate

State income taxes, net of federal benefit
Effect of Canadian income taxes

Meals disallowance

Other

Effective income tax rate

N. Net Income Per Share

Net income per share is computed as follows:

Income available to common shareholders:
Net income (loss)

Weighted average shares:
Basic:
QOutstanding
Partially-paid share subscriptions
Basic weighted average shares

Diluted:
Basic from above
Incremental shares from assumed:
Exercise of stock subscription rights
Exercise of stock options
Diluted weighted average shares

Net income (loss) per share;

Basic
Diluted

Year Ended December 31
2002 2001 2000
34.0 % 34.0% (34.0) %
4.6 5.4 (2.6)
1.0 1) (4)
1.5 .9 5.0
(1.6) (.6} 1.0

_395% _39.6% (31.0)%

Year Ended December 31
2002 2001 2000

$§ 7.22] $ 6731 § (2404

7,781,902 7,756,949 7,929,210
342,915 - -
8,124,817 1,156,949 7,929,210

8,124,817 7,756,949 7,929,210

4,322 - -
379.047 473,740 -
8,508186  $,230,680  7.929.210

$ 89 8 87 § (.30)
$ 8 8 82 % (.30)

For the vear ended December 31, 2000, there were 593,254 shares attributable to the exercise of stock
options that were excluded from the calculation of diluted net loss per share because the effect was

antidilutive.
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0. Operations by Segment and Geographic Information

The Company's operating results are reported in two segments: Residential and Commercial Services, and
Utility Services, for operations in the United States. Residential and Commercial Services provides for the
treatment, preservation, maintenance, cultivation, planting and removal of trees, shrubs and other plant
life; its services also include the practice of landscaping, tree surgery, tree feeding, and tree spraying, as
well as the application of fertilizer, herbicides and insecticides. Utility Services is principally engaged in
the practice of line clearing for investor-owned and municipal utilities, including the clearing of tree
growth from power lines, clearance of rights-of~way and chemical brush control.

The Company also has two nonreportable segments: Canadian operations, which provides a
comprehensive range of Davey horticultural services, and Davey Resource Group, which provides
services related to natural resource management and consulting, forestry research and development, and
environmental planning and also maintains research, technical support and laboratory diagnostic facilities.
Canadian operations and Davey Resource Group are presented below as "All Other."

Measurement of Segment Profit and Loss and Segment Assets--The Company evaluates perfomance and
allocates resources based primarily on operating income and also actively manages business unit
operating assets.

The accounting policies of the reportable segments are the same as those described in the summary of
significant accounting policies except that (a) the Company computes and recognizes depreciation
expense for its segments only by the straight-line method and (b) state income taxes are allocated to the
segments. Corporate expenses are substantially allocated among the operating segments, but the nature of
expenses allocated may differ from year-to-year. There are no intersegment revenues. Segment assets are
those generated or directly used by each segment, and include accounts receivable, inventory, and
property and equipment,

Information on reportable segments and reconciliation to the consolidated financial statements follows:
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0. Operations by Segment and Geographic Information (continued)

Residential A
Utility Commercial Al Reconciling
Services Services Other  Adjustments
Fiscal Year 2002

Revenues $ 132,875 $ 155,680 § 30,709 $ -
Income (loss) from operations 1,898 _ 12901 _ 2032 (2,834)
Interest expense ' 3,121
Other income (expense), net 1061

Income before income taxes

Depreciation and amortization $ 8,160 $ 7,127 $ 1,559 $ 2,524

Capital expenditures 5,456 5580 . 2,151 2,940
Segment assets, total 40,727 43,159 11,706 _ 65564
Fiscal Year 2001 _
Revenues § 148,295 $145723 § 27266 3 =
Income (loss) from operations _ 3535 14,331 1,155 (3,171)
Interest expense 4,993
Other income (expense), net 279

Income before income taxes

Depreciation and amortization $ 8302 $ 6830 § 1400 $ 2,522

Capital expenditures 4,209 3,576 1,907 2.000
Segment assets, total 45571 37.812 __ 9,101 62989
Fiscal Year 2000
Revenues $ 159414 $135,868 § 26,954 5 -
Income (loss) from operations (5.896) 11,134 1,112 (4,729)
Interest expense 6,217
Other income (expense), net 1112

Income before income taxes

Depreciation and amortization $ 9.802 $ 6639 $ 1401 $ 2,880

Capital expenditures 7,106 5,596 1,446 3,328
Segment assets, total _ 61,663 39,763 ___7.776 _ 50,180

@

(b)
(©)

(a)

(®)
©

(a)

(b)
(©

Consolidated

$ 319273
13,997
3,121

1.061

11,937

$ 19,370
16,127

161,156

$ 321,284
15,850
4,993

279

11,136

$ 19,054
11,692
_ 155473

$ 322,236
1,621
6,217

1.112

(3,484)

$ 20,722
17,476
159,382

Reconciling adjustments from segment reporting to consolidated external financial reporting include

unallocated corporate items:

(a) Reclassification of depreciation expense and allocation of corporate expenses.

(b) Reduction to straight-line depreciation expense from declining balance method and depreciation

and amortization of corporate assets.

{c) Corporate assets include cash and cash equivalents, prepaid expenses, corporate facilities,
enterprise-wide information systems, intangibles, and deferred and other nonoperating assets.
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O. Operations by Segment and Geographic Information (continned)

Geographic Information--The following presents revenues and long-lived assets by geographic territory:

Year Ended December 31,
2002 2001 2000
Revenues
United States $ 301,075 $ 304,109 $ 306,387
Canada 18,198 17.175 15,849

$ 319,273 $ 321284 $§ 322236

December 31, -

2002 2001
Long-lived assets, net
United States $ 69,309 $ 68,512
Canada 5,114 4,127

3 74423 $ 72,639

P. Commitments and Contingencies

At December 31, 2002, the Company was contingently Lable to its principal banks in the amount of
$27,524 for letters of credit outstanding primarily related to insurance coverage.

In certain circumstances, the Company has performance obligations that are supported by surety bonds in
connection with its contractual commitments.

The Company is party to a number of lawsuits, threatened lawsuits and other claims arising out of the
normal course of business. Management is of the opinion that liabilities which may result are adequately
covered by insurance, or reflected in the self-insurance accruals and would not be material in relation to
the financial position or results of operations.
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Q. Quarterly Results of Operations (Unaudited)

The following is a summary of the results of operations for each quarter of 2002 and 2001.

Net sales

Gross profit

Income (loss) from operations
Net income (loss)

Earnings (loss) per share -- Basic
Earnings (loss) per share -- Diluted

ESOT Valuation per share

Net sales

Gross profit

Income (loss) from operations
Net income (loss)

Earnings (loss) per share ~- Basic
Earnings (loss) per share -- Diluted

ESOT Valuation per share

Fiscal 2002, Three Months Ended

Mar 30 Jun 29 Sep 28 Dec 28
$ 64,373 $ 93,354 $ 80,705 $ 80,841
19,156 32,524 28,049 27,995
(2,801) 7,762 3,750 5,286
(2.170) 4,778 1,674 2,939
$ (.28) $ 61 h .20 S 34
$ (.28) b S8 3 .19 b 33
$ 12.00 $ 12.40 $ 1240 $ 12.80

Fiscal 2001, Three Months Ended

Mar 31 Jun 30 Sep 29 Dec 29
$ 67,360 § 93,279 $ 85,251 $ 75,394
19,463 34,173 29,470 25,395
(2,519 10,047 5,828 2,494
(2,382) 5,417 2,747 949
by (31) b .70 $ 35 b 12
hy (31) 3 66 by 33 b 12
$ 11.00 $ 11.60 $ 11.60 $ 12.00

¥ % %k % %k
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EXHIBIT 10.3

CREDIT AGREEMENT
among
THE DAVEY TREE EXPERT COMPANY,

as Borrower,
VARIOUS LENDING INSTITUTIONS,

as Banks,
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This CREDIT AGREEMENT (as the same may from time to time be amended, restated or otherwise
modified, this "Agreement") is made effective as of the 8% day of November, 2002, among;:

() THEDAVEY TREE EXPERT COMPANY, an Ohio corporation ("Borrower");

(ii) the lending institutions named in Schedule 1 hereto (collectively, "Banks" and,
individually, "Bank");

(iii) KEYBANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, as Lead Arranger, Syndication Agent and
Administrative Agent for the Banks under this Agreement ("Agent"); and

(iv) NATIONAL CITY BANK, as Documentation Agent.
WITNESSETH:

WHEREAS, Borrower and the Banks desire to contract for the establishment of credits in the aggregate
principal amounts hereinafter set forth, to be made available to Borrower upon the terms and subject to
the conditions hereinafter set forth;

NOW, THEREFORE, it is mutually agreed as follows:
ARTICLEI
DEFINITIONS
As used in this Agreement, the following terms shall have the following meanings:

"Acquisition" shall mean any transaction or series of related transactions for the purpose of or resulting,
directly or indirectly, in (a) the acquisition of all or substantially all of the assets of any Person, or any
business or division of any Person, (b) the acquisition of in excess of fifty percent (50%) of the stock (or
other equity interest) of any Person, or (¢) the acquisition of another Person (other than a Company) by a
merger or consolidation or any other combination with such Person.

"Advantage" shall mean any payment (whether made voluntarily or involuntarily, by offset of any deposit
or other indebtedness or otherwise) received by any Bank in respect of the Debt, if such payment results
in that Bank having less than ifs pro rata share of the Debt then outstanding, than was the case
immediately before such payment.

"Affiliate" shall mean any Person, directly or indirectly, controlling, controlled by or under common
control with a Company and "control" (including the correlative meanings, the terms "controlling",
"controlled by" and "under common control with") shall mean the possession, directly or indirectly, of the
power to direct or cause the direction of the management and policies of a Company, whether through the
ownership of voting securities, by contract or otherwise,

"Agent Fee Leiter" shall mean the Agent Fee Letter, dated as of the date hereof, between Borrower and
Agent, as the same may from time to time be amended, restated or otherwise modified.

"Applicable Commitment Fee Rate" shall mean:



(a) for the period from the Closing Date through November 30, 2002, t}:urty (30) basis points; and

(b) commencing with the financial statements for the fiscal quarter ending September 30, 2002, the
number of basis points set forth in the following matrix, based upon the result of the
computation of the Leverage Ratio, shall be used to establish the number of basis points that will
go into effect on December 1, 2002 and thereafter:

Applicable
Leverage Ratio Commitment Fee
Rate

Greater than or equal to 2.50 to 1.00 45
Greater than or equal to 2.00 to 1.00 but less than 35
2.50t0 1.00

Greater than or equal to 1.50 to 1.00 but less than 30
2.00 to 1.00

Greater than or equal to 1.00 to 1.00 but less than 25
1.50 to 1.00

Less than 1.00 to 1.00 20

Changes to the Applicable Commitment Fee Rate shall be effective on the first day of the month
following the date upon which Agent received, or, if earlier, Agent should have received, pursuant to
Section 5.3 (2) or (b) hereof, the financial statements of the Companies. The above matrix does not
modify or waive, in any respect, the requirements of Section 5.7 bereof, the rights of the Banks to charge
the Default Rate, or the rights and remedies of Agent and the Banks pursuant to Articles VII and VIII
hereof.

"Applicable LIBOR Margin" shall mean:

(c) for the period from the Closing Date through November 30; 2002, one hundred fifty (150) basis
points; and

(d) commencing with the financial statements for the fiscal quarter ending September 30, 2002, the
number of basis points set forth in the following matrix, based upon the result of the
‘computation of the Leverage Ratio, shall be used to establish the number of basis points that will
go into effect on December 1, 2002 and thereafter: '

Levérage Ratio Applicable PIBOR
Margin

Greater than or equal to 2.50 to 1.00 ' 200

Greater than or equal to 2.00 to 1.00 but less than 175

2.50t0 1.00

Greater than or equal to 1.50 to 1.00 but less than 150

2.00 to 1.00

Greater than or equal to 1.00 to 1.00 but less than 125

1.50 to0 1.00 ‘

Less than 1.00 to 1.00 100

Changes to the Applicable LIBOR Margin shall be effective on the first day of the month following the
date upon which Agent received, or, if earlier, Agent should have received, pursuant to Section 5.3 (a) or



(b) hereof, the financial statements of the Companies. The above matrix does not modify or waive, in any
respect, the requirements of Section 5.7 hereof, the rights of the Banks to charge the Default Rate, or the
rights and remedies of Agent and the Banks pursuant to Articles VII and VIII hereof.

"Assignment Agreement” shall mean an Assignment and Acceptance Agreement in the form of the
attached Exhibit D.

"Balance Sheet Leverage Ratio" shall mean, as of any date, on a Consolidated basis and in accordance
with GAAP, the ratio of (a) Funded Indebtedness to (b) Total Capitalization, as of such date.

"Base Rate" shall mean a rate per annum equal to the greater of (a) the Prime Rate or (b) one-half of one
percent (1/2%) in excess of the Federal Funds Effective Rate. Any change in the Base Rate shall be.
effective immediately from and after such change in the Base Rate.

"Base Rate Loan" shall mean a Loan described in Section 2.1 hereof on which Borrower shall pay interest
at a rate based on the Base Rate.

"Business Day" shall mean a day of the year on which banks are not required or authorized to close in
Cleveland, Ohio, and, if the applicable Business Day relates to any LIBOR Loan, on which dealings are
carried on in the London interbank eurodollar market.

"Change in Control" shall mean (a) the acquisition, or, if earlier, the shareholder or director approval of
the acquisition, ownership or voting control, directly or indirectly, beneficially or of record, on or after the
Closing Date, by any Person or group (within the meaning of Rule 13d-3 of the SEC under the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as then in effect), of shares representing more than thirty-three percent (33%) of
the aggregate ordinary Voting Power represented by the issued and outstanding capital stock of Borrower;
(b) the occupation of a majority of the seats (other than vacant seats) on the board of directors of
Borrower by Persons who were neither (i) nominated by the board of directors of Borrower nor

(ii) appointed by directors so nominated; or (c} the approval by the shareholders or directors of Borrower -
of a plan of complete liquidation of Borrower or an agreement or agreements for the sale or disposition by
Borrower of all or substantially all of Borrower's assets.

“Closi_ﬁg Date" shall mean the effective date of this Agreement.

"Closing Fee Letter" shall mean the Closing Fee Letter, dated as of the date hereof, from Borrower to the
Banks.

"Code" shall mean the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, together with the rules and
regulations promulgated thereunder.

"Commitment" shall mean the obligation hereunder of the Banks to make Loans pursuant to the
Revolving Credit Commitments and to participate in the issuance of Letters of Credit up to the Total
Commitment Amount during the Commitment Period.

"Commitment Percentage" shall mean, for each Bank, the percentage set forth opposite such Bank's name
under the column headed "Commitment Percentage" as described in Schedule 1 hersto.

"Commitment Period" shall mean the period from the Closing Date to November 8, 2005, or such earlier
date on which the Commitment shall have been terminated pursuant to Article VIII hereof.

"Company" shall mean Borrower or a Subsidiary.



"Companies" shall mean Borrower and all Subsidiaries.

"Compliance Certificate” shall mean a certificate, substantially in the form of the attached Exhibit C.

"Consolidated" shall mean the resultant consolidation of the financial statements of Borrower and its
Subsidiaries in accordance with GAAP, including principles of consolidation consistent with those
applied in preparation of the consolidated financial statements referred to in Section 6.13 hereof.

"Consolidated Depreciation and Amortization Charges" shall mean, for any period, the aggregate of all
depreciation and amortization charges for fixed assets, leasehold improvements and general intangibles
(specifically including goodwill) of Borrower for such period, as determined on a Consolidated basis and

in accordance with GAAP.

"Consolidated EBIT" shall mean, for any period, on a Consolidated basis and in accordance with GAAP,
Consolidated Net Earnings for such period (exclusive of nonrecurring noncash gains or losses recorded in
accordance with SFAS 133, Accounting for Derivatives) plus the aggregate amounts deducted in
determining such Consolidated Net Earnings in respect of (a) income taxes, and (b) Consolidated Interest

Expense.

"Consolidated EBITDA" shall mean, for any period, on a Consolidated basis and in accordance with
GAAP, Consolidated EBIT, plus Consolidated Depreciation and Amortization Charges. :

"Consolidated Interest Expense" shall mean, for any period, interest expense of Borrower for such period,
as determined on a Consolidated basis and in accordance with GAAP. ‘

"Consolidated Net Earnings" shall mean, for any period, the net income (loss) of Borrower for such
period, as determined on a Consolidated basis and in accordance with GAAP.

"Consolidated Net Worth" shall mean, at any date, the Consolidated stockholders' equity of Borrower,
determined as of such date in accordance with GAAP.

"Controlled Group" shall mean a Company and each Person required to be aggregated with a Company
under Code Sections 414(b), (c), {m) or (0).

"Davey ESOT" shall mean, collectively, the Davey 401KSOP and ESOP.

"Debt” shall mean, collectively, all Indebtedness incurred by Borrower to the Banks pursuant to this
Agreement and includes the principal of and interest on all Notes and each extension, renewal or
refinancing thereof in whole or in part, the commitment fees, other fees and any prepayment fees and
other amounts payable hereunder.

"Default” shall mean an event or condition that constitutes, or with the lapse of any applicable grace
period or the giving of notice or both would constitute, an Event of Default and that has not been waived
by the Required Banks (or all of the Banks, as the case may be) in writing.

"Default Rate" shall mean a rate per annum equal to two percent (2%) in excess of the Base Rate from
time to time in effect.

"Derived LIBOR Rate" shall mean a rate per annum equal to the sum of the Applicable LIBOR Margin
(from time to time in effect) plus the LIBOR Rate.




"Environmental Laws" shall mean all provisions of law, statutes, ordinances, rules, regulations, permits,
licenses, judgments, writs, injunctions, decrees, orders, awards and standards promulgated by the
government of the United States of America or by any state or municipality thereof or by any court,
agency, instrumentality, regulatory authority or commission of any of the foregoing concerning health,
safety and protection of, or regulation of the discharge of substances into, the environment.

"ERISA" shall mean the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended from time to
time, and the regulations promulgated pursuant thereto.

"ERISA Event" shall mean (a) the existence of any condition or event with respect to an ERISA Plan that
presents a risk of the imposition of an excise tax or any other liability on a Company or of the imposition
of a Lien on the assets of a Company; (b) a Controlled Group member has engaged in a non-exempt
"prohibited transaction" (as defined under ERISA. Section 406 or Code Section 4975) or a breach of a
fiduciary duty under ERISA that could result in liability to a Company; (c) a Controlled Group member
has applied for a watver from the minimum funding requirements of Code Section 412 or ERISA Section
302 or a Controlled Group member is required to provide security under Code Section 401(a)(29) or
ERISA Section 307; (d) a Reportable Event has occurred with respect to any Pension Plan as to which
notice is required to be provided to the PBGC; (e) a Controlled Group member has withdrawn from a
Multiemployer Plan in a "complete withdrawal" or a "partial withdrawal" (as such terms are defined in
ERISA Sections 4203 and 42035, respectively); (f) a Multiemployer Plan is in or is likelytobein
reorganization under ERISA Section 4241; {(g) an ERISA Plan (and any related trust) that is intended to
be qualified under Code Sections 401 and 501 fails to be so qualified or any "cash or deferred
arrangement" under any such ERISA Plan fails to meet the requirements of Code Section 401(k); (h) the
PBGC takes any steps to terminate a Pension Plan or appoint a trustee to administer a Pension Plan, or a
Controlled Group member takes steps to terminate a Pension Plan; (i} a Controlled Group member or an
ERISA Plan fails to satisfy any requirements of law applicable to an ERISA Plan; (j) a claim, action, suit,
audit or investigation is pending or threatened with respect to an ERISA Plan, other than a routine claim
for benefits or an audit initiated by Borrower; or (k) a Controlled Group member incurs or is expected to
incur any liability for post-retirement benefits under any Welfare Plan, other than as required by ERISA
Section 601, et. seq. or Code Section 4980B.

"ERISA Plan" shall mean an "employee benefit plan" (within the meaning of ERISA Section 3(3)) that a
Controlled Group member at any time sponsors, maintains, contributes to, has liability with respect to or
has an obligation to contribute to such plan.

"Eurocurrency Reserve Percentage" shall mean, for any Interest Period in respect of any LIBOR Loan, as
of any date of determination, the aggregate of the then stated maximum reserve percentages (including
any marginal, special, emergency or supplemental reserves), expressed as a decimal, applicable to such
Interest Period (if more than one such percentage is applicable, the daily average of such percentages for
those days in such Interest Period during which any such percentage shall be so applicable) by the Board
of Governors of the Federal Reserve System, any successor thereto, or any other banking authority,
domestic or foreign, to which a Bank may be subject in respect to eurocurrency funding (currently
referred to as "Eurocurrency Liabilities” in Regulation D of the Federal Reserve Board) or in respect of
any other category of liabilities including deposits by reference to which the interest rate on LIBOR
Loans is determined or any category of extension of credit or other assets that include the LIBOR Loans.
For purposes hereof, such reserve requirements shall include, without limitation, those imposed under
Regulation D of the Federal Reserve Board and the LIBOR Loans shall be deemed to constituie
Eurocurrency Liabilities subject to such reserve requirements without benefit of credits for proration,
exceptions or offsets that may be available from time to time to any Bank under said Regulation D.



"Event of Default" shall mean an event or condition that constitutes an event of default as defined in
Article VII hereof.

"Federal Funds Effective Rate" shall mean, for any day, the rate per annum (rounded upward to the
nearest one one-hundredth of one percent (1/100 of 1%))} announced by the Federal Reserve Bank of New
York (or any successor) on such day as being the weighted average of the rates on overnight federal funds
transactions arranged by federal funds brokers on the previous trading day, as computed and announced
by such Federal Reserve Bank (or any successor) in substantially the same maoner as such Federal
Reserve Bank computes and announces the weighted average it refers to as the "Federal Funds Effective
Rate" as of the Closing Date.

"Financial Officer" shall mean any of the following officers: the Chairman, President, Chief Executive
Officer, Chief Financial Officer, Treasurer and Corporate Controller.

"Foreign Subsidiary" shall mean a Subsidiary that is organized outside of the United States.

"Funded Indebtedness" shall mean all Indebtedness for borrowed money and capitalized leases, including,
but not limited to, current, long-term and Subordinated Indebtedness (other than unsecured Subordinated
Indebtedness incurred pursuant to Section 5.8(e) hereof) and Synthetic Lease Indebtedness, if any;
provided, however, that (a) any Synthetic Lease Indebtedness that is fully cash collateralized pursuant to
documentation satisfactory to Agent and the Required Banks shall not be deemed to be Funded
Indebtedness and (b) the following shall not be deemed to be "funded": (i) reimbursement obligations
(contingent or otherwise) under any letter of credit, so long as such obligations remain solely contingent
obligations, (ii) obligations with respect to any Hedge Agreement, so long as such obligations remain
solely contingent obligations, and (iii) self-insurance liabilities incurred pursuant to Section 5.8(b) hereof.

"GAAP" shall mean generally accepted accounting principles from time to time in effect in the United
States of America, applied on a consistent basis. -

"Guarantor" shall mean a Person that pledges its credit or property in any manner for the payment or other
performance of the indebtedness, contract or other obligation of another and includes (without limitation)
any guarantor (whether of payment or of collection), surety, co-maker, endorser or Person that agrees
conditionally or otherwise to make any purchase, loan or investment in order thereby to enable another to
prevent or correct a default of any kind.

"Guarantor of Payment" shall mean each of the Companies set forth on Schedule 2 hereof, that are each
executing and delivering a Guaranty of Payment, or any other Person that shall deliver a Guaranty of
Payment to Agent subsequent to the Closing Date.

"Guaranty of Payment" shall mean each of the Guaranties of Payment of Debt executed and delivered on
or after the Closing Date in connection herewith by the Guarantors of Payment, as the same may from
time to time be amended, restated or otherwise modified. '

"Hedge Agreement” shall mean any hedge agreement, interest rate swap, cap, collar or floor agreement,
or other interest rate management device entered into by Borrower with Agent or any of the Banks in.
connection with the Debt.

"Indebtedness" shall mean, for any Company (excluding in all cases trade payables payable in the
ordinary course of business by such Company), without duplication, (a) all obligations to repay borrowed
money, direct or indirect, incurred, assumed, or guaranteed, (b} all obligations for the deferred purchase
price of capital assets, (c) all obligations under conditional sales or other title retention agreements, (d) all
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obligations (contingent or otherwise) under any letter of credit, banker's acceptance, currency swap
agreement, interest rate swap, cap, collar or floor agreement or other interest rate management device, (€)
all Synthetic Lease Indebtedness, (f) all lease obligations that have been or should be capitalized on the
books of such Company in accordance with GAAP, (g) all obligations of such Company with respect to
asset securitization financing programs to the extent that there is recourse against such Company or such
Company is liable (contingent or otherwise) under any such program, (h) all obligations to advance funds
to, or to purchase assets, property or services from, any other Person in order to maintain the financial
condition of such Person, (i) any other transaction (including forward sale or purchase agreements)
having the commercial effect of a borrowing of money entered into by such Company to finance its
operations or capital requirements and (j) all guarantees of any of the foregoing Indebtedness by any
Company.

"Interest Adjustment Date" shall mean the last day of each Interest Period.

"Interest Period" shall mean, with respect to any LIBOR Loan, the period commencing on the date such
LIBOR Loan is made and ending on the last day of such period, as selected by Borrower pursuant to the
provisions hereof, and, thereafter, each subsequent period commencing on the last day of the immediately
preceding Interest Period and ending on the last day of such period, as selected by Borrower pursuant to
the provisions hereof. The duration of each Interest Period for any LIBOR Loan shall be one (1) month,
two (2) months, three (3) months, or six (6) months, in each case as Borrower may select upon notice, as
set forth in Section 2.2 hereof, provided that: (a) if Borrower fails to so select the duration of any Interest
Period, Borrower shall be deemed to have converted such LIBOR Loan to a Base Rate Loan at the end of
the then current Interest Period; and (b) Borrower may not select any Interest Period for a LIBOR Loan
that ends after any date when principal is due on such LIBOR Loan.

"Letter of Credit" shall mean any standby letter of credit that shall be issued by Agent for the benefit of
Borrower or a Guarantor of Payment, including amendments thereto, if any, and shall have an expiration
date no later than the earlier of (a) one (1) year after its date of issuance or (b) thirty (30) days prior to the
last day of the Commitment Period.

"Letter of Credit Commitment” shall mean the commitment of Agent, on behalf of the Banks, to issue '
Letters of Credit in an aggregate outstanding face amount of up to Thirty Million Dollars ($30,000,000),
during the Commitment Period, on the terms and conditions set forth in Section 2.1B hereof.

"Letter of Credit Exposure" shall mean the sum of (a) the aggregate undrawn face amount of all issued
and outstanding Letters of Credit, and (b) the aggregate of the draws made on Letters of Credit that have
not been reimbursed by Borrower or converted to a Revolving Loan pursuant to Section 2,1B hereof.

"Leverage Ratio" shall mean, at any time, on a Consolidated basis and in accordance with GAAP, the
ratio of (a) Funded Indebtedness (based upon the financial statements of Borrower for the most recently
completed fiscal quarter) to (b) Consolidated EBITDA (based upon the financial statements of Borrower
for the most recently completed four (4) fiscal quarters).

"[IBOR Loan" shall mean a Loan described in Section 2,1 hereof on which Borrower shall pay interest at
a rate based upon the LIBOR Rate,

"LIBOR Rate" shall mean, for any Interest Period with respect to a LIBOR Loan, the quotient (rounded
upwards, if necessary, to the nearest one sixteenth of one percent (1/16th of 1%)) of: (a) the per annum
rate of interest, determined by Agent in accordance with its usual procedures (which determination shall
be conclusive absent manifest error) as of approximately 11:00 A.M. (London time) two (2) Business
Days prior to the beginning of such Interest Period pertaining to such LIBOR Loan, as provided by
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Telerate Service, Bloomberg's or Reuters (or any other similar company or service that provides rate
quotations comparable to those currently provided by such companies) as the rate in the London interbank
market for dollar deposits in immediately available funds with a maturity comparable to such Interest
Period, divided by (b) a number equal to 1.00 minus the Eurocurrency Reserve Percentage. In the event
that such rate quotation is not available for any reason, then the rate (for purposes of clause (a) hereof)
shall be the rate, determined by Agent as of approximately 11:00 A.M. (London time) two (2) Business
Days prior to the beginning of such Interest Period pertaining to such LIBOR Loan, to be the average
(rounded upwards, if necessary, to the nearest one sixteenth of one percent (1/16th of 1%)) of the per
annum rates at which dollar deposits in immediately available funds in an amount comparable to such
LIBOR Loan and with a maturity comparable to such Interest Period are offered to the prime banks by
leading banks in the London interbank market. The LIBOR Rate shall be adjusted automatically on and
as of the effective date of any change in the Eurocurrency Reserve Percentage.

"Lien" shall mean any mortgage, security interest, lien (statutory or other), charge, encumbrance on,
pledge or deposit of, or conditional sale or other title retention agreement and any capitalized leases with
respect to any property (real or personal) or asset. - :

"Loan" or "Loans" shall mean the credit extended to Borrower by the Banks in accordance with Section
2.1A hereof.

"Loan Documents" shall mean this Agreement, each of the Notes, each of the Guaranties of Payment, ali
documentation relating to each Letter of Credit and any other documents relating to any of the foregoing,
as any of the foregoing may from time to time be amended, restated or otherwise modified or replaced.

"Material Adverse Effect" shall mean a material adverse effect on (a) the business, operations, property,
condition (financial or otherwise) or prospects of Borrower or any Guarantor of Payment, or (b) the
validity or enforceability of this Agreement or any of the other Loan Documents or the rights and
remedies of Agent or the Banks hereunder or thereunder.

"Material Indebtedness Agreement" means any debt instrument, lease (capital, operating or otherwise),
guaranty, contract, commitment, agreement or other arrangement evidencing any Indebtedness of any
Company in excess of the aggregate amount of $1,000,000.

"Moody's" shail mean Moody's Investors Service, Inc., or any successor to such company.

"Multiemployer Plan" shall mean a Pension Plan that is subject to the reﬁluirements of Subtitle E of Title
IV of ERISA.

"Note" shall mean any Revolving Credit Note, or any other note delivered pursuant to this Agreement.
"Notice of Loan" shall mean a Notice of Loan in the form of the attached Exhibit B,

"Obligor" shall mean (a) a Person whose credit or any of whose property is j)ledged to the payment of the
Debt and includes, without limitation, any Guarantor, and (b) any signatory to a Related Writing,

"Organizational Documents” shall mean, with respect to any Person (other than an individual), such
Person's Articles (Certificate) of Incorporation, or equivalent formation documents, and Regulations
(Bylaws), or equivalent governing documents, and any amendments to any of the foregoing.

"PBGC" shall mean the Pension Benefit Guaranty Corporation, or its successor. -
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"Pension Plan" shall mean an ERISA Plan that is a "pension plan” (within the meaning of ERISA Section
3(2)).

"Person” shall mean any individual, sole proprietorship, partnership, joint venture, uriincorpdrated
organization, corporation, limited liability company, institution, trust, estate, government or other agency
or political subdivision thereof or any other entity.

"Prime Rate" shall mean the interest rate established from time to time by Agent as Agent's prime rate,
whether or not such rate is publicly announced; the Prime Rate may not be the lowest interest rate charged
by Agent for commercial or other extensions of credit. Each change in the Prime Rate shall be effective
immediately from and after such change.

"Related Writing" shall mean each Loan Document and any other assignment, mortgage, security
agreement, guaranty agreement, subordination agreement, financial statement, audit report, certificate or
other writing furnished by Borrower, any Subsidiary or any Obligor, or any of their respective officers, to
the Banks pursuant to or otherwise in connection with this Agreement.

"Reportable Event" shall mean a reportable event as that term is defined in Title IV of ERISA, except
actions of general applicability by the Secretary of Labor under Section 110 of such Act.

"Required Banks" shall mean (a) so long as there are more than two Banks, at least three of the Banks,
and (b) the holders of at least sixty-six and two-thirds percent (66-2/3%) of the Total Commitment
Amount, or, if there is any borrowing hereunder, the holders of at least sixty-six and two-thirds percent
(66-2/3%) of the aggregate amount outstanding under the Notes.

"Revolving Credit Commitment" shall mean the obligation hereunder of each Bank, during the
Commitment Period, to participate in the making of Revolving Loans and the issuance of Letters of
Credit, up to the aggregate amount set forth opposite such Bank's name under the column headed
"Revolving Credit Commitment Amount" as set forth on Schedule 1 hereof (or such lesser amount as
shall be determined pursuant to Section 2.5 hereof).

"Revolving Credit Exposure" shall mean, at any time, the sum of (a) the aggregate principal amount of all
Revolving Loans outstanding, and (b) the Letter of Credit Exposure.

"Revolving Credit Note" shall mean any Revolving Credit Note executed and delivered pursuant to
Section 2.1 A hereof.

"Revolving I .oan" shall mean a Loan granted to Borrower by the Banks in accordance with Section 2.1A
hereof.

'“E" shall mean the United States Securities and Exchange Commission.

"Standard & Poor's" shall mean Standard & Poor's Ratings Grbup, a division of McGraw-Hill, Inc., or
any successor to such company.

"Subordinated"”, as applied to Indebtedness, shall mean that the Indebtedness has been subordinated (by
written terms or written agreement being, in either case, in form and substance satisfactory to Agent and
the Required Banks) in favor of the prior payment in full of the Debt.

"Subsidiary” of Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries shall mean (a) a corporation more than fifty percent
(50%) of the Voting Power of which is owned, directly or indirectly, by Borrower or by one or more other
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subsidiaries of Borrower or by Borrower and one or more subsidiaries of Borrower, (b) a partnership or
limited liability company of which Borrower, one or more other subsidiaries of Borrower or Borrower
and one or more subsidiaries of Borrower, directly or indirectly, is a general partner or managing
member, as the case may be, or otherwise has the power to direct the policies, management and affairs
thereof, or (c) any other Person (other than a corporation) in which Borrower, one or more other
subsidiaries of Borrower or Borrower and one or more subsidiaries of Borrower, directly or indirectly, has
at least a majority ownership interest or the power to direct the policies, management and affairs thereof.

"Synthetic Lease" shall mean any lease entered into by any Company that is treated as a lease for
accounting purposes but that is intended by the parties to be treated as a financing transaction for income
tax, property law and/or bankruptcy purposes, and in respect of which transaction any Synthetic Lease
Indebtedness is issued or incurred.

"Syntbetic Lease Indebtedness” shall mean the aggregate principal amount of (and capitalized interest on})
all Indebtedness incurred or issued in connection with any Synthetic Lease that is secured, supported or
serviced, directly or indirectly, by any payments made by any Company. .

"Total Capitalization" shall mean the sum of (a) Funded Indebtedness plus (b) Consolidated Net Worth.

"Total Commitment Amount" shall mean the principal amount of Ninety Million Dollars ($90,000,000)
{or such lesser amount as shall be determined pursuant to Section 2.5 hereof).

"Unaffiliated Equity Offering"” shall mean any public or private equity offering by a Company to any
Person, other than (a) an individual who is an employee of a Company or related to an individual who is
an employee of such Company, or (b) any Person that is a shareholder of such Company on the Closing
Date.

"Voting Power" shall mean, with respect to any Person, the exclusive ability to control, through the
ownership of shares of capital stock, partnership interests, membership interests or otherwise, the election
of members of the board of directors or other similar governing body of such Person, and the holding of a
designated percentage of Voting Power of a Person means the ownership of shares of capital stock,
partnership interests, membership interests or other interests of such Person sufficient to control
exclusively the election of that percentage of the members of the board of directors or similar governing
body of such Person.

"Welfare Plan" shall mean an ERISA Plan that is a "welfare plan" within the meaning of ERISA Section
30

Any accounting term not specifically defined in this Article I shall have the meaning ascribed thereto by
GAAP.

The foregoing definitions shall be applicable to the singular and plurals of the foregoing defined terms.

ARTICLE II

AMOUNT AND TERMS OF CREDIT

SECTION 2.1 AMOUNT AND NATURE OF CREDIT. Subject to the terms and conditions of this
Agreement, each Bank will participate to the extent hereinafter provided in making {.oans to Borrower,
and issuing Letters of Credit at the request of Borrower, in such aggregate amount as Borrower shall
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request pursuant to the Commitment; provided, however, that in no event shall the aggregate principal
amount of all Loans and Letters of Credit outstanding under this Agreement be in excess of the Total
Commitment Amount.

Each Bank, for itself and not one for any other, agrees to participate in Loans made and Letters of Credit
issued hereunder during the Commitment Period on such basis that (a) immediately after the completion
of any borrowing by Borrower or issuance of a Letter of Credit herennder, the aggregate principal amount
then outstanding on the Notes issued to such Bank, when combined with such Bank's pro rata share of the
Letter of Credit Exposure, shall not be in excess of the Revolving Credit Commitment for such Bank, and
(b) such aggregate principal amount outstanding on the Notes issued to such Bank shall represent that
percentage of the aggregate principal amount then outstanding on all Notes (including the Notes held by
such Bank) that is such Bank's Commitment Percentage.

Each borrowing from the Banks hereunder shall be made pro rata according to the Banks' respective
Commitment Percentages. The Loans may be made as Revolving Loans, and Letters of Credit may be
issued, as follows:

A. Revolving Loans.

Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, during the Commitment Period, the Banks shall
make a Revolving Loan or Revolving Loans to Borrower in such amount or amounts as Borrower may
from time to time request, but not exceeding in aggregate principal amount at any time outstanding
hereunder the Total Commitment Amount, when such Revolving Loans are combined with the Letter of
Credit Exposure. Borrower shall have the option, subject to the terms and conditions set forth herein, to
borrow Revolving Loans, maturing on the last day of the Commitment Period, by means of any
combination of (a) Base Rate Loans or (b) LIBOR Loans.

Borrower shall pay interest on the unpaid principal amount of Base Rate Loans outstanding from time to
time from the date thereof until paid at the Base Rate from time to time in effect. Interest on such Base
Rate Loans shall be payable, commencing December 31, 2002, and on the last day of each succeeding
March, June, September and December thereafter and at the maturity thereof.

Borrower shall pay interest on the unpaid principal amount of each LIBOR Loan outstanding from time to
time, from the date thereof until paid, at the Derived LIBOR Rate, fixed in advance for each Interest
Period (but subject to changes in the Applicable LIBOR Margin) as herein provided for each such Interest
Period. Interest on such LIBOR Loans shall be payable on each Interest Adjustment Date with respect to
an Interest Period (provided that if an Interest Period exceeds three (3) months, the interest must be paid
every three (3) months, commencing three (3) months from the beginning of such Interest Period).

At the request of Borrower to Agent, subject to the notice and other provisions of Section 2.2 hereof, the
Banks shall convert Base Rate Loans to LIBOR Loans at any time and shall convert LIBOR Loans to
Base Rate Loans on any Interest Adjustment Date.

The obligation of Borrower to repay the Base Rate Loans and LIBOR Loans made by each Bank and to
pay interest thereon shall be evidenced by a Revolving Credit Note of Borrower in the form of Exhibit A
hereto, payable to the order of such Bank in the principal amount of its Revolving Credit Commitment,
or, if less, the aggregate unpaid principal amount of Revolving Loans made hereunder by such Bank.
‘Subject to the provisions of this Agreement, Borrower shall be entitled under this Section 2.1A to borrow
funds, repay the same in whole or in part and re-borrow hereunder at any time and from time to time
during the Commitment Period..
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B. Letters of Credit.

Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, during the Commitment Period, Agent shall, in the
name of KeyBank National Association, but only as Agent for the Banks, issue such Letters of Credit for
the account of Borrower or any Guarantor of Payment, as Borrower may from time to time request.
Borrower shall not request any Letter of Credit (and Agent shall not be obligated to issue any Letter of
Credit} if, after giving effect thereto, () the Letter of Credit Exposure would exceed the Letter of Credit
Commitment or (b) the Revolving Credit Exposure would exceed the Total Commitment Amount. The |
issuance of each Letter of Credit shall confer upon each Bank the benefits and liabilities of a participation
consisting of an undivided pro rata interest in the Letter of Credit to the extent of such Bank's
Commitment Percentage.

Each request for a Letter of Credit shall be delivered to Agent not later than 11:00 A.M. (Cleveland, Ohio
time) three (3) Business Days prior to the day upon which the Letter of Credit is to be issued. Each such
request shall be in a form acceptable to Agent and specify the face amount thereof, the account party, the
beneficiary, the intended date of issuance, the expiry date thereof, and the nature of the transaction to be
supported thereby. Concurrently with each such request, Borrower, and any Guarantor of Payment for
whose benefit the Letter of Credit is to be issued, shall execute and deliver to Agent an appropriate
application and agreement, being in the standard form of Agent for such letters of credit, as amended to
conform to the provisions of this Agreement if required by Agent. Agent shall give each Bank notice of
each such request for a Letter of Credit.

In respect of each Letter of Credit and the drafis thereunder, if any, whether issued for the account of
Borrower or a Guarantor of Payment, Borrower agrees (a) to pay to Agent, for the pro rata benefit of the
Barks, a non-refundable commission based upon the face amount of the Letter of Credit, which shall be
paid quarterly in arrears at a rate per annum equal to the Applicable LIBOR Margin (in effect on the date
such Letter of Credit is issued or renewed) times the face amount of such Letter of Credit during such
fiscal quarter; (b) to pay to Agent, for its own account as issuing bank, a fronting fee based upon the face
amount of the Letter of Credit, which shall be paid on each date that such Letter of Credit is issued or
renewed, at a rate per annum equal to ten (10) basis points times the face amount of such Letter of Credit;
and (c) to pay to Agent, for its sole account, such other issuance, amendment, negotiation, draw,
acceptance, telex, courier, postage and similar transactional fees as are generally charged by Agent under
its fee schedule as in effect from time to time.

Whenever a Letter of Credit is drawn, Borrower shall immediately reimburse Agent for the amount
drawn. In the event that the amount drawn is not reimbursed by Borrower within one (1} Business Day of
the drawing of such Letter of Credit, at the sole option of Agent, Borrower shall be deemed to have
requested a Revolving Loan, subject to the provisions of Section 2.14, in the amount drawn. Such
Revolving Loan shall be evidenced by the Revolving Credit Notes. Each Bank agrees to make a
Revolving Loan on the date of such notice, subject to no conditions precedent whatsoever. Each Bank
acknowledges and agrees that its obligation to make a Revolving Loan pursuant to Section 2.1A when
required by this Section 2.1B is absolute and unconditional and shall not be affected by any circumstance
whatsoever, including, without limitation, the occurrence and continuance of a Default or Event of
Default, and that its payment to Agent, for the account of Agent, of the proceeds of such Revolving Loan
shall be made without any offset, abatement, recoupment, counterclaim, withholding or reduction
whatsoever and whether or not such Bank's Revolving Credit Commitment shall have been reduced or
terminated. Borrower irrevocably authorizes and instructs Agent to apply the proceeds of any borrowing
pursuant to this paragraph to reimburse, in full, Agent for the amount drawn on such Letter of Credit.
Each such Revolving Loan shall be deemed to be a Base Rate Loan unless otherwise requested by and
available to Borrower hereunder. Each Bank is hereby authorized to record on its records relating to its
Revolving Credit Note such Bank's pro rata share of the amounts paid and not reimbursed on the Letters
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of Credit,

SECTION 2.2 CONDITIONS TO LOANS AND LETTERS OF CREDIT. The obligation of the Banks
to make a Loan, convert a LIBOR Loan or Base Rate Loan or continue a LIBOR Loan and of Agent to
issue any Letter of Credit is conditioned, in the case of each borrowing, conversion or continuation of a
Loan or issuance of a Letter of Credit hereunder, upon:

(a) all conditions precedent as listed in Article IV hereof shall have been satisfied;

(b) with respect to Base Rate Loans, receipt by Agent of a Notice of Loan, such notice to be
received by 2:00 P.M. (Cleveland, Ohio time} on the proposed date of borrowing or conversion,
and, with respect to LIBOR Loans, by 2:00 P.M. (Cleveland, Ohio time) three (3) Business Days
prior to the proposed date of borrowing, conversion or continuation. Agent shall notify each
Bank of the date, amount and initial Interest Period (if applicable) promptly upon the receipt of
such notice, and, in any event, by 2:00 P.M. (Cleveland, Ohio time) on the date such notice is
received. On the date such Loan is to be made, each Bank shall provide Agent, not later than
3:00 P.M. (Cleveland, Ohio time), with the amount in federal or other immediately available
funds, required of it;

{c} with respect to Letters of Credit, satisfaction of the notice provisions set forth in Section 2.1B
hereof:

(d) Borrower's request for (i) a Base Rate Loan shall be in an amount of not less than One Hundred
Thousand Dollars ($100,000), increased by increments of Fifty Thousand Dollars ($50,000), and
(ii) a LIBOR Loan shall be in an amount of not less than One Million Dollars ($1,000,000),
increased by increments of One Million Dollars ($1,000,000);

(e) the fact that no Default or Event of Defauit shall then exist or immediately after the making,
conversion or continuation of the Loan or issuance of the Letter of Credit would exist; and

(f) the fact that each of the representations and warranties contained in Article VI hereof shall be
true and correct with the same force and effect as if made on and as of the date of the making,
conversion, or continuation of such Loan, or the issuance of the Letter of Credit, except to the
extent that any thereof expressly relate to an earlier date.

At no time shall Borrower request that LIBOR Loans be-outstanding for more than ten (10) different
Interest Periods at any time.

Each request by Borrower for the making of a Loan, conversion of a LIBOR Loan or Base Rate Loan or
continuation of a LIBOR Loan, or for the issuance of a Letter of Credit hereunder shall be deemed to be a
representation and warranty by Borrower as of the date of such request as to the facts specified in (€) and
(f) above.

Each request for a LIBOR Loan shall be irrevocable and binding on Borrower and Borrower shall
indemnify Agent and the Banks against any loss or expense incurred by Agent or the Banks as a result of
any failure by Borrower to consummate such transaction including, without limitation, any loss (including
loss of anticipated profits) or expense incurred by reason of liquidation or re-employment of deposits or
other funds acquired by the Banks to fund such LIBOR Loan. A certificate as to the amount of such loss
or expense submitted by the Banks to Borrower shall be conclusive and binding for all purposes, absent
manifest error. -
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SECTION 2.3 PAYMENT ON NOTES, ETC. All payments of principal, interest and commitment and
other fees shall be made to Agent in immediately available funds for the account of the Banks. Agent,
within one (1) Business Day, shall distribute to each Baunk its ratable share of the amount of principal,
interest, and commitment and other fees received by it for the account of such Bank. Each Bank shall
record (a) any principal, interest or-other payment, and (b) the principal amount of the Base Rate Loans
and LIBOR Loans and all prepayments thereof and the applicable dates with respect thereto, by such
method as such Bank may generally employ; provided, however, that failure to make any such entry shall
in no way detract from Borrower's obligations under each Note. The aggregate unpaid amount of Loans
set forth on the records of Agent shall be rebuttably presumptive evidence of the principal and interest
owing and unpaid on each Note. Whenever any payment to be made hereunder, including, without
limitation, any payment to be made on any Note, shall be stated to be due on a day that is not a Business
Day, such payment shall be made on the next succeeding Business Day and such extension of time shall
in each case be included in the computation of the interest payable on such Note; provided, however, that,
with respect to any LIBOR Loan, if the next succeeding Business Day falls in the succeeding calendar
month, such payment shall be made on the preceding Business Day and the relevant Interest Period shall
be adjusted accordingly. -

SECTION 2.4 PREPAYMENT. Borrower shall have the right at any time or from time to time to
prepay, on a pro rata basis for all of the Banks, all or any part of the principal amount of the Notes then
outstanding, as designated by Borrower, plus interest accrued on the amount so prepaid to the date of such
prepayment. Borrower shall give Agent notice of prepayment of any Base Rate Loan by not later than
2:00 P.M. (Cleveland, Ohio time) on the Business Day such prepayment is to be made and notice of the
prepayment of any LIBOR Loan not later than 2:00 P.M. (Cleveland, Ohio time) three (3) Business Days
before the Business Day on which such prepayment is to be made. Prepayments of Base Rate Loans shall
be without any premium or penalty, other than any prepayment fees, penalties or other charges that may
be contained in any Hedge Agreement.

In any case of prepayment of a LIBOR Loan, Borrower agrees that if the reinvestment rate, as quoted by
the money desk of Agent ("Reinvestment Rate™"), shall be lower than the LIBOR Rate applicable to the
LIBOR Loan that is intended to be prepaid (hereinafter, "Last LIBOR"), then Borrower shall, upon
written notice by Agent, promptly pay to Agent, for the benefit of the Banks, in immediately available
funds, a prepayment fee equal to the product of (a) a rate (the "Prepayment Rate") that shail be equal to
the difference between the Last LIBOR and the Reinvestment Rate, times (b) the principal amount of the
LIBOR Loan that is to be prepaid, times (c) (i) the number of days remaining in the Interest Period of the
LIBOR Loan that is to be prepaid divided by (ii) three hundred sixty {360). In addition, Borrower shall
immediately pay directly to Agent, for the account of the Banks, the amount of any additional costs or
expenses (including, without limitation, cost of telex, wires, or cables) incurred by Agent or the Banks in
connection with the prepayment, upon Borrower's receipt of a written statement from Agent. Each
prepayment of a LIBOR Loan shall be in the aggregate principal sum of not less than One Million Dollars
($1,000,000), except in the case of a mandatory prepayment pursuant to Section 2.7 or Article III hereof.

SECTION 2.5 COMMITMENT AND OTHER FEES: REDUCTION OF COMMITMENT.

(a) Borrower shall pay to Agent, for the ratable account of the Banks, as a consideration for the
Commitment, a commitment fee from the date hereof to and including the last day of the
Commitment Period, payable quarterly, equal to (a) the Applicable Commitment Fee Rate in
effect on the payment date, times (b) (i) the Total Commitment Amount minus (ii) the average -
daily Revolving Credit Exposure during such quarter. The commitment fee shall be payable in
arrears, on December 31, 2002 and on the last day of each succeeding March, June, September
and December thereafter, and on the last day of the Commitment Period.
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(b) Borrower shall pay to Agent, for its sole benefit, the agent fees agreed to by Agent and Borrower
from time to time.

(c) Borrower may at any time or from time fo time permanently reduce in whole or ratably (for all of
the Banks) in part the Commitment of the Banks hereunder to an amount not less than the then
existing Revolving Credit Exposure, by giving notice to Agent not fewer than three (3) Business
Days in advance of the proposed date of such reduction, provided that any such partial reduction
shall be in an aggregate amount for all of the Banks of not less than Five Million Dollars
($5,000,000), increased by increments of One Million Dollars ($1,000,000). Agent shall
promptly notify each Bank of the date of each such reduction and such Bank's proportionate
share thereof. After each such reduction, the commitment fees payable hereunder shall be
calculated upon the Total Commitment Amount as so reduced. If Borrower reduces in whole
the Commitment of the Banks, on the effective date of such reduction (Borrower having prepaid
in full the unpaid principal balance, if any, of the Notes, together with all interest and
commitment and other fees acerued and unpaid, and provided that no issued and outstanding
Letters of Credit shall exist), all of the Notes shall be delivered to Agent marked "Canceled" and
Agent shall redeliver such Notes to Borrower. Any partial reduction in the Total Commitment
Amount shall be effective during the remainder of the Commitment Period.

SECTION 2.6 COMPUTATION OF INTEREST AND FEES:; DEFAULT RATE. With the exception
of Base Rate Loans, interest on Loans and commitment and other fees and charges hereunder shall be
computed on the basis of a year having three hundred sixty (360) days and calculated for the actual
number of days elapsed. With respect to Base Rate Loans, interest shall be computed on the basis of a
year having three hundred sixty-five (365) days or three hundred sixty-six (366) days, as the case may be,
and calculated for the actual number of days elapsed. Anything herein to the contrary notwithstanding, if
an Event of Default shall occur hereunder, (a) the principal of each Note and the unpaid interest thereon
shall bear interest, until paid, at the Default Rate; and (b) the fee for the aggregate undrawn face amount
of all issued and outstanding Letters of Credit shall be increased from the Applicable LIBOR Margin then
in effect to three percent (3%). In no event shall the rate of interest hereunder exceed the maximum rate
allowable by law.

SECTION 2.7 MANDATORY PAYMENT. If the Revolving Credit Exposure at any time exceeds the
Total Commitment Amount, Borrower shall, as promptly as practicable, but in no event later than the next
Business Day, prepay an aggregate principal amount of the Revolving Loans sufficient to bring the
aggregate outstanding principal amount of all Revolving Loans and the aggregate undrawn face amount
of all issued and outstanding Letters of Credit within the Commitment of the Banks. Any prepayment of
a LIBOR Loan pursuant to this Section 2.7 shall be subject to the prepayment fees set forth in Section 2.4
hereof.

SECTION 2.8 EXTENSION OF COMMITMENT. Upon written request of Borrower received by
Agent contemporaneously with the delivery of Borrower's annual financial statements pursuant to
Section 5.3(b) hereof, commencing with the financial statements of Borrower for the fiscal year ending
December 31, 2003, Agent and the Banks shall have the option of extending the Commitment Period for
an additional year. Each such extension shall be in the sole discretion of Agent and the Banks and shall
only be approved by Agent and the Banks if approved by Agent and the Banks in writing. Borrower shall
pay all attorneys' fees or other expenses of Agent in connection with the documentation of any extension,
as well as such other extension and other fees as may be agreed upon between Borrower and Agent.

ARTICLE III
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ADDITIONAL PROVISIONS RELATING TO
LIBOR LOANS:; INCREASED CAPITAL; TAXES,

SECTION 3.1 RESERVES OR DEPOSIT REQUIREMENTS, ETC. If, at any time, any law, treaty or
regulation (including, without limitation, Regulation D of the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve
System) or the interpretation thereof by any governmental authority charged with the administration '
thereof or any central bank or other fiscal, monetary or other authority shall impose (whether or not
having the force of law), modify or deem applicable any reserve and/or special deposit requirement (other
than reserves included in the Eurocurrency Reserve Percentage, the effect of which is reflected in the
interest rate(s) of the LIBOR Loan(s) in question) against assets held by, or deposits in or for the amount
of any LIBOR Loan by, any Bank, and the result of the foregoing is to increase the cost (whether by
incurring a cost or adding to a cost) to such Bank of making or maintaining hereunder such LIBOR Loan
or to reduce the amount of principal or interest received by such Bank with respect to such LIBOR Loan,
then, upon demand by such Bank, Borrower shall pay to such Bank from time to time on Interest
Adjustment Dates with respect to such LIBOR Loan, as additional consideration hereunder, additional
amounts sufficient to fully compensate and indemnify such Bank for such increased cost or reduced
amount, assuming (which assumption such Bank need not corroborate) such additional cost or reduced
amount was allocable to such LIBOR Loan. A certificate as to the increased cost or reduced amount as a
result of any event mentioned in this Section 3.1, setting forth the calculations therefor, shall be promptly
submitted by such Bank to Borrower and shall, in the absence of manifest error, be conclusive and
binding as to the amount thereof. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, after any such
demand for compensation by any Bank, Borrower, upon at least three (3) Business Days' prior written
notice to such Bank through Agent, may prepay any affected LIBOR Loan in full or convert such LIBOR
Loan to a Base Rate Loan regardiess of the Interest Period thereof. Any such prepayment or conversion
shall be subject to the prepayment fees set forth in Section 2.4 hereof. Each Bank shall notify Borrower as
promptly as practicable (with a copy thereof delivered to Agent) of the existence of any event that will
likely require the payment by Borrower of any such additional amount under this Section.

SECTION 3.2 TAXLAW, ETC. Inthe event that by reason of any law, regulation or requirement or
in the interpretation thereof by an official authority, or the imposition of any requirement of any central
bank whether or not having the force of law, any Bank shall, with respect to this Agreement or any
transaction under this Agreement, be subjected to any tax, levy, impost, charge, fee, duty, deduction or
withholding of any kind whatsoever (other than any tax imposed upon the total net income of such Bank)
and if any such measures or any other similar measure shall result in an increase in the cost to such Bank
of making or maintaining any LIBOR Loan or in a reduction in the amount of principal, interest or
commitment fee receivable by such Bank in respect thereof, then such Bank shall promptly notify
Borrower stating the reasons therefor. Borrower shall thereafter pay to such Bank, upon demand from
time to time on Interest Adjustment Dates with respect to such LIBOR Loan, as additional consideration
hereunder, such additional amounts as shall fully compensate such Bank for such increased cost or
reduced amount. A certificate as to any such increased cost or reduced amount, setting forth the
calculations therefor, shall be submitted by such Bank to Borrower and shall, in the absence of manifest
error, be conclusive and binding as to the amount thereof.

If any Bank receives such additional consideration from Borrower pursuant to this Section 3.2, such Bank
shall use reasonable efforts to obtain the benefits of any refund, deduction or credit for any taxes or other
amounts on account of which such additional consideration has been paid and shall reimburse Borrower
to the extent, but only to the extent, that such Bank shall receive a refund of such taxes or other amounts
together with any interest thereon or an effective net reduction in taxes or other governmental charges
(including any taxes imposed on or measured by the total net income of such Bank) of the United States
or any state or subdivision thereof by virtue of any such deduction or credit, after first giving effect to all
other deductions and credits otherwise available to such Bank. If, at the time any audit of such Bank's
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income tax return is completed, such Bank determines, based on such audit, that it was not entitled to the
full amount of any refund reimbursed to Borrower as aforesaid or that its net income taxes are not reduced
by a credit or deduction for the full amount of taxes reimbursed to Borrower as aforesaid, Borrower, upon
demand of such Bank, shall promptly pay to such Bank the amount so refunded to which such Bank was
not so entitled, or the amount by which the net income taxes of such Bank were not so reduced, as the
case may be. '

Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, after any such demand for compensation by any
Bank, Borrower, upon at least three (3) Business Days' prior written notice to such Bank through Agent,
may prepay any affected LIBOR Loan in full or convert such LIBOR Loan to a Base Rate Loan
regardless of the Interest Period of any thereof. Any such prepayment or conversion shall be subject to the
prepayment fees set forth in Section 2.4 hereof.

SECTION 3.3 EURODOLLAR DEPOSITS UNAVAILABLE OR INTEREST RATE
UNASCERTAINABLE. In respect of any LIBOR Loan, in the event that Agent shall have determined
that dollar deposits of the relevant amount for the relevant Interest Period for such LIBOR Loan are not
available to Agent in the applicable eurodollar market or that, by reason of circumstances affecting such
market, adequate and reasonable means do not exist for ascertaining the LIBOR Rate applicable to such
Interest Period, as the case may be, Agent shall promptly give notice of such determination to Borrower
and (a) any notice of a new LIBOR Loan (or conversion of an existing Loan to a LIBOR Loan)
previously given by Borrower and not yet borrowed (or converted, as the case may be) shall be deemed a
notice to make a Base Rate Loan, and (b) Borrower shall be obligated either to prepay, or to convert to a
Base Rate Loan, any outstanding LTBOR Loan on the last day of the then current Interest Period with
respect thereto.

SECTION 3.4 INDEMNITY. Without prejudice to any other provisions of this Article I, Borrower’
hereby agrees to indemnify each Bank against any loss or expense that such Bank may sustain or incur as
a consequence of (a) any default by Borrower in payment when due of any amount hereunder in respect
of any LIBOR Loan, or (b) the failure by Borrower to consummate the borrowing of any LIBOR Loan
after making a request therefor, including, but not limited to, any loss of profit, premium or penalty
incurred by such Bank in respect of funds borrowed by it for the purpose of making or maintaining such
LIBOR Loan, as determined by such Bank in the exercise of its sole but reasonable discretion. A
certificate as to any such loss or expense shall be promptly submitted by such Bank to Borrower and
shall, in the absence of manifest error, be conclusive and binding as to the amount thereof.

SECTION 3.5 CHANGES IN LAW RENDERING LIBOR LOANS UNLAWFUL. If at any time any
new law, treaty or regulation, or any change in any existing law, treaty or regulation, or any interpretation
thereof by any governmental or other regulatory authority charged with the administration thereof, shall
make it unlawful for any Bank to fund any LIBOR Loan that it is committed to make hereunder with
moneys obtained in the eurodollar market, the commitment of such Bank to fund such LIBOR Loan shall,
upon the happening of such event forthwith be suspended for the duration of such illegality, and such
Bank shall by written notice to Borrower and Agent declare that its commitment with respect to such
LIBOR Loan has been so suspended and, if and when such illegality ceases to exist, such suspension shall
cease and such Bank shall similarly notify Borrower and Agent. If any such change shall make it
unlawful for any Bank to continue in effect the funding in the applicable eurodollar market of any LIBOR
Loan previously made by it hereunder, such Bank shall, upon the happening of such event, notify
Borrower, Agent and the other Banks thereof in writing stating the reasons therefor, and Borrower shall,
on the earlier of (a) the last day of the then current Interest Period or (b) if required by such law,
regulation or interpretation, on such date as shall be specified in such notice, either convert such LIBOR
Loan to a Base Rate Loan or prepay such LIBOR Loan to the Banks in full. Any such prepayment or
conversion shall be subject to the prepayment fees described in Section 2.4 hereof.
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SECTION 3.6 FUNDING. Each Bank may, but shall not be required to, make LIBOR Loans
hereunder with funds obtained outside the United States.

SECTION 3.7 CAPITAL ADEQUACY. If any Bank shall have determined, after the Closing Date,
that the adoption of any applicable law, rule, regulation or guideline regarding capital adequacy, or any
change therein, or any change in the interpretation or administration thereof by any governmental
authority, central bank or comparable agency charged with the interpretation or administration thereof, or
compliance by any Bank (or its lending office) with any request or directive regarding capital adequacy
(whether or not having the force of law) of any such authority, central bank or comparable agency, has or
would have the effect of reducing the rate of return on such Bank's capital (or the capital of its holding
company) as a consequence of its obligations hereunder to a level below that which such Bank (or its
holding company) could have achieved but for such adoption, change or compliance (taking into
consideration such Bank's policies or the policies of its holding company with respect to capital
adeguacy) by an amount deemed by such Bank to be material, then from time to time, within fifteen (15)
days after demand by such Bank (with a copy to Agent), Borrower shall pay to such Bank such additional
amount or amountis as shall compensate such Bank (or its holding company) for such reduction. Each
Bank shall designate a different lending office if such designation will avoid the need for, or reduce the
amount of, such compensation and will not, in the judgment of such Bank, be otherwise disadvantageous
to such Bank. A certificate of any Bank claiming compensation under this Section and setting forth the
additional amount or amounts to be paid to it hereunder shall be conclusive in the absence of manifest
error. In determining such amount, such Bank may use any reasonable averaging and attribution
methods. Failure on the part of any Bank to demand compensation for any reduction in return on capital
with respect to any period shall not constitute a waiver of such Bank's rights to demand compensation for
any reduction in return on capital in such period or in any other period. The protection of this Section
shall be available to each Bank regardless of any possible contention of the invalidity or inapplicability of
the law, regulation or other condition that shall have been imposed.

ARTICLEIV
CONDITIONS PRECEDENT

The obligation of the Banks to make the first Loan and of Agent to issue the first Letter of Credit is
subject to Borrower satisfying each of the following conditions on the Closing Date, or with respect to
Section 4.7 hereof, on such date as specified therein:

SECTION 4.1 NOTES. Borrower shall have executed and delivered to each Bank its Revolving Credit
Note.

SECTION 4.2 GUARANTIES OF PAYMENT OF DEBT. Borrower shall have delivered to Agent a
Guaranty of Payment executed by each Guarantor of Payment.

SECTION 4.3 QFFICER'S CERTIFICATE. RESOLUTIONS, ORGANIZATIONAL DOCTUMENTS.
Borrower and each Guarantor of Payment shall have delivered to each Bank an officer's certificate
certifying the names of the officers of Borrower or such Guarantor of Payment authorized to sign the
Loan Documents, together with the true signatures of such officers and certified copies of (a) the
resolutions of the board of directors of Borrower and each Guarantor of Payment evidencing approval of
the execution and delivery of the Loan Documents and the execution of other Related Writings to which
Borrower or such Guarantor of Payment, as the case may be, is a party, and (b) the Organizational
Documents of Borrower and each Guarantor of Payment.
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SECTION 44 LEGAL OPINION. Borrower shall have delivered to Agent an opinion of counsel for
Borrower and each Guarantor of Payment, in form and substance satisfactory to Agent and the Banks.

SECTION 4.5 GOOD STANDING CERTIFICATES. Borrower shall have delivered to Agent a good
standing certificate for Borrower and each Guarantor of Payment, issued on or about the Closing Date by
the Secretaries of State of Ohio and California.

SECTION 4.6 CLOSING AND LEGAL FEES. Borrower shall have (a) executed and delivered to
Agent the Closing Fee Letter and the Agent Fee Letter, (b) paid to Agent, for the pro rata benefit of the
Banks, the closing fees agreed to by Borrower, Agent and the Banks set forth in the Closing Fee Letter,
(c) paid to Agent, for its sole benefit, the administrative agent fee set forth in the Agent Fee Letter, and
(d) paid all legal fees and expenses of Agent in connection with the preparation and negotiation of the
Loan Documents.

SECTION 4.7 LIEN SEARCHES. Within thirty (30} days of the Closing Date, with respect to the
property owned or leased by Borrower and each Guarantor of Payment, Borrower shall have caused to be
delivered to each Bank (a) the results of U.C.C. lien searches, satisfactory to Agent and the Banks; and (b)
the results of federal and state tax lien and judicial lien searches, satisfactory to Agent and the Banks.

SECTION 4.8 EXISTING CREDIT AGREEMENT. Borrower shall have terminated the Credit
Agreement among Borrower, the banking institutions named in Schedule I thereto and KeyBank National
Association, as agent, dated as of April 26, 2000, as amended, which termination shall be deemed to have
occurred upon payment in full of the "Debt", as defined therein.

SECTION 4.9 NO MATERIAI, ADVERSE CHANGE. No material adverse change, in the opinion of
Agent, shall have occurred in the financial condition, operations or prospects of the Companies since
September 30, 2002,

SECTION 4.10 MISCELLANEOUS. Borrower shall have provided to Agent and the Banks such other
items and shall have satisfied such other conditions as may be reasonably required by Agent or the Banks.

ARTICLE V
COVENANTS

Borrower agrees that so long as the Commitment remains in effect and thereafter until all of the Debt
shall have been paid in full, Borrower shall perform and observe, and shall cause each other Company to
perform and observe, each of the following provisions:

SECTION 5.1 INSURANCE. Each Company shall (a) maintain insurance to such extent and against
such hazards and liabilities as is commonly maintained by Persons similarly situated; and (b) within ten
(10) days of any Bank's written request, furnish to such Bank such information about such Company's
insurance as that Bank may from time to time reasonably request, which information shall be prepared in
form and detail satisfactory to such Bank and certified by a Financial Officer of such Company.

SECTION 5.2 MONEY OBLIGATIONS. Each Company shall pay in full (a) prior in each case to the
date when penalties would attach, all faxes, assessments and governmental charges and Jevies (except
only those so long as and to the extent that the same shall be contested in good faith by appropriate and
timely proceedings and for which adequate reserves have been established in accordance with GAAP) for
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which it may be or become liable or to which any or all of its properties may be or become subject; (b) all
of its wage obligations to its employees in compliance with the Fair Labor Standards Act (29 U.S.C.
206-207) or any comparable provisions; and (c) all of its other obligations calling for the payment of
money (except only those so long as and to the extent that the same shall be contested in good faith and
for which adequate reserves have been established in accordance with GAAP) before such payment
becomes overdue. '

SECTION 5.3 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS. Borrower shall furnish to each Bank:

(a) within fifty (50) days after the end of each of the first three (3} quarter-annual periods of each
fiscal year of Borrower, balance sheets of Borrower as of the end of such period and statements
of income (loss), stockholders' equity and cash flow for the quarter and fiscal year to date
periods, all prepared on a Consolidated basis, in accordance with GAAP, and in form and detail
satisfactory to the Banks and certified by a Financial Officer of Borrower;

(b) within one hundred (100) days after the end of each fiscal year of Borrower, an annual audit
report of Borrower for that year prepared on a Consolidated basis, in accordance with GAAP,
and in form and detail satisfactory to the Banks and certified by an independent public
accountant satisfactory to the Banks, which report shall include balance sheets and statements of
income (loss), stockholders' equity and cash-flow for that period;

(c¢) concurrently with the delivery of the financial statements in (a) and (b) above, a Compliance
Certificate;

(d) within one hundred twenty (120) days after the end of each fiscal year of Borrower, annual pro-
forma projections (including a balance sheet, income statement and statement of cash flows) of
Borrower and its Subsidiaries for the then current fiscal year, to be in form acceptable to Agent;
and

(e) within ten (10) days of any Bank's written request, such other information about the financial
.condition, properties and operations of any Company as such Bank may from time to time
reasonably request, which information shall be submitted in form and detail satisfactory to such
Bank and certified by a Financial Officer of the Company or Companies in question.

SECTION 5.4 FINANCIAL RECORDS. Each Company shall at all times maintain true and complete
records and books of account, including, without limiting the generality of the foregoing, appropriate -
reserves for possible losses and liabilities, all in accordance with GAAP, and at all reasonable times
(during normal business hours and upon notice to such Company) permit the Banks to examine that
Company's books and records and to make excerpts therefrom and transcripts thereof.

SECTION 5.5 FRANCHISES. Each Company shall preserve and maintain at all times its existence,
rights and franchises, except as otherwise permitted pursuant to Section 5.12 hereof.

SECTION 5.6 ERISA COMPLIANCE. No Company shall incur any material accumulated funding
deficiency within the meaning of ERISA, or any material liability to the PBGC, established thereunder in
connection with any ERISA Plan. Borrower shall furnish to the Banks (a) as soon as possible and in any
event within thirty (30) days after any Company knows or has reason to know that any Reportable Event
with respect to any ERISA Plan has occurred, a statement of the Financial Officer of such Company,
setting forth details as to such Reportable Event and the action that such Company proposes to take with
respect thereto, together with a copy of the notice of such Reportable Event given to the PBGC if a copy
of such notice is available to such Company, and (b) promptly after receipt thereof a copy of any notice
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such Company, or any member of the Controlled Group may receive from the PBGC or the Internal
Revenue Service with respect to any ERISA Plan administered by such Company; provided, that this
latter clause shall not apply to notices of general application promulgated by the PBGC or the Internal
Revenue Service. Borrower shall promptly notify the Banks of any material taxes assessed, proposed to
be assessed or that Borrower has reason to believe may be assessed against a Company by the Intemnal
Revenue Service with respect to any ERISA Plan. As used in this Section "material" means the measure
of a matter of significance that shall be determined as being an amount equal to five percent (5%) of the
Consolidated Net Worth of Borrower. As soon as practicable, and in any event within twenty (20) days,
after any Company becomes aware that an ERISA Event has occurred, such Company shall provide Bank
with notice of such ERISA Event with a certificate by a Financial Officer of such Company setting forth
the details of the event and the action such Company or another Controlled Group member proposes to
take with respect thereto. Borrower shall, at the request of Agent or any Bank, deliver or cause to be
delivered to Agent or such Bank, as the case may be, true and correct copies of any documents relating to
the ERISA Plan of any Company.

SECTION 5.7 FINANCIAL COVENANTS.

(a) LEVERAGE RATIOQ. Borrower shall not suffer or permit at any time the Leverage Ratio to
exceed 2.75 to 1.00.

(b) INTEREST COVERAGE. Borrower shall not suffer or permit as of any date the ratio of (a)
Consolidated EBIT to (b} Consolidated Interest Expense, to be less than (i) 2.50 to 1.00 from the
Closing Date through June 29, 2004, and (ii) 2.75 to 1.00 on June 30, 2004 and thereafter, for
the four (4) fiscal quarters of Borrower ended on or immediately prior to such date. '

(c) BALANCE SHEET LEVERAGE RATIO. Borrower shall not suffer or permit at any time the
Balance Sheet Leverage Ratio to exceed (i) 0.55 to 1.00 from the Closing Date through
December 30, 2003, and (ii) 0.50 to 1.00 on December 31, 2003 and thereafter.

SECTION 5.8 BORROWING. No Company shall create, incur or have outstanding any obligation for
borrowed money or any Indebtedness of any kind; provided, that this Section shall not apply to any of the
following (without duplication):

(a) the Loans and all other Indebtedness now owing by Borrower to Agent and the Banks under this
Agreement;

(b) unsecured current Indebtedness (including the funded and/or unfunded reserves for self
insurance liabilities, but excluding Indebtedness incurred to a bank or other financial institution
customarily engaged in the business of lending money, except as permitted pursuant to subpart
(d) below) incurred by the Companies in the ordinary course of business;.

() Indebtedness for taxes, assessments and governmental charges to the extent that payment thereof
shall not be required to be made by Section 5.2(a) hereof;

(d) unsecured Indebtedness incurred under lines of credit established by Agent or other financial
institutions customarily engaged in the business of lending money; provided, however, that the
maximum amount of Indebtedness permitted by this subpart (d) shall at no time exceed Fifteen
Million Dollars ($15,000,000);

() unsecured Subordinated Indebtedness evidenced by promissory notes issued by Borrower to
employees or former employees in partial payment for common shares redeemed by Borrower
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so long as the aggregate principal amount of such Indebtedness does not exceed Five Million
Dollars ($5,000,000) at any time;

loans to a Company from a Company so long as each such Compaﬁy is Borrower or a Guarantor
of Payment;

Indebtedness to insurance companies secured by a pledge of the cash surrender value of life
insurance policies owned by Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries; provided, however, that the
maximum amount of Indebtedness permitted by this subpart (h) shall at no time exceed the cash
surrender value of the life insurance policies pledged with respect thereto;

unsecured Indebtedness arising pursuant to the deferment of payment of any insurance premiums
by Borrower;

any (i) loans granted to a Company for the purchase of fixed assets, or (ii) Indebtedness incurred
by a Company in connection with any capital lease, so long as the aggregate amount of all such
loans and capital leases for all Companies does not exceed Seven Million Five Hundred
Thousand Dollars ($7,500,000) at any time; and '

unsecured Subordinated Indebtedness of Borrower incurred to a seller to finance all or part of an
Acquisition permitted pursuant o section 5.13 hereof, so long as the aggregate outstanding
amount of all such Indebtedness for all such Acquisitions does not exceed Ten Million Dollars
($10,000,000) at any time.

SECTION 5.9 LIENS. No Company shall create, assume or suffer to exist any Lien upon any of its
property or assets, whether now owned or hereafter acquired; provided that this Section shall not apply to

the following:

(@

(b)

©

(d)

(e)

®

Liens for taxes not yet due or that are Being actively contested in good faith by appropriate
proceedings and for which adequate reserves have been established in accordance with GAAP;

other statutory Liens incidental to the conduct of its business or the ownership of its property
and assets that (i} were not incurred in connection with the borrowing of money or the obtaining
of advances or credit, and (ii) do not in the aggregate materially detract from the value ofits -
property or assets or materially impair the use thereof in the operation of its business;

Liens on property or assets of a Subsidiary to secure obligations of such Subsidiary to Borrower
or a Guarantor of Payment;

purchase money Liens on fixed assets securing the loans or capital leases pursuant to
Section 5.8(j) hereof, provided that such Lien is limited to the purchase price and only attaches

to the property being acquired;

Liens on life insurance policies arising from the pledging of the cash surrender value of life
insurance policies securing Indebtedness, provided, however, that such Liens shall not extend to

any other property or assets of any Company;

minor title defects, liens or encumbrances consisting of minor survey exceptions or
encumbrances including easements or rights-of-way for sewers, water lines, utility lines and
other similar purposes, and zoning or other restrictions as to the use of real property, which title
defects, liens and encumbrances do not, in the aggregate, materially impair the use of such real .
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property in the operation of Bomrower's activities and business;

(g) in addition to Liens permitted pursuant to subparts (a) through (f) above, such other statutory or
consensual Liens (other than a Lien as a result of an ERISA Event) as may from time to time
arise or be created; provided, however, that the aggregate principal amount secured by all such
Liens shall not exceed Two Million Five Hundred Thousand Dollars ($2,500,000) at any time.

No Company shall enter into any contract or agreement that would prohibit Agent or the Banks from
acquiring a security interest, mortgage or other Lien on, or a collateral assignment of, any of the property
or assets of a Company.

SECTION 5.10 REGULATIONS U and X. No Company shall take any action that would result in any
non-compliance of the Loans with Regulations U and X of the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve
System. '

SECTION 5.11 INVESTMENTS AND LOANS. No Company shall (a) create, acquire or hold any
Subsidiary, (b) make or hold any investment in any stocks, bonds or securities of any kind, (c) be or
become a party to any joint venture or other partnership without the prior written consent of Agent and
the Required Banks, (d) make or keep outstanding any advance or loan to any Person, or (€) be or become
a Guarantor of any kind, except guarantees only for Indebtedness of the Companies incurred or permitted
pursuant to this Agreement; provided, that this Section shall not apply to:

() any endorsement of a check or other medium of payment for deposit or collection through
normal banking channels or similar transaction in the normal course of business;

(i) any investment in direct obligations of the United States of America or in certificates of deposit
issued by a member bank of the Federal Reserve System;

(iii) any investment in commercial paper or securities that at the time of such investment is assigned
the highest quality rating in accordance with the rating systems employed by either Moody's or
Standard & Poor's;

(iv) thebolding of Subsidiaries listed on Schedule 6.1 attached hereto and made a part hereof;

(v)  loans or advances made by the Companies to The Davey Foundation so long as the aggregate
amount of all such loans and advances made by the Companies does not exceed One Hundred
Thousand Dollars ($100,000) at any time;

(vi) loans to a Company from a Company so long as each such Company is Borrower or a Guarantor
of Payment;

(vii) loans or advances made by the Companies to the respective employees of the Companies in the
ordinary course of business so long as the aggregate principal amount of all such Joans and
advances does not exceed Five Hundred Thousand Dollars ($500,000) at any time; -

(viif} voluntary contributions in excess of mandatory matching contributions made by the Companies
to the Davey ESOT so long as the aggregate amount of all such contributions made during any
fiscal year of Borrower does not exceed Five Hundred Thousand Doliars ($500,000);

(ix) Acquisitions made by the Companies pursuant to Section 5.13 hereof, and the creation of

Subsidiaries in connection therewith so long as each such Subsidiary becomes a Guarantor of
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Payment if required pursuant to Section 5.20 hereof;

(x)  loans or advances made by Borrower to, or investments made by Borrower in, Davey Tree
Expert Co., of Canada, Limited in the ordinary course of Borrower's business; and

(xi) purchases or investments made by Borrower in securities or joint ventures, or loans made by
Borrower, not otherwise in compliance with this Section 5.11, provided that the aggregate
amount of all such purchases, investments and loans for made by Borrower does not exceed
One Million Doltars ($1,000,000) at any time.

SECTION 5.12 MERGER AND SALE OF ASSETS. No Company shall merge or consolidate with
any other Person, or sell, lease or transfer or otherwise dispose of any assets to any Person otber than in
the ordinary course of business, except that, if no Default or Event of Default shall then exist or
immediately thereafter shall begin to exist:

(a) any Subsidiary may merge or consolidate with (i) Borrower (provided that Borrower shall be the
continuing or surviving Person) or (ii) any one or more Guarantors of Payment, provided that
either (A) the continning or surviving Person shall be a Wholly-Owned Subsidiary thatis a
Guarantor of Payment, or (B) after giving effect to any merger pursuant to this sub-clause (ii),
Borrower and/or one or more Wholly-Owned Subsidiaries that are Guarantors of Payment shall
own not less than the same percentage of the outstanding Voting Power of the continuing or
surviving Person as Borrower and/or one or more Wholly-Owned Subsidiaries (that are
Guarantors of Payment) owned of the merged Subsidiary immediately prior to such merger, or

(b) any Subsidiary may sell, lease, transfer or otherwise dispose of any of its assets to (i) Borrower,
(ii) any Wholly-Owned Subsidiary that is a Guarantor-of Payment, or (iii) any Guarantor of
Payment, of which Borrower and/or one or more Wholly-Owned Subsidiaries, that are
Guarantors of Payment, shall own not less than the same percentage of Voting Power as
Borrower and/or one or more Wholly-Owned Subsidiaries (that are Guarantors of Payment) then
own of the Subsidiary making such sale, lease, transfer or other disposition.

SECTION 5.13 ACQUISITIONS. Without the prior written consent of Agent and the Required Banks,
no Company shall effect an Acquisition; provided; however, that, so long as no Default or Event of .
Default shall then exist or immediately thereafter shall begin to exist, this Section shall not apply to any
Acquisition by Borrower or a Guarantor of Payment so fong as (a) Borrower or such Guarantor of
Payment is the surviving entity; (b) the business to be acquired is similar to the lines of business of the
Companies; (c) the Person to be acquired is organized under the laws of the United States; (d) the
Companies are in full compliance with the Loan Documents both prior to and subsequent to the
transaction; (e) if the total aggregate consideration to be paid pursuant to such Acquisition is in excess of
Ten Million Dollars ($10,000,000), Borrower shall provide to Agent and the Banks, at least thirty (30)
days prior to such Acquisition, historical financial statements of the target entity and a pro forma financial
statement of the Companies accompanied by a certificate of a Financial Officer of Borrower showing pro
forma compliance with Section 5.7 hereof, both before and after the proposed Acquisition; and

(f) Borrower shall have obtained the prior written consent of Agent and the Required Banks with respect
to any Acquisition by a Company (i) in which the aggregate consideration paid by the Companies exceeds
the aggregate amount of Twenty Million Dollars ($20,000,000), or (ii) which, when added to all other
Acquisitions for all Companies after the Closing Date, would exceed the aggregate amount of Thirty
Million Dollars ($30,000,000).

SECTION 5.14 NOTICE. Borrower shall cause a Financial Officer of Borrower to promptly notify
Agent and the Banks whenever any Default or Event of Default may occur hereunder or any
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representation or warranty made in Article VI hereof or elsewhere in this Agreement or in any Related
Writing may for any reason cease in any material respect to be true and complete.

SECTION 5.15 ENVIRONMENTAL COMPLIANCE. Each Company shall comply in all material
respects with any and all Environmental Laws including, without limitation, all Environmental Laws in
Jjurisdictions in which any Company owns or operates a facility or site, arranges for disposal or treatment
of hazardous substances, solid waste or other wastes, accepts for transport any hazardous substances,
solid waste or other wastes or holds any interest in real property or otherwise. Borrower shall furnish to
the Banks, promptly after receipt thereof, a copy of any notice any Company may receive from any
governmental authority, private Person or otherwise that any material litigation or proceeding pertaining
to any environmental, health or safety matter has been filed or is threatened against such Company, any
real property in which such Company holds any interest or any past or present operation of such
Company. No Company shail allow the release or disposal of any material amount of hazardous waste,
solid waste or other wastes on, under or to any real property in which any Company holds any interest or
performs any of its operations, in violation of any Environmental Law. With respect to any violation by
any Company of any Environmental Law existing on the Closing Date or, so long as Borrower shall have
provided notice to Agent, any violation by any Company of any Environmental Law that arises after the
Closing Date, such Company shall comply in all material respects with any consent order or other
remediation plan. As used in this Section, "litigation or proceeding" means any demand, claim, notice,
suit, suit in equity action, administrative action, investigation or inquiry whether brought by any
governmental authority, private Person or otherwise. Borrower shall defend, indemnify and hold Agent
and the Banks harmless against all costs, expenses, claims, damages penalties and liabilities of every
kind or nature whatsoever (including reasonable attorneys' fees) arising out of or resulting from the
noncompliance of any Company with any Environmental Law. Such indemnification shall survive any
termination of this Agreement.

SECTION 5.16 AFFILIATE TRANSACTIONS. No Company shall, or shall permit any Subsidiary to,
directly or indirectly, enter into or permit to exist any material transaction (including, without limitation,
the purchase, sale, lease or exchange of any property or the rendering of any service) with any Affiliate of
a Company on terms that are less favorable to such Company or such Subsidiary, as the case may be, than
those that might be obtained at the time in a transaction with a non-Affiliate; provided, however, that the
foregoing shall not prohibit the payment of customary and reasonable directors' fees to directors who are
not employees of a Company or any Affiliate of a Company.

SECTION 5.17 USE OF PROCEEDS. Borrower's use of the proceeds of the Revolving Credit Notes
shall be solely for working capital and other general corporate purposes of Borrower and its Subsidiaries,

SECTION 5.18 CORPORATE NAMES. No Company shall change its corporate name, unless, in each
case, Borrower shall provide each Bank with ten (10) days prior written notice thereof.

SECTION 5.19 MANAGEMENT AGREEMENTS. No Company shall make or enter into any so-
called management agreement whereby management, supervision or control of its business, or any of the
principal functions of any Company shall be delegated to any Person other than its duly elected Board of
Directors.

SECTION 5.20 SUBSIDIARY GUARANTIES. Each Subsidiary or other affiliate of a Company
created, acquired or held subsequent to the Closing Date, shall immediately execute and deliver to Agent
a Guaranty of Payment of all of the Debt, such agreement to be in form and substance acceptable to Agent
and the Required Banks, along with such corporate governance and authorization documents and an
opinion of counsel as may be deemed necessary or advisable by Agent and the Required Banks; provided,
however, that (a) a Subsidiary shall not be required to execute such Guaranty of Payment so long as (1)
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the book value of the total assets of such Subsidiary is less than One Million Dollars ($1,000,000), (ii) the
aggregate of the total assets of all such Subsidiaries with total asset values of less than One Million
Dollars ($1,000,000) does not exceed the aggregate amount of Five Million Dollars ($5,000,000), and
(iii) the amount of total net sales of such Subsidiary is less than One Million Dollars ($1,000,000); and
(b) a Foreign Subsidiary shall not be required to execute a Guaranty of Payment to the extent that such
Guaranty of Payment will result in adverse tax consequences for Borrower. In the event that the book
value of the total assets and/or the amount of total net sales of any Subsidiary that is not a Guarantor of
Payment are at any time equal to or greater than One Million Dollars ($1,000,000), Borrower shall
provide Agent and the Banks with prompt written notice of such asset value.

ARTICLE VI
REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES

Borrower represents and warrants that the statements set forth in this Article VI are true, correct and
complete.

SECTION 6.1 CORPORATE EXISTENCE: SUBSIDIARIES:; FOREIGN QUALIFICATION. Each
Company is a corporation duly organized, validly existing, and in good standing under the laws of its

state of incorporation and is duly qualified and authorized to do business and is in good standing as a _
foreign corporation in the jurisdictions set forth opposite its name on Schedule 6.1 hereto, which are all of
the states or jurisdictions where the character of its property or its business activities makes such .
qualification necessary, except where the failure to so qualify will not cause or result in a Material
Adverse Effect. Schedule 6.1 hereto sets forth each Subsidiary of Borrower, its state of incorporation, the
location of its chief executive offices and its principal place of business. Borrower owns all of the capital
stock of each of its Subsidiaries.

SECTION 6.2 CORPORATE AUTHORITY. Borrower has the right and power and is duly authorized
and empowered to enter into, execute and deliver the Loan Documents to which it is a party and to
perform and observe the provisions of the Loan Documents. The Loan Documents to which Borrower is
a party have been duly authorized and approved by Borrower's Board of Directors and are the valid and
binding obligations of Borrower, enforceable against Borrower in accordance with their respective terms.
The execution, delivery and performance of the Loan Documents will not conflict with nor result in any
breach in any of the provisions of, or constitute a default under, or result in the creation of any Lien (other
than Liens permitted under Section 5.9 of this Agreement) upon any assets or property of Borrower under
the provisions of, Borrower's Organizational Documents or any agreement.

SECTION 6.3 COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS. Each Company:

(a) holdsall material permits, certificates, licenses, orders, registrations, franchises, authorizations,
and other approvals from federal, state, local, and foreign governmental and regulatory bodies
necessary for the conduct of its business and is in compliance with all applicable laws relating

thereto;

(b) is in compliance with all material federal, state, local, or foreign applicable statutes, rules, -
regulations, and orders including, without limitation, those relating to environmental protection,
occupational safety and health, and equal employment practices; and

(c) is not in violation of or in default under any material agreement to which it is a party or by which
its assets are subject or bound. .
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SECTION 6.4 LITIGATION AND ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEEDINGS. Except as disclosed on
Schedule 6.4 hereto, to the best of Borrower's knowledge, there are (a) no lawsuits, actions,
investigations, or other proceedings pending or threatened against any Company, or in respect of which
any Company may have any liability, in any court or before any governmental authority, arbitration
board, or other tribunal, (b) no orders, writs, injunctions, judgments, or decrees of any court or
government agency or instrumentality to which any Company is a party or by which the property or assets
of any Company are bound, and (¢) no grievances, disputes, or controversies outstanding with any union
or other organization of the employees of any Company, or threats of work stoppage, strike, or pending
demands for collective bargaining, which, as to subsections (&) through (c) above, would reasonably be
expected 1o have a material adverse effect on the business, operation or condition (financial or otherwise)
of the Companies taken as a whole.

SECTION 6.5 TITLE TO ASSETS. Each Company has good title to and ownership of all property it
purports to own, which property is free and clear of all Liens, except those permitted under Section 5.9
hereof.

SECTION 6.6 LIENS AND SECURITY INTERESTS. On and after the Closing Date, except for
Liens permitted pursuant to Section 5.9 hereof, (a) there is no financing statement outstanding covering
any personal property of any Company; (b) there is no mortgage outstanding covering any real property
of any Company; and (c) no real or personal property of any Company is subject to any security interest
or Lien of any kind. No Company has entered into any contract or agreement that exists on or after the
Closing Date that would prohibit Agent or the Banks from acquiring a security interest, mortgage or other
Lien on, or a collateral assignment of, any of the property or assets of any Company.

SECTION 6.7 TAX RETURNS. All federal, state and local tax returns and other reports required by
law to be filed in respect of the income, business, properties and employees of each Company have been
filed and all taxes, assessments, fees and other governmental charges that are due and payable have been
paid, except as otherwise permitted herein or the failure to do so does not and will not cause or result in a
Material Adverse Effect. The provision for taxes on the books of each Company is adequate for all years
not closed by applicable statutes and for the current fiscal year.

SECTION 6.8 ENVIRONMENTAL LAWS. Each Company is in material compliance with any and
all Environmental Laws, including, without limitation, all Environmental Laws in all jurisdictions in
which any Company owns or operates, or has owned or operated, a facility or site, arranges or has
arranged for disposal or treatment of hazardous substances, solid waste or other wastes, accepts or has
accepted for transport any hazardous substances, solid waste or other wastes or holds or has held any
interest in real property or otherwise. No material litigation or proceeding arising under, relating to or in
connection with any Environmental Law is pending or, to the best knowledge of each Company,
threatened, against any Company, any real property in which any Company holds or has held an interest
or any past or present operation of any Company. No release, threatened release or disposal of any
material amount of hazardous waste, solid waste or other wastes is occurring, or has occurred (other than
those that are currently being cleaned up in accordance with Environmental Laws), on, under or to any
real property in which any Company holds any interest or performs any of its operations, in violation of
any Environmental Law. As used in this Section, "litigation or proceeding" means any demand, claim,
notice, suit, suit in equity, action, administrative action, investigation or inquiry whether brought by any
governmental authority, private Person or otherwise.

SECTION 6.9 CONTINUED BUSINESS. There exists no actual, pending, or, to Borrower's

knowledge, any threatened termination, cancellation or limitation of, or any modification or change in the
business relationship of any Company and any customer or supplier, or any group of customers or
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suppliers, whose purchases or supplies, if terminated, cancelled or limited would have a Material Adverse
Effect, and there exists no present condition or state of facts or circumstances that would materially affect
adversely any Company in any respect or prevent a Company from conducting such business or the
transactions contemplated by this Agreement in substantially the same manner in which it was previously
conducted. '

SECTION 6.10 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS PLANS. Schedule 6.10 hereto identifies each ERISA Plan.
No ERISA Event has occurred or is expected to occur with respect to an ERISA Plan. Full payment has
been made of all amounts which a Controlled Group member is required, under applicable law or under
the governing documents, to have been paid as a contribution to or a benefit under each ERISA Plan. The
liability of each Controlled Group member with respect to each ERISA Plan has been fully funded based
upon reasonable and proper actuarial assumptions, has been fully insured, or has been fully reserved for
on its financial statements. No changes have occurred or are expected to occur that would cause a
material increase in the cost of providing benefits under the ERISA Plan. With respect to each ERISA
Plan that is intended to be qualified under Code Section 401(a): (a) the ERISA Plan and any associated
trust operationally comply with the applicable requirements of Code Section 401(a), (b) the ERISA Plan
and any associated trust have been amended to comply with all such requirements as currently in effect,
other than those requirements for which a retroactive amendment can be made within the "remedial
amendment period" available under Code Section 401(b) (as extended under Treasury Regulations and
other Treasury pronouncements upon which taxpayers may rely), (c) the ERISA Plan and any associated
trust have received a favorable determination letter from the Internal Revenue Service stating that the
ERISA Plan qualifies under Code Section 401(a), that the associated trust qualifies under Code
Section 501(a) and, if applicable, that any cash or deferred arrangement under the ERISA Plan qualifies
under Code Section 401(k), unless the ERISA Plan was first adopted at a time for which the above-
described "remedial amendment period" has not yet expired, (d) the ERISA Plan currently satisfies the
requirements of Code Section 410(b), without regard to any retroactive amendment that may be made
within the above-described "remedial amendment period”, and (e) no contribution made to the ERISA
Plan is subject to an excise tax under Code Section 4972. With respect to any Pension Plan, the
"accumulated benefit obligation" of Controlied Group members with respect to the Pension Plan (as
determined in accordance with Statement of Accounting Standards No. 87, "Employers' Accounting for
Pensions") does not exceed the fair market value of Pension Plan assets. If all Controlled Group members
withdrew from all Multiemployer Plans in a "complete withdrawal" (within the meaning of ERISA
Section 4203) such withdrawal would not result in a Material Adverse Effect.

SECTION 6.11 CONSENTS OR APPROVALS. No consent, approval or authorization of, or filing,
registration or qualification with, any governmental authority or any other Person is required tobe = -
obtained or completed by Borrower in connection with the execution, delivery or performance of any of
the Loan Documents, that has not already been obtained or completed.

SECTION 6.12 SOLVENCY. Borrower has received consideration that is the reasonable equivalent
value of the obligations and liabilities that Borrower has incurred to the Banks. Borrower is not insolvent
as defined in any applicable state or federal statute, nor will Borrower be rendered insolvent by the
execution and delivery of the Loan Documents to Agent and the Banks. Borrower is not engaged or about
to engage in any business or transaction for which the assets retained by it are or will be an unreasonably
small amount of capital, taking into consideration the obligations to Agent and the Banks incurred
hereunder. Borrower does not intend to, nor does it believe that it will, incur debts beyond its ability to
pay such debts as they mature.

SECTION 6.13 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS. The audited Consolidated financial statements of
Borrower for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2001, and the unaudited Consolidated interim financial
statements of Borrower for the fiscal quarter ended September 30, 2002, furnished to Agent and the
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Banks, are true and complete, have been prepared in accordance with GAAP, and fairly present the
Companies' financial condition as of the date of such financial statements and the results of their
operations for the periods then ending. Since the date of such statements, there has been no material
adverse change in any Company's financial condition, properties or business nor any material change in
any Company's accounting procedures. :

SECTION 6.14 REGULATIONS. Borrower is not engaged principally or as one of its important
activities, in the business of extending credit for the purpose of purchasing or carrying any "margin stock"
(within the meaning of Regulation U of the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System of the
United States of America). Neither the granting of any Loan (or any conversion thereof) nor the use of the
proceeds of any Loan will violate, or be inconsistent with, the provisions of Regulation U or X of said
Board of Governors.

SECTION 6.15 INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY. Each Company owns, possesses, or has the right to
use all of the patents, patent applications, trademarks, service marks, copyrights, licenses, and rights with
respect to the foregoing necessary for the conduct of its business without any known conflict with the
rights of others.

SECTION 6.16 INSURANCE. Each Company maintains with financially sound and reputable insurers
insurance with coverage and limits as required by law and as is customary with persons engaged in the
same businesses as the Companies.

SECTION 6.17 ACCURATE AND COMPLETE STATEMENTS. Neither the Loan Documients nor
any written statement made by any Company in connection with any of the Loan Documents contains any
untrue statement of a material fact or omits a material fact necessary to make the statements contained
therein or in the Loan Documents not misleading. After due inquiry by Borrower, there is no known fact
that any Company has not disclosed to Agent and the Banks that has or would have a Material Adverse
Effect.

SECTION 6.18 DEFAULTS. No Default or Event of Default exists hereunder, nor will any begin to
exist immediately after the execution and delivery hereof.
ARTICLE VII

EVENTS OF DEFAULT

Each of the following shall constitute an Event of Default hereunder:

SECTION 7.1 PAYMENTS. If (a) the interest on any Note or any commitment or other fee shall not
be paid in full punctually when due and payable or within five (5) days thereafter, or (b) the principal of
any Note shall not be paid in full punctually when due and payable.

SECTION 7.2 SPECTAL COVENANTS. If any Company or any Obligor shall fail or omit to perform
and observe Sections 5.7, 5‘.8, 5.9,5.11,5.12 or 5.13 hereof.

SECTION 7.3 OTHER COVENANTS. If any Company or any Obligor shall fail or omit to perform
and observe any agreement or other provision (other than those referred to in Sections 7.1 or 7.2 hereof)
contained or referred to in this Agreement or any Related Writing that is on such Company's or Obligor's
part, as the case may be, to be complied with, and that Default shall not have been fully corrected within
thirty (30) days after the giving of written notice thereof to Borrower by Agent or any Bank that the
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specified Default is to be remedied.

SECTION 7.4 REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES. If any representation, warranty or
statement made in or pursuant to this Agreement or any Related Writing or any other material information
furnished by any Company or any Obligor to the Banks or any thereof or any other holder of any Note,
shall be false or erroneous.

SECTION 7.5 CROSS DEFAULT. If any Company or any Obligor shall default (a) in the payment of
principal, interest or fees due and owing with respect to any Material Indebtedness Agreement beyond
any period of grace provided with respect thereto, or (b) in the performance or observance of any other
agreement, term or condition contained in any Material Indebtedness Agreement, if the effect of such
default is to allow the acceleration of the maturity of such Indebtedness or to permit the holder thereof to
cause such Indebtedness to become due prior to its stated maturity.

SECTION 7.6 ERISA DEFAULT. The occurrence of one or more ERISA Events that (a) the Required
Banks determine could have a Material Adverse Effect, or (b) results in a Lien on any of the assets of any
Company in excess, for all such Liens, of Two Hundred Fifty Thousand Dollars ($250,000).

SECTION 7.7 CHANGE IN CONTROL. If any Change in Control shall occur.

SECTION 7.8 MONEY JUDGMENT. A final judgment or order for the payment of money shall be
rendered against any Company or any Obligor by a court of competent jurisdiction, that remains unpaid
or unstayed and undischarged for a period (during which execution shall not be effectively stayed) of
thirty (30) days after the date on which the right to appeal has expired, provided that the aggregate of all
such judgments for all such Companies and Obligors shall exceed Five Hundred Thousand Dollars

($500,000).

SECTION 7.9 MATERIAL ADVERSE CHANGE. There shall have occurred any condition or event
that Agent or the Required Banks determine has or is reasonably likely to have a material adverse effect
on the business, prospects, operations or financial condition of the Companies taken as a whole, or on the
rights and remedies of Agent or the Banks under the Loan Documents or the ability of Borrower or any of
its Subsidiaries to perform their reéspective obligations under the Loan Documents.

SECTION 7.10 VALIDITY OF LOAN DOCUMENTS. (a) Any material provision of any Loan
Document shall at any time for any reason cease to be valid and binding and enforceable against
Borrower or any Guarantor of Payment; (b) the validity, binding effect or enforceability of any Loan
Document against Borrower or any Guarantor of Payment shall be contested by any Company or any
other Obligor; (c) Borrower or any Guarantor of Payment shall deny that it has any or further liability or
obligation thereunder; or (d} any Loan Document shall be terminated, invalidated or set aside, or be
declared ineffective or inoperative or in any way cease to give or provide to Agent and the Banks the
benefits purported to be created thereby.

SECTION 7.11 SOLVENCY. If Borrower, any Guarantor of Payment or Davey Tree Expert Co., of
Canada, Limited shall (a) discontinue business, (b) generally not pay its debts as such debts become due,
{c) make a general assignment for the benefit of creditors, (d) apply for or consent {o the appointment of a
receiver, a custodian, a trustee, an interim trustee or liquidator of all or a substantial part of its assets,

(e) be adjudicated a debtor or have entered against it an order for relief under Title 11 of the United States
Code, as the same may be amended from time to time, (f) file a voluntary petition in bankruptcy, have an
involuntary proceeding filed against it and the same shall continue undismissed for a period of thirty (30}
days from commencement of such proceeding or case, or file a petition or an answer seeking - -
reorganization or an arrangement with creditors or seeking to take advantage of any other law (whether
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federal or state) relating to relief of debtors, or admit (by answer, by default or otherwise) the material
allegations of a petition filed against it in any bankruptcy, reorganization, insolvency or other proceeding
(whether federal or state) relating to relief of debtors, (g) suffer or permit to continue unstayed and in
effect for thirty (30) consecutive days any judgment, decree or order entered by a court of competent
jurisdiction, that approves a petition seeking its reorganization or appoints a receiver, custodian, trustee, -
interim trustee or liquidator of all or a substantial part of its assets, or (h) take, or omit to take, any action
in order thereby to effect any of the foregoing.

ARTICLE VHI

REMEDIES UPON DEFAULT

Notwithstanding any contrary provision or inference herein or elsewhere,

SECTION 8.1 OQPTIONAL DEFAULTS. If any Event of Default referred to in Section 7.1, 7.2., 7.3,
7.4,7.5,7.6,7.7,7.8, 7.9 or 7.10 hereof shall occur, Agent may, with the consent of the Required Banks,
and shall, at the request of the Required Banks, give written notice to Borrower, to:

(a) terminate the Commitment and the credits hereby established, if not previously terminated, and,
immediately upon such election, the obligations of the Banks, and each thereof, io make any
further Loan and the obligation of Agent to issue any Letter of Credit hereunder immediately
shall be terminated, and/or ‘

(b} accelerate the maturity of all of the Debt (if the Debt is not already due and payable), whereupon
all of the Debt shall become and thereafter be immediately due and payable in full without any
presentment or demand and without any further or other notice of any kind, all of which are
hereby waived by Borrower.

SECTION 8.2 AUTOMATIC DEFAULTS. If any Event of Default referred to in Section 7.11 hereof
shall occur:

(8) all of the Commitment and the credits hereby established shall automatically and immediately
terminate, if not previously terminated, and no Bank thereafter shall be under any obligation to
grant any further Loan, nor shall Agent be obligated to issue any Letter of Credit hereunder, and

(b) the outstanding principal, interest and any other amounts on all of the Notes, and all of the other
Debt to the Banks, shall thereupon become and thereafter be immediately due and payable in full
(if the Debt is not already due and payable), all without any presentment, demand or notice of
any kind, which are hereby waived by Bomrower.

SECTION 8.3 LETTERS OF CREDIT. If the maturity of the Notes is accelerated pursuant to Sections
8.1 or 8.2 hereof, Borrower shall immediately deposit with Agent, as security for Borrower's and any
Guarantor of Payment's obligations to reimburse Agent and the Banks for any then outstanding Letters of
Credit, cash equal to the sum of the aggregate undrawn balance of any then outstanding Letters of Credit,
Agent and the Banks are hereby authorized, at their option, to deduct any and all such amounts from any
deposit balances then owing by any Bank to or for the credit or account of any Company, as security for
Borrower's and any Guarantor of Payment's obligations to reimburse Agent and the Banks for any then
outstanding Letters of Credit.

SECTION 8.4 OFFSETS. In addition to the rights and remedies of Agent and the Banks provided
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elsewhere in this Agreement or in any other Loan Document, or otherwise provided in law or equity, if
there shall occur or exist any Event of Default referred to in Section 7.11 hereof or if the maturity of the
Notes s accelerated pursuant to Section 8.1 or 8.2 hereof, Agent and each Bank (and/or such Bank's
affiliates) shall have the right at any time to set off against, and to appropriate and apply toward the
payment of, any and all Debt then owing by Borrower to Agent or that Bank (including, without
limitation, any participation purchased or to be purchased pursuant to Section 8.5 hereof), whether or not
the same shall then have matured, any and all deposit balances and all other indebtedness then held or
owing by Agent or that Bank (and such Bank's affiliates) to or for the credit or account of Borrower or
any Guarantor of Payment, all without notice to or demand upon Borrower or any other Person, all such
notices and demands being hereby expressly waived by Borrower.

SECTION 8.5 EQUALIZATION PROVISION. Each Bank agrees with the other Banks that if it, at
any time, shall obtain any Advantage over the other Banks or any thereof in respect of the Debt (except
under Article III hereof), it shall purchase from the other Banks, for cash and at par, such additional
participation in the Debt as shall be necessary to nullify the Advantage. If any such Advantage resulting
in the purchase of an additional participation as aforesaid shall be recovered in whole or in part from the
Bank receiving the Advantage, each such purchase shall be rescinded, and the purchase price restored
(but without interest unless the Bank receiving the Advantage is required to pay interest on the Advantage
to the Person recovering the Advantage from such Bank) ratably to the extent of the recovery. Each Bank
further agrees with the other Banks that if it at any time shall receive any payment for or on behalf of
Borrower on any indebtedness owing by Borrower to that Bank by reason of offset of any deposit or other
indebtedness, it will apply such payment first to any and all Debt owing by Borrower to that Bank
(including, without limitation, any participation purchased or to be purchased pursuant to this Section or
any other Section of this Agreement). Borrower agrees that any Bank so purchasing a participation from
the other Banks or any thereof pursuant to this Section may exercise all its rights of payment (including
the right of set-off) with respect to such participation as fully as if such Bank was a direct creditor of
Borrower in the amount of such participation.

ARTICLE IX
THE AGENT

The Banks authorize KeyBank National Association and KeyBank National Association hereby agrees to
act as agent for the Banks in respect of this Agreement upon the terms and conditions set forth elsewhere
in this Agreement, and upon the following terms and conditions:

SECTION 9.1 ~ APPOINTMENT AND AUTHORIZATION. Each Bank hereby irrevocably appoints
and authorizes Agent to take such action as agent on its behalf and to exercise such powers hereunder as
are delegated to Agent by the terms hereof, together with such powers as are reasonably incidental
thereto. Neither Agent nor any of its affiliates, directors, officers, attorneys ot employees shall be liable
for any action taken or omitted to be taken by it or them hereunder or in connection herewith, except for
its or their own gross negligence or willful misconduct.

SECTION 9.2 NOTE HOLDERS. Agent may treat the payee of any Note as the holder thereof until
written notice of transfer shall have been filed with it, signed by such payee and in form satisfactory to
Agent,

SECTION 9.3 CONSULTATION WITH COUNSEL. Agent may consult with legal counsel selected
by it and shall not be liable for any action taken or suffered in good faith by it in accordance with the
opinion of such counsel.
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SECTION 9.4 DOCUMENTS. Agent shall not be under any duty to examine into or pass upon the
validity, effectiveness, genuineness or value of any Loan Documents or any other Related Writing
furnished pursuant hereto or in connection herewith or the value of any collateral obtained hereunder, and
Agent shall be entitled to assume that the same are valid, effective and genuine and what they purport to
be.

SECTION 9.5 AGENT AND AFFILYATES. With respect to the Loans, Agent shall have the same
rights and powers hereunder as any other Bank and may exercise the same as though it were not Agent,
and Agent and its affiliates may accept deposits from, lend money to and generally engage in any kind of
business with any Company or any affiliate thereof.

SECTION 9.6 KNOWLEDGE OF DEFAULT. It is expressly understood and agreed that Agent shall
be entitled to assume that no Default or Event of Default has occurred, unless Agent has been notified by
Borrower pursuant to Section 5.14 hereof or by a Bank in writing that such Bank believes that a Default
or Event of Default has occurred and is continuing and specifying the nature thereof.

SECTION 9.7 = ACTION BY AGENT. So long as Agent shall be entitled, pursuant to Section 9.6
hereof, to assume that no Default or Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing, Agent shall
be entitled to use its discretion with respect to exercising or refraining from exercising any rights that may
be vested in it by, or with respect fo taking or refraining from taking any action or actions that it may be
able to take under or in respect of, this Agreement. Agent shall incur no liability under or in respect of this
Agreement by acting upon any notice, certificate, warranty or other paper or instrument believed by it to
be genuine or authentic or to be signed by the proper party or parties, or with respect to anything that it
may do or refrain from doing in the reasonable exercise of its judgment, or that may seem to it to be
necessary or desirable in the premises.

SECTION 9.8 NOTICES. DEFAULT, ETC. In the event that Agent shall have acquired actual
knowledge of any Default or Event of Defanlt, Agent shall promptly notify the Banks and shall take such
action and assert such rights under this Agreement as the Required Banks shall direct and Agent shall
inform the other Banks in writing of the action taken. Agent may take such action and assert such rights
as it deems to be advisable, in its discretion, for the protection of the interests of the holders of the Notes.

SECTION 9.9 INDEMNIFICATION OF AGENT. The Banks agree to indemnify Agent (to the extent
not reimbursed by Borrower) ratably, according to their respective Commitment Percentages, from and
against any and all liabilities, obligations, losses, damages, penalties, actions, judgments, suits, costs,
expenses or disbursements of any kind or nature whatsoever that may be imposed on, incurred by or
asserted against Agent in its capacity as agent in any way relating to or arising out of this Agreement or
any Loan Document or any action taken or omitted by Agent with respect to this Agreement or any Loan
Document, provided that no Bank shall be liable for any portion of such liabilities, obligations, losses,
damages, penalties, actions, judgments, suits, costs, expenses (including attorneys' fees) or disbursements
resulting from Agent's gross negligence, willful misconduct or from any action taken or omitted by Agent
in any capacity other than as agent under this Agreement.

SECTION 9.10 SUCCESSOR AGENT. Agent may resign as agent hereunder by giving not fewer than
thirty (30) days prior written notice to Borrower and the Banks. If Agent shall resign under this
Agreement, then either (a) the Required Banks shall appoint from among the Banks a successor agent for
the Banks (with the consent of Borrower so long as an Event of Default has not occurred and which
consent shall not be unreasonably withheld), or (b) if a successor agent shall not be so appointed and
approved within the thirty (30) day period following Agent's notice to the Banks of its resignation, then
Agent shall appoint a successor agent that shall serve as agent until such time as the Required Banks

37



appoint a successor agent. Upon its appointment, such successor agent shall succeed to the rights, powers
and duties as agent, and the term "Agent" shall mean such successor effective upon its appointment, and
the former agent's rights, powers and duties as agent shall be terminated without any other or further act
or deed on the part of such former agent or any of the parties to this Agreement.

ARTICLE X

MISCELLANEQUS

SECTION 10.1 BANKS' INDEPENDENT INVESTIGATION. Each Bank, by its signature to this
Agreement, acknowledges and agrees that Agent has made no representation or warranty, express or
implied, with respect to the creditworthiness, financial condition, or any other condition of any Company
or with respect to the statements contained in any information memorandum furnished in connection
herewith or in any other oral or written communication between Agent and such Bank. Each Bank
represents that it has made and shall continue to make its own independent investigation of the
creditworthiness, financial condition and affairs of the Companies in connection with the extension of
credit hereunder, and agrees that Agent has no duty or responsibility, either initially or on a continuing
basis, to provide any Bank with any credit or other information with respect thereto (other than such
notices as may be expressly required to be given by Agent to the Banks hereunder), whether coming into
its possession before the granting of the first Loans hereunder or at any time or times thereafter.

SECTION 10.2 NO WATVER; CUMUILATIVE REMEDIES. No omission or course of dealing on the
part of Agent, any Bank or the holder of any Note in exercising any right, power or remedy hereunder or.
under any of the Loan Documents shall operate as a waiver thereof; nor shall any single or partial exercise
of any such right, power or remedy preclude any other or further exercise thereof or the exercise of any
other right, power or remedy hereunder or under any of the Loan Documents. The remedies herein
provided are cumulative and in addition to any other rights, powers or privileges held by operation of law,
by contract or otherwise.

SECTION 10.3 AMENDMENTS, CONSENTS. No amendment, modification, termination, or waiver
of any provision of any Loan Document nor consent to any variance therefrom, shall be effective unless
the same shall be in writing and signed by the Required Banks and then such waiver or consent shall be
effective only in the specific instance and for the specific purpose for which given. Anything herein to
the contrary notwithstanding, unanimous consent of the Banks shall be required with respect to (a) any
increase in the Commitment hereunder, (b) the extension of maturity of the Notes, the payment date of
interest or principal thereunder, or the payment of commitment or other fees or amounts payable
hereunder, (c) any reduction in the rate of interest on the Notes, or in any amount of principal or interest-
due on any Note, or the payment of commitment or other fees hereunder or any change in the manner of
pro rata application of any payments made by Borrower to the Banks hereunder, (d) any change in any
percentage voting requirement, voting rights, or the Required Banks definition in this Agreement, (e) the
release of any Guarantor of Payment except for the release of a Guarantor of Payment in connection with
a transaction expressly permitted pursuant to this Agreement, or (f) any amendment to this Section 10.3 or
Section 8.5 hereof. In addition, Section 10.12 hereof may not be amended without the prior written
consent of any Designating Bank, as defined in Section 10.12 hereof, affected thereby. Notice of
amendments or consents ratified by the Banks hereunder shall immediately be forwarded by Borrower to
all Banks. Each Bank or other holder of a Note shall be bound by any amendment, waiver or consent
obtained as authorized by this Section, regardless of its failure to agree thereto.

SECTION 10.4 - NOTICES. All notices, requests, demands and other communications provided for
hereunder shall be in writing addressed to each party at the address specified on the signature pages of
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this Agreement, or, as to each party, at such other address as shall be designated by such party in a written
notice to each of the other parties. All notices, statements, requests, demands and other communications
provided for hereunder shall be deemed delivered (a) upon receipt when delivered in person, (b) upon
receipt of electronic confirmation of etror free transmission when sent by facsimile or other electronic
means, (¢) upon receipt when sent by nationally (or internationally, as the case may be) recognized
overnight delivery service, or (d) forty-eight (48) hours after being deposited in the mail when sent by
first class mail, registered mail, or certified mail.

SECTION 10.5 COSTS, EXPENSES AND TAXES. Borrower agrees to pay on demand all costs and
expenses of Agent, including, but not limited to, (2) syndication, administration, travel and out-of-pocket
expenses, including but not limited to attorneys' fees and expenses, of Agent in connection with the
preparation, negotiation and closing of the Loan Documents and the administration of the Loan
Documents, the collection and disbursement of all funds hereunder and the other instruments and
documents to be delivered bereunder, (b) extraordinary expenses of Agent in connection with the
administration of the Loan Documents and the other instruments and documents to be delivered
hereunder, and (c) the reasonable fees and out-of-pocket expenses of special counsel for the Banks, with
respect to the foregoing, and of local counsel, if any, who may be retained by said special counsel with
respect thereto. Borrower also agrees to pay on demand all costs and expenses of Agent and the Banks,
including reasonable attorneys' fees, in connection with the restructuring or enforcement of the Debt, this
Agreement or any Related Writing. In addition, Borrower shall pay any and all stamp and other taxes and
fees payable or determined to be payable in connection with the execution and delivery of the Loan
Documents, and the other instruments and documents to be delivered hereunder, and agrees to hold Agent
and each Bank harmiess from and against any and all liabilities with respect to or resulting from any delay
in paying or omission to pay such taxes or fees.

SECTION 10.6 INDEMNIFICATION. Borrower agrees to defend, indemnify and hold harmless
Agent and the Banks (and their respective affiliates, officers, directors, attorneys, agents and employees)
from and against any and all liabilities, obligations, losses, damages, penalties, actions, judgments, suits,
costs, expenses (including attorneys' fees) or disbursements of any kind or nature whatsoever that may be
imposed on, incurred by or asserted against Agent or any Bank in connection with any investigative,
administrative or judicial proceeding (whether or not such Bank or Agent shall be designated a party
thereto) or any other claim by any Person relating to or arising out of any Loan Document or any actual or
proposed use of proceeds of the Loans or any of the Debt, or any activities of any Company or any
Obligor or any of their respective Affiliates; provided that no Bank nor Agent shall have the right to be
indemnified under this Section for its own gross negligence or wiliful misconduct as determined by a
court of competent jurisdiction. All obligations provided for in this Section 10.6 shall survive any
termination of this Agreement. .

SECTION 10.7 OBLIGATIONS SEVERAL: NO FIDUCIARY OBLIGATIONS. The obligations of
the Banks hereunder are several and not joint. Nothing contained in this Agreement and no action taken
by Agent or the Banks pursuant hereto shall be deemed to constitute the Banks a partnership, association,
joint venture or other entity. No default by any Bank hereunder shall excuse the other Banks from any
obligation under this Agreement; but no Bank shall have or acquire any additional obligation of any kind
by reason of such default. The relationship among Borrower and the Banks with respect to the Loan
Documents and the Related Writings is and shall be solely that of debtor and creditors, respectively, and
neither Agent nor any Bank has any fiduciary obligation toward Borrower with respect to any such
documents or the transactions contemplated thereby.

SECTION 10.8 EXECUTION IN COUNTERPARTS. This Agreement may be executed in any
number of counterparts and by different parties hereto in separate counterparts, each of which when so
executed and delivered shall be deemed to be an original and all of which taken together shall constitute
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but one and the same agreement.

SECTION 10.9 BINDING EFFECT: BORROWER'S ASSIGNMENT. This Agreement shall become
effective when it shall have been executed by Borrower, Agent and by each Bank and thereafter shall be
binding upon and inure to the benefit of Borrower, Agent and each of the Banks and their respective
successors and assigns, except that Borrower shall not have the right to assign its rights hereunder or any
interest herein without the prior written consent of Agent and all of the Banks,

SECTION 10.10 ASSIGNMENTS.

(@)

(®)

©

(@

()

®

Each Bank shall have the right, in accordance with the terms and conditions of this Section
10.10, at any time or times to assign to one or more commercial banks, finance companies,
insurance companies or other financial institution or fund which, in each case, in the ordinary
course of business extends credit of the type contemplated herein and whose becoming an
assignee would not constitute a prohibited transaction under Section 4975 of ERISA, without
recourse, all or a percentage of ail of such Bank's Commitment, all Loans made by such Bank,
such Bank's Notes, and such Bank's interest in any participation purchased pursuant to Section
2.1B or 8.5 hereof. -

No assignment may be consummated pursuant to this Section 10.10 without the prior written
consent of Borrower and Agent (other than an assignment by any Bank to any affiliate of such
Bank which affiliate is either wholly-owned by such Bank or is wholly-owned by a Person that
wholly owns, either directly or indirectly, such Bank), which consent of Borrower and Agent
shall not be unreasonably withheld; provided, however, that, Borrower's consent shall not be
required if, (i) such assignment is to another Bank, or (ii) at the time of the proposed assignment,
any Default or Event of Default shall then exist. Anything herein to the contrary
notwithstanding, any Bank may at any time make a collateral assignment of all or any portion of
its rights under the Loan Documents to a Federal Reserve Bank, and no such assignment shall
release such assigning Bank from its obligations hereunder. :

Each assignment made pursuant to this Section 10.10 shall be in a2 minimum amount of the lesser
of Ten Million Dollars ($10,000,000) of the assignor's Commitment and interest herein or the
entire amount of the assignor's Commitment and interest herein.

Unless an assignment made pursuant to this Section 10.10 shall be to an affiliate of the assignor
or the assignment shall be due to merger of the assignor or for regulatory purposes, either the
assignor or the assignee shall remit to Agent, for its own account, an administrative fee of Three
Thousand Five Hundred Dollars ($3,500).

Unless an assignment made pursuant to this Section 10.10 shall be due to merger of the assignor
or a collateral assignment for regulatory purposes, the assignor shall (i) cause the assignee to
execute and deliver to Borrower and Agent an Assignment Agreement and (ii) execute and
deliver, or cause the assignee to execute and deliver, as the case may be, to Agent such
additional amendments, assurances and other writings as Agent may reasonably require.

If an assignment made pursuant to this Section 10.10 is to be made to an assignee that is
organized under the laws of any jurisdiction other than the United States or any state thereof, the
assignor Bank shall cause such assignee, at least five (5) Business Days prior to the effective
date of such assignment, (i} to represent to the assignor Bank (for the benefit of the assignor
Bank, Agent and Borrower) that under applicable law and treaties no taxes will be required to be
withheld by Agent, Borrower or the assignor with respect to any payments to be made to such
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assignee in respect of the Loans hereunder, (ii) to furnish to the assignor (and, in the case of any
assignee registered in the Register (as defined below), Agent and Borrower) either (A) U.S.
Internal Revenue Service Form W-8ECI or U.S. Internal Revenue Service Form W-8BEN or
(B) United States Internal Revenue Service Form W-8 or W-9, as applicable (wherein such
assignee claims entitlement to complete exemption from U.S. federal withholding tax on all
interest payments hereunder), and (iii) to agree (for the benefit of the assignor, Agent and
Borrower) to provide the assignor Bank (and, in the case of any assignee registered in the
Register, Agent and Borrower) a new Form W-8ECI or Form W-8BEN or Form W-8 or W-9, as
applicable, upon the expiration or obsolescence of any previously delivered form and
comparable statements in accordance with applicable U.S. laws and regulations and amendments
duly executed and completed by such assignee, and to comply from time to time with all
applicable U.S. laws and regulations with regard to such withholding tax exemption.

Upon satisfaction of all applicable requirements specified in subparts (a) though (f) above,
Borrower shall execute and deliver (i) to Agent, the assignor and the assignee, any consent or
release (of all or a portion of the obligations of the assignor) required to be delivered by

Borrower in connection with the Assignment Agreement, and (ii) to the assignee or the assignor

(if applicable), an appropriate Note or Notes. After delivery of the new Note or Notes, the
assignor's Note or Notes being replaced shall be returned to Borrower marked "replaced".

Upon satisfaction of all applicable requirements specified in subparts (a) though (f) above, and
any other condition contained in this Section 10.10, (i) the assignee shall become and thereafter
be deemed to be a "Bank" for the purposes of this Agreement, (ii) the Assignor shall be released
from its obligations hereunder to the extent its interest has been assigned, (iii) in the event that -
the assignor's entire interest has been assigned, the assignor shall cease to be and thereafter shall
no longer be deemed to be a "Bank" and (iv) the signature pages hereto and Schedule 1 hereto
shall be automatically amended, without further action, to reflect the result of any such
assignment.

Agent shall maintain at the address for notices referred to in Section 10.4 hereof a copy of each
Assignment Agreement delivered to it and a register (the "Register") for the recordation of the
names and addresses of the Bank and the Commitment of, and principal amount of the Loans
owing to, each Bank from time to time. The entries in the Register shall be conclusive, in the
absence of manifest error, and Borrower, Agent and the Bank may treat each financial institution
whose name is recorded in the Register as the owner of the Loan recorded therein for all
purposes of this Agreement. The Register shall be available for inspection by Borrower or any
Bank at any reasonable time and from time to time upon reasonable prior notice.

SECTION 10.11 PARTICIPATIONS.

(@)

(b)

Each Bank shall have the right at any time or times, without the consent of Agent or Borrower,
to sell one or more participations or sub-participations to a financial institution or other
"accredited investor" (as defined in SEC Regulation D), as the case may be, in all or any part of
such Bank's Commitment, such Bank's Commitment Percentage, any Loan made by such Bank,
any Note delivered to such Bank pursuant to this Agreement, and such Bank's interest in any
participation, if any, purchased pursuant to Section 2.1B or 8.5 or this Section 10.11.

The provisions of Article [IT and Section 10.6 shall inure to the benefit of each purchaser of a

participation or sub-participation and Agent shall continue to distribute payments pursuant to
this Agreement as if no participation has been sold.-
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(ii)

(i)

(d)

()

If any Bank shall sell any participation or sub-participation pursuant to this Section 10.10, such
Bank shall, as between itself and the purchaser, retain all of its rights (including, without
limitation, rights to enforce against Borrower the Loan Documents and the Related Writings)
and duties pursuant to the Loan Documents and the Related Writings, including, without
limitation, such Bank's right to approve any waiver, consent or amendment pursuant to Section
10.3, except if and to the extent that any such waiver, consent or amendment would:

reduce any fee or commission allocated to the participation or sub-participation, as the case may
be,

reduce the amount of any principal payment on any Loan allocated to the participation or sub-
participation, as the case may be, or reduce the principal amount of any Loan so allocated or the
rate of interest payable thereon, or

extend the time for payment of any amount allocated to the participation or sub-participation, as
the case may be.

No participation or sub-participation shall operate as a delegation of any duty of the seller
thereof.

Under no circumstance shall any participation or sub-participation be deemed a novation in
respect of all or any part of the seller's obligations pursuant to this Agreement.

SECTION 10.12 DESIGNATION.

(2)

(b)

(©)

Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, any Bank (a "Designating Bank™)
may grant 10 one or more special purpose funding vehicles (each an "SPV"), identified in
writing from time to time by such Designating Bank to Agent and Borrower, the option to
provide to Borrower all or any part of any Loan that such Designating Bank would otherwise be
obligated to make to Borrower pursuant to this Agreement; provided that (i) nothing in this
Section shall constitute a commitment by any SPV to make any Loan, and (ii) if an SPV
designated by a Designating Bank to make Loans elects not to exercise such option or otherwise
fails to provide all or any part of such Loan, such Designating Bank shall still be obligated to
make such Loan pursuant to the terms hereof. The making of a Loan by an SPV hereunder shall
reduce the availability under the Revolving Credit Commitment of the Designating Bank to the
same extent, and as if, such Loan were made by such Designating Bank.

As to any Loans or portion thereof made by an SPV, each such SPV shall have all of the rights
that a Bank making such Loans or portion thereof would have under this Agreement; provided,
however, that each SPV shall have granted its Designating Bank an irrevocable power of
attorney to deliver and receive all communications and notices under this Agreement and any
other Loan Document and to exercise, in its reasonable discretion, on behalf of such SPV, all of
such SPV's voting rights under this Agreement. No additional Note shall be required to ‘
evidence the Loans or portion thereof made by an SPV and the Designating Bank shall be
deemed to hold its Note as agent for such SPV to the extent of the Loans or portion thereof
funded by such SPV. In addition, any payments for the account of any SPV shall be paid to its
respective Designating Bank as agent for such SPV.

Agent, Borrower and the Banks agree that no SPV shall be liable for an indemnity or payment

under this Agreement for which a Bank would otherwise be liable and the Designating Bank
shall remain liable for its Commitment Percentage of such indemnity or payment to the extent
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such Designating Bank would otherwise be liable. In furtherance of the foregoing, Agent,
Borrower and each of the Banks hereby agree (which agreement shall survive the termination of
this Agreement) that, prior to the date that is one year and one day after the payment in full of all
of the outstanding commercial paper or other senior indebtedness of any SPV, none of Agent, .
Borrower or any Bank shall institute against, or join any other Person in instituting against, such
SPV any bankruptcy, reorganization, arrangement, insolvency or liquidation proceeding under
the laws of the United States or any State thereof.

(d) In addition, notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Section 10.12, or
otherwise in this Agreement, any SPV may (i) at any time and without paying any processing
fee therefor, assign (or grant a participation in) all or a portion of its interest in any Loans to its
Designating Bank or to any financial institution providing liquidity and/or credit support to or
for the account of such SPV to support the funding or maintenance of Loans, and (ii) disclose on
a confidential basis any non-public information relating to the Loans made by such SPV to any
rating agency, commercial paper dealer or provider of any surety, guarantee or credit or liquidity
enhancements to such SPV. This Section 10.12 may not be amended without the prior written
consent of any Designating Bank affected thereby.

SECTION 10.13 SEVERABILITY OF PROVISIONS: CAPTIONS:; ATTACHMENTS. Aay
provision of this Agreement that is prohibited or unenforceable in any jurisdiction shall, as to such
jurisdiction, be ineffective to the extent of such prohibition or unenforceability without invalidating the
remaining provisions hereof or affecting the validity or enforceability of such provision in any other
jurisdiction. The several captions to Sections and subsections herein are inserted for convenience only and
shall be ignored in interpreting the provisions of this Agreement. Each schedule or exhibit attached to
this Agreement shall be incorporated herein an shall be deemed to be a part hereof.

SECTION 10.14 INVESTMENT PURPOSE. Each of the Banks represents and warrants to Borrower
that it is entering into this Agreement with the present intention of acquiring any Note issued pursuant
hereto for investment purposes only and not for the purpose of distribution or resale, it being understood,
however, that each Bank shall at all times retain full contro! over the disposition of its assets.

SECTION 10.15 ENTIRE AGREEMENT. This Agreement, any Note and any other Loan Document
or other agreement, document or instrument attached hereto or executed on or as of the Closing Date
integrate all the terms and conditions mentioned herein or incidental hereto and supersede all oral
representations and negotiations and prior writings with respect to the subject matter hereof.

SECTION 10.16 GOVERNING LAW; SUBMISSION TO JURISDICTION. This Agreement, each of
the Notes and any Related Writing shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the
State of Ohio and the respective rights and obligations of Borrower and the Banks shall be governed by
Ohio law, without regard to principles of conflict of laws. Borrower hereby irrevocably submits to the
non-exclusive jurisdiction of any Ohio state or federal court sitting in Cleveland, Ohio, over any action or
proceeding arising out of or relating to this Agreement, the Debt or any Related Writing, and Borrower
hereby irrevocably agrees that all claims in respect of such action or proceeding may be heard and
determined in such Ohio state or federal court. Borrower, on behalf of itself and its Subsidiaries, hereby
irrevocably waives, to the fullest extent permitted by law, any objection it may now or hereafter have to
the laying of venue in any action or proceeding in any such court as well as any right it may now or
hereafter have to remove such action or proceeding, once commenced, to another court on the grounds of
FORUM NON CONVENIENS or otherwise. Borrower agrees that a final, nonappealable judgment in
any-such action or proceeding shall be conclusive and may be enforced in other jurisdictions by suit on
the judgment or in any other manner provided by law.
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SECTION 10.17 LEGAL REPRESENTATION OF PARTIES. The Loan Documents were negotiated
by the parties with the benefit of legal representation and any rule of construction or interpretation
otherwise requiring this Agreement or any other Loan Document to be construed or interpreted against
any party shall not apply to any construction or interpretation hereof or thereof.

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank]
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SECTION 10.18 JURY TRIAL WAIVER. BORROWER, AGENT AND EACH OF THE BANKS
WAIVE ANY RIGHT TO HAVE A JURY PARTICIPATE IN RESOLVING ANY DISPUTE,
WHETHER SOUNDING IN CONTRACT, TORT OR OTHERWISE, AMONG BORROWER, AGENT
AND THE BANKS, OR ANY THEREOF, ARISING OUT OF, IN CONNECTION WITH, RELATED
TO, OR INCIDENTAL TO THE RELATIONSHIP ESTABLISHED AMONG THEM IN
CONNECTION WITH THIS AGREEMENT OR ANY NOTE OR OTHER INSTRUMENT,
DOCUMENT OR AGREEMENT EXECUTED OR DELIVERED IN CONNECTION HEREWITH OR
THE TRANSACTIONS RELATED THERETO.

Address: 1500 North Mantua Street THE DAVEY TREE EXPERT COMPANY
Kent, Ohio 44240
Attention: Chief Financial Officer By: /s/ David E. Adante

David E. Adante, Executive Vice
President, Chief Financial Officer and

Secretary

and /s/ Bradley L. Comport
Bradley L. Comport, Treasurer

Address: Key Center KEYBANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION,
127 Public Square as a Bank and as Agent
Cleveland, Ohio 44114-1306
Attention: Large Corporate Group By: /s/ Brendan A. Lawlor
Brendan A. Lawlor, Vice President
Address: 1900 East Ninth Street NATIONAL CITY BANK
Cleveland, Ohio 44114 ‘
Attention: By: /s/ Patrick M. Pastore
Patrick M. Pastore, Senior Vice President
Address: 106 South Main Street FIRST MERIT BANK, N.A.
Akron, Ohio 44308
Attention: TOW 24 By: /s/ Kathryn B. Nielsen
Kathryn B. Nielsen, Vice President
Address: 230 West Monroe Street WELLS FARGO BANK, NATIONAL
Suite 2900 ASSOCIATION

Chicago, Illinois 60606
By: /s/ Andrew T. Cavallari
Andrew T. Cavallari, Vice President

45






